# TOWN OF DURHAM, NEW HAMPSHIRE SITE PLAN REGULATIONS

\*\*\*Various comments from the public and other suggested changes are incorporated into this document for review by the Planning Board on September 23, 2015

Comments that were submitted to the Planning Department in writing or via email or otherwise communicated directly to the Town Planner are incorporated in this document and are noted in the comments under each item as follows:

<u>Humphrey</u> – Mary Ellen Humphrey, Economic Development Director <u>Keefe</u> – Dan Keefe <u>Mower</u> – Robin Mower <u>Olshansky</u> – Beth Olshansky <u>Parry</u> – John Parry <u>Schlie</u> – Paul Schlie <u>Spang</u> – Judith Spang <u>Van Asselt</u> – Karl Van Asselt <u>Wolfe</u> – Peter Wolfe <u>Planner</u> – Michael Behrendt, Town Planner

Proposed additions are shown like this.

Proposed deletions are shown like this.

[Planner - Comments are shown like this.]

Adopted by the Durham Planning Board: September 9, 2015

Most Recently Amended:

### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### PART I. GENERAL PROVISIONS

|            | Authority                                |    |
|------------|--|----|
|            | Title                                    | 3  |
| Article 3  | Purpose                                  | .3 |
| Article 4  | Compliance                               | 4  |
| Article 5  | Waivers                                  | 4  |
| Article 6  | Administration, Enforcement, and Appeals | 6  |
| Article 7  | Validity                                 | 6  |
| Article 8  | Amendments                               | 6  |
| Article 9  | Word Usage                               | 7  |
| Article 10 | Definitions                              | 7  |

#### PART II. SITE PLAN REVIEW PROCESS

| Article 1 | Application Procedures                 | . 12 |
|-----------|--|------|
| Article 2 | Application Submission Requirements    |      |
| Article 3 | Fees                                   |      |
| Article 4 | Construction Guarantee                 | . 23 |
| Article 5 | Independent Studies and Investigations | 23   |
| Article 6 | Post Construction Requirements         | .24  |

#### PART III. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

| Article 1  | General Standards  | 25   |
|------------|--|------|
| Article 2  | Architectural Design Standards (The standards are contained in the Appendix) |      |
| Article 3  | Construction Practices Standards   | . 28 |
| Article 4  | Cultural Resources Standards   | 34   |
| Article 5  | Landscaping and Screening Standards  | 36   |
| Article 6  | Lighting Standards   | 51   |
| Article 7  | Miscellaneous Design Standards   |      |
|            | Building Configuration   | 54   |
|            | Erosion and Sedimentation Control  | 54   |
|            | Fences and Walls   | 56   |
|            | Flood Zones  |      |
|            | Recreation and Open Space  | .57  |
|            | Signage  |      |
| Article 8  | Natural Resources Standards  |      |
| Article 9  | Operational Issues Standards   |      |
|            | Hours of Operation   |      |
|            | Maintenance of the Site  |      |
|            | Snow Storage and Removal   |      |
|            | Solid Waste  |      |
|            | Flammable and Combustible Liquids  |      |
|            | Street Addressing.   |      |
| Article 10 | Parking and Circulation Standards  |      |
| Article 11 | Pedestrian, Bicycle, and Transit Facility Standards                          |      |
| Article 12 | Personal Wireless Service Facilities   |      |
| Article 13 | Public Health and Safety Standards   |      |
| Article 14 | Standards for Particular Uses/Activities                                     |      |
|            | Contractor's Storage Yards   |      |
|            | Recreational Playing Fields, Outdoor   |      |
| Article 15 | Stormwater Management Standards  |      |
| Article 16 | Traffic and Access Management Standards                                      |      |
| Article 17 | Utilities Standards  | 112  |

## Part I. General Provisions

#### Article 1. Authority

Pursuant to the authority vested in the Durham Planning Board, by the legislative body of the Town of Durham, in accordance with previously adopted subdivision regulations under RSA 674:36, the Durham Planning Board is empowered under RSA 674:43 to review and approve or disapprove site plans. This review authority shall be applied to the development of parcels of tracts for non-residential uses and for residential multi-family dwelling units which are defined as any structure containing more than two (2) dwelling units per structure, whether or not such development includes a subdivision or re-subdivision of a site.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - A general comment: Some of these requirements may be expensive for smaller projects. Can there be a minimum size and/or a minimum dollar amount value before some of these kick in, rather than just anything over a 2 family building?]

#### Article 2. Title

These regulations shall be known and may be cited as the "Site Plan Regulations of the Town of Durham, New Hampshire," as adopted and subsequently amended.

#### Article 3. Purpose

The purposes of these Regulations are to:

- 1) Further the safe and orderly development of the Town;
- 2) Promote sustainable design and development that supports long-term economic vitality and ecological integrity;
- 3) Achieve high-quality site appearance that conserves and protects natural resource systems, helps to reduce infrastructure costs, conserves energy, and provides for a pleasant, walkable environment for the future users and residents;
- 4) Encourage site design techniques that protect water quality and natural hydrology, prevent increases in the quantity of stormwater runoff, and manage stormwater runoff at the source;
- 5) Protect abutters against hazards, unsightliness, and nuisances detrimental to property values;
- 6) Ensure that development of land is appropriate for the public and private services and facilities available;

- 7) Ensure that pedestrian, bicycle, vehicular circulation, and public transit can be accommodated in a safe manner;
- 8) Preserve and enhance the historic and cultural character of the community;
- 9) Encourage attractive, harmonious, and high-quality design that is compatible with the architectural heritage of the town of Durham, the state of New Hampshire, and New England;
- 10) Prevent scattered and/or premature development;
- 11) Include such provisions as will tend to create conditions favorable for health, safety, convenience, prosperity, and general welfare; and
- 12) Implement the goals of the Durham Master Plan.

#### Article 4. Compliance

Compliance with these Site Plan Regulations does not relieve the applicant from compliance with the Zoning Ordinance, Subdivision Regulations, Building and Fire Codes, Historic District Ordinance, specifications of the Department of Public Works, or any other local, state, or federal ordinance, regulation, code, or statute that pertains to the proposed development.

The standards contained in these regulations shall be interpreted as minimum requirements, and compliance with these minimum requirements shall not obligate the Planning Board to approve any particular application solely on that basis. The Planning Board may at its discretion require higher standards in individual cases or may waive certain requirements for good cause in accordance with the procedures outlined in these regulations. Only after the Planning Board is reasonably satisfied that a proposed application complies with all pertinent requirements of the Site Plan Regulations and other applicable requirements and objectives, may the application be approved.

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "Article 4 I know this is pretty standard language, but read from the property owner and developer's perspective, this sounds arbitrary. They can meet all the minimum requirements, but the Planning Board may at its discretion require higher standards in individual cases.....should there be any clear criteria under which the planning board exercises this discretion?"]

#### Article 5. Waivers

- Section 5.1 General
- Section 5.2 Conditions Section 5.3 Procedures

#### Section 5.1 General

- 5.1.1 In accordance with RSA 674:44 III. (e) the Planning Board may grant a waiver from any provision of these regulations provided the Board finds that either:
  - (a) Strict conformity with the specific provision would pose an unnecessary hardship to the applicant and the waiver would not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations; or
  - (b) Specific circumstances relative to the site plan, or conditions of the land in the site plan, indicate that the waiver will properly carry out the spirit and intent of these regulations.

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "In the discussion about waivers, I wonder if it would be helpful to explain the difference between waivers and variances. A lot of people may be confused."]

## [<u>Planner</u> – Would this be useful? Variances are granted from the Zoning Ordinance; waivers from the Site Plan Regulations.]

- 5.1.2 Unless "unnecessary hardship" is defined otherwise in applicable case or statutory law, it is defined herein as a situation where practical difficulties or unnecessary expense would result from strict compliance with the requirement, and where the applicant would be unduly burdened by the requirement as opposed to merely inconvenienced. Factors to be considered in determining the existence of a hardship shall include, but not be limited to:
  - (a) Topography;
  - (b) Existing site features;
  - (c) Geographic location of the property; and
  - (d) Size/magnitude of the proposed project.
- 5.1.3 Unless defined otherwise in applicable case or statutory law, the Planning Board shall consider the following in determining whether a waiver would "not be contrary to the spirit and intent of the regulations" (per waiver provision 5.1.1 (a), above) or "properly carry out the spirit and intent of these regulations" (per waiver provision 5.1.1 (c), above):
  - (a) whether granting the waiver will be detrimental to the public safety, health, or welfare, or injurious to other property,
  - (b) whether granting the waiver will promote the public interest; and
  - (c) whether granting the waiver is consistent with the provisions of the Durham Zoning Ordinance, Durham Master Plan, and any official maps.

Factors to be considered shall include, but not be limited to:

- (1) Topography;
- (2) Existing site features;
- (3) Geographic location of the property; and
- (4) Size/magnitude of project being evaluated.

#### Section 5.2 Conditions

In approving waivers, the Board may impose such conditions as it deems appropriate to secure the purpose of the particular requirement being waived.

#### Section 5.3 Procedures

- 5.3.1 A request for a waiver shall be submitted in writing by the applicant along with the application for Board review. The applicant shall address how any waiver request comports with one of the two justifications for granting waivers, in Subsection 5.1.1.
- 5.3.2 The Planning Board minutes shall include any waivers that are granted, including the basis for granting the waiver.
- 5.3.3 Any approved waiver, including a description of the waiver, shall be noted in the Notice of Approval and/or on the plans, as determined by the Planning Board.

#### Article 6. Administration, Enforcement, and Appeals

Section 6.1AdministrationSection 6.2Enforcement and PenaltiesSection 6.3Appeals

#### Section 6.1 Administration

These regulations shall be administered by the Planning Board.

#### Section 6.2 Enforcement and Penalties

The enforcement of these regulations is vested in the Durham Code Enforcement Officer and the Durham Town Council. The Code Enforcement Officer and the Town Council are designated as the local authorities to institute appropriate action under the provisions of RSA 676:17. Any violation of these regulations may be subject to a civil fine as provided in RSA 676:16 and 676:17, as amended.

#### Section 6.3 Appeals

In accordance with RSA 677:15, any person(s) aggrieved by any decision of the Board concerning a site plan review application may present to the superior court a petition, duly verified, setting forth that such decision is illegal or unreasonable in whole or in part and specifying the grounds upon which the same is claimed to be illegal or unreasonable. Such petition shall be presented to the court within 30 days after the Board's final decision regarding the site plan application.

#### Article 7. Validity

| Section 7.1 | <b>Conflicting Provisions</b> |
|-------------|-------------------------------|
| Section 7.2 | Saving Clause                 |

#### Section 7.1 Conflicting Provisions

Where any specific provision contained in these regulations conflicts with another specific provision in these regulations, or with any other local, state, or federal regulation, ordinance, code, or statute, the requirement imposing the greatest restriction or highest standard shall apply, unless otherwise provided.

#### Section 7.2 Saving Clause

If any section, clause, provision, or portion of these regulations shall be held to be invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such holding shall not affect or impair any other section, clause, provision, or portion of these regulations.

#### Article 8. Amendments

These regulations may be amended by the Planning Board in accordance with RSA 675:6, as follows:

- 1) The Board shall hold a public hearing on the proposed amendment. Notice of the time and place of the hearing shall be as provided in RSA 675:7.
- 2) The amendment shall not take effect until copies of it are certified by a majority of the Board and filed with the Town Clerk (unless otherwise provide by law).

#### Article 9. Word usage

In these regulations, words used in the present tense shall include the future, the singular includes the plural and the plural includes the singular, the word "building" shall include the word "structure," the word "shall" is mandatory, and the word "may" is permissive. The word "person" includes an individual, partnership, firm, association, corporation, organization, or institution.

Where terms are not defined in Article 10 or within a given Article, they shall have their ordinary accepted meanings or such as the context may imply.

#### **Article 10. Definitions**

Note that there are special definitions sections in several sections in the Site Plan Regulations, specifically: Part I, Article 10 - <u>Definitions</u> and Part III, Article 2 – A<u>rchitectural Design</u> <u>Standards</u>, Article 5 – <u>Landscaping and Screening Standards</u>, Article 6 – <u>Lighting Standards</u>, and Article 16 – <u>Stormwater Management Standards</u>. [<u>Planner</u> – revise the format of the definitions below, consistent with the format used in the Landscaping and Lighting sections. This is more readable and less cumbersome:

#### <u>"Cone of illumination</u>. A regular conical shaped volume situated directly below, and centered upon, a light fixture. The sides of the cone radiate out from the fixture at an angle of 80 degrees from the vertical. For wall-mounted fixtures, the cone of illumination is a half cone."]

Wherever these words and terms, below, are found, they shall have the following meanings.

| AASHTO                           | American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials   |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Adaptive Management              | Management of resources that is a structured,<br>iterative process of robust decision making in the<br>face of uncertainty, with an aim to reducing<br>uncertainty over time via system monitoring. In this<br>way, decision making simultaneously meets one or<br>more resource management objectives and, either<br>passively or actively, accrues information needed to<br>improve future management.   |
| Best Management Practices (BMP): | <ul> <li>Methods and means that have been determined to be the most effective, practical, commonly accepted approaches to meeting a specific objective.</li> <li>Regarding stormwater management, BMPs control, treat, or prevent pollution and detrimental impacts from stormwater runoff. BMPs for stormwater management may be structural (engineered) or nonstructural (strategies implemented to control stormwater runoff that focus on pollution prevention such as alternative site design, zoning and ordinances, education, and <i>good housekeeping measures</i>).</li> </ul> |

[<u>Mower</u> - Is this a term of art? What does \*good housekeeping measures\* mean? Should be clarified by Town Engineer.]

Buffer

A vegetated area or zone separating a development from a sensitive resource or neighboring.

<u>A vegetated area or zone separating a development</u> from a sensitive resource or neighboring [property in which proposed development is restricted or prohibited]. Also see "Screen." [<u>Olshansky</u> - Corrected by Robin: A vegetated area or zone separating a development from a sensitive resource or neighboring [property in which proposed development is restricted or prohibited].

Concern: There apparently are several meanings for the word buffer. Robin's corrected version refers to non-buildable area such as a wetlands buffer or a shoreland buffer. Yet the term buffer is often used in the context of visual screening, such as Peak had promised a 50-foot vegetative buffer between Mast Road and their buildings. I was told by a member of their team that they consider grass to serve as a vegetative buffer. I think we should make sure that when we are talking about vegetative buffers for screening, we understand that the purpose is to substantially screen what is on the other side.

I see we have a definition for Screen: A type of buffer that provides significant visual shielding of the subject site. But the term vegetative buffer seems to be used much more frequently to refer to vegetative screening. Thus after the (corrected) definition of buffer above, please include "Also see Screen."]

[Spang - ...this is the only definition of "Buffer" that I have ever seen that makes no mention of vegetation. The purposes of the buffer--- runoff control, riparian habitat-- are served by a naturally-vegetated riparian area.

The State Shoreland Water Quality Protection Act contains language that can be used (starting with the definition), even if Durham does not want to get involved with the elaborate vegetation management that the State statute lays out.]

Commercial Core

The land area encompassed by these 5 zoning districts: Central Business, Church Hill, Coe's Corner, Courthouse, and Professional Office.

[<u>Olshansky</u> - Commercial Core—Did we decide to take Coe's Corner out of the Commercial Core during the Master Plan rewrite of the Downtown & Commercial Core Chapter? If so, this should be corrected.]

| Deer Yard   | A small area of land that attracts a large number of<br>deer during winter months. These areas are usually<br>attractive to deer because of the shelter and<br>proximity of food sources.   |
|-------------|---|
| Development | Any man-made change to improved or unimproved<br>land, including but not limited to changes to<br>buildings or other structures, paving, adding or<br>eliminating parking spaces or driveways, excavation<br>or mining, dredging, significant filling or grading,<br>drilling operations, storage of materials or<br>equipment, or significant change of use. |

| Disturbance [also under Stormwater]         | Any activity that significantly alters the<br>characteristics of the terrain in such a manner as to<br>alter the hydrology, impede the natural runoff<br>pattern, or create an unnatural runoff.  |
|---|---|
| Disturbed Area [also under Stormwater]      | An area in which the natural vegetative soil cover<br>has been removed or altered and, therefore, is<br>susceptible to erosion.   |
| Ecosystem Services                          | The benefits of natural systems to individuals,<br>communities, and economies. These benefits<br>include provisioning services such as food and<br>water; regulating services such as flood and disease<br>control; cultural services such as spiritual,<br>recreational, and cultural benefits; and supporting<br>services such as nutrient cycling that maintain the<br>conditions for life on Earth.   |
| Environmental (natural resource) protection | Policies and procedures aimed at conserving natural<br>resources, preserving the current state of natural<br>environments and, where possible, reversing<br>degradation. Any activity to maintain or restore<br>environmental quality through preventing the<br>emission of pollutants or reducing the presence of<br>polluting substances in environmental media, and<br>preventing physical removal or degradation of<br>natural resources.   |
| Green Roof                                  | Also known as rooftop gardens, green roofs are<br>planted over existing roof structures, and consist of<br>a waterproof, root-safe membrane that is covered by<br>a drainage system, lightweight growing medium,<br>and plants. Green roofs reduce rooftop and building<br>temperatures, filter pollution, lessen pressure on<br>sewer systems, and reduce the heat island effect.  |
| Impervious Cover or Surface [also under St  | <i>tormwater]</i> A material with low permeability<br>that impedes the natural infiltration of moisture into<br>the ground so that the majority of the precipitation<br>that falls on the surface runs off or is not absorbed<br>into the ground. Common impervious surfaces<br>include, but are not limited to, roofs, concrete or<br>bituminous paving such as sidewalks, patios,<br>driveways, roads, parking spaces or lots, and<br>storage areas, compacted gravel including drives<br>and parking areas, oiled or compacted earthen |

|  | materials, stone, concrete or composite pavers, wood, and swimming pools.  |
|--|--|
| Mast Stand                                   | 'Mast" is a term commonly used by foresters and<br>wildlife biologists to describe the seeds of shrubs<br>and trees that are eaten by wildlife.  |
| Maximum Extent Practicable [also under S     | <i>tormwater]</i> To show that a proposed<br>development has met a standard to the maximum<br>extent practicable, the applicant must demonstrate<br>the following: (1) all reasonable efforts have been<br>made to meet the standard, (2) a complete<br>evaluation of all possible management measures has<br>been performed, and (3) if full compliance cannot<br>be achieved, the highest practicable level of<br>management is being implemented. |
| Mitigation [also Stormwater]                 | Activities, strategies, policies, programs, and<br>actions that, over time, will serve to avoid,<br>minimize, or compensate for (by treating or<br>removing pollution sources) the deleterious impacts<br>of a particular development or activity, such as the<br>measures to treat or remove pollution from<br>downgradient water resources.  |
| Native plants or vegetation [also under Stor | <i>rmwater &amp; Landscaping]</i> Plants that are<br>indigenous to the region, adapted to the local soil<br>and rainfall conditions, and require minimal<br>supplemental watering, fertilizer, and pesticide<br>application.   |
| NHDES [also under Stormwater]                | New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services   |
| Pavement [also under Stormwater]             | Areas of a site that are covered with pervious and/or impervious asphalt and concrete. [See "porous pavement and pavers."]   |
| Porous Pavement                              | Alternative to conventional asphalt that uses a<br>variety of porous media, often supported by a<br>structural matrix, concrete grid, or modular<br>pavement, which allows water to percolate through<br>to a sub-base for gradual infiltration.   |
| Redevelopment                                | Any man-made change to previously improved land, including but not limited to changes to   |

|  | buildings or other structures, paving, adding or<br>eliminating parking spaces or driveways, excavation<br>or mining, dredging, significant filling or grading,<br>drilling operations, storage of materials or<br>equipment, or significant change of use.  |
|--|--|
| Screen                                 | A type of buffer that provides significant visual shielding of the subject site.   |
| Site                                   | A lot, tract or parcel of land on which a<br>development is located that includes but is not<br>limited to the proposed area of disturbance and<br>development activities.   |
| Solar Access                           | Ability of sunlight to strike a solar energy system.<br>The access of a solar energy system to<br>unobstructed, direct sunlight.   |
| [ <u>Mower</u> – recommended language] |  |
| Solar Orientation                      | 1. Orientation of a structure in a way that<br>encourages energy efficiency by creating optimum<br>conditions for the use of passive and active solar<br>strategies. 2. Orientation of a structure for<br>controlled solar gain. 3. The relation of a building<br>and its associated fenestration and interior surfaces<br>to compass direction and, therefore, to the location<br>of the sun. It is usually given in terms of angular<br>degrees away from south, e.g., a wall facing due<br>southeast has an orientation of 45 degrees east of<br>south.                                   |
| Solar <u>ready</u> zone                | <u>A section or sections of the roof or building</u><br><u>overhang designated and reserved for the future</u><br><u>installation of a solar photovoltaic or solar</u><br><u>thermal system, as referenced in Appendix RB of</u><br><u>the 2015 IECC. Spaces on a roof that are</u><br><u>unshaded, un-penetrated, and free of obstructions</u><br><u>and may thus serve as a suitable place where solar</u><br><u>panels can be installed at a future date.</u> Systems<br>may be installed in the future without need for the<br>property owner to return to any Durham land use<br>board. |

[<u>Mower</u> – recommended language]

| Stormwater [also under Stormwater] | Water that originates from precipitation events and accumulates on land.   |
|------------------------------------|--|
| Streetscape                        | The view along a street from the perspective of a<br>driver, bicyclist, or pedestrian that conveys a sense<br>of the character and quality of the visual<br>environment. The streetscape is composed of and<br>defined by buildings, building heights and setbacks,<br>building entrances, porches and awnings,<br>storefronts, sidewalks, street furniture and benches,<br>above-ground utilities, bus shelters, street trees and<br>other landscaping, public parks and plazas, public<br>art, bicycle lanes and amenities, parking lanes and<br>parked cars, and the width and number of travel<br>lanes. |
| <u>Urban Compact</u>               | The core area of Durham classified as such by theCommissioner of NHDOT in which state roads areclassified as Class IV highways under RSA 229:5.The Town of Durham maintains Class IVhighwaysand has jurisdiction over access ontothose roads.  |

[Planner - I add this definition by Robin Mower. See her comment in Section 16.2.3]

Vernal pool

Wetland or temporary pond that typically has ponded water only part of the year. Because the pool is temporary, it provides critical habitat for certain wildlife to breed and complete their life cycle.

## PART II. SITE PLAN REVIEW PROCESS

#### **Article 1. Application Procedures**

In accordance with RSA 676:4. II (a), an individual who anticipates submitting a formal application for Site Plan approval has the option of informally consulting with the Board prior to formal submission. There are two levels of Pre-Application Review: the Preliminary Conceptual Consultation and the Design Review. An applicant may elect to engage in or forgo either phase thereof.

#### Section 1.1 Preliminary Conceptual Consultation Phase

- 1.1.1 The applicant may request a meeting with the Board to discuss a proposal in conceptual form and in general terms. Such preapplication consultation shall be informal and directed toward:
  - (a) reviewing the basic concepts of the proposal,
  - (b) reviewing the proposal with regard to the Master Plan and Zoning Ordinance,
  - (c) explaining the local regulations that may apply to the proposal, and,
  - (d) guiding the applicant relative to state and local requirements.
- 1.1.2 Limits of the Review
  - (a) The Board shall conduct the preliminary conceptual consultation at a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. The applicant shall make a presentation defining the general scope and concept of the Site Plan.
  - (b) Such consultation shall not bind either the applicant or the Board, and statements made by the Board members shall not be the basis for disqualifying those members or invalidating any action taken. The Board and the applicant may discuss proposals in conceptual form only and in general terms such as the desirability of types of development and proposals under the Town's Master Plan.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> – "...the sentence "The Board and the applicant may discuss proposals in conceptual form only and in general terms...." Sounds odd. I would think they "may" discuss whatever they want to, but the purpose of the preliminary consultation is general in nature and not binding."]

[<u>Planner</u> – The RSA states: "(a) Preliminary conceptual consultation phase. The regulations shall define the limits of preliminary conceptual consultation which shall be directed at review of the basic concept of the proposal and suggestions which might be of assistance in resolving problems with meeting requirements during final consideration. Such consultation

shall not bind either the applicant or the board and statements made by planning board members shall not be the basis for disqualifying said members or invalidating any action taken. The board and the applicant may discuss proposals in conceptual form only and in general terms such as desirability of types of development and proposals under the master plan."]

1.1.3 Project Description. In order to facilitate discussion, the potential applicant is requested to prepare, and show as part of his presentation, a base map of the site to be developed. The map should be drawn to scale, and may be drawn in pencil. The proposed site should be drawn on the base map and show the relationship to surrounding structures and topography. Dimensions may be approximate. The data may be tentative, but all information should be sufficiently clear to illustrate conditions on the proposed site.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

[<u>Planner</u> – conceptual applications are very loose. The regs should impose minimal requirements.]

Section 1.2 Design Review Phase

[Olshansky - Section 1.2 Design Review Phase. Does the new language in the Design Review Process section prevent misuse of the regulations as we saw occur with Mathes Terrace by preventing "getting a foot in the door" prematurely when few details are presented?]

#### [<u>Planner</u> – See subsection 1.2.6 below]

- 1.2.1 The applicant may request to meet with the Board for nonbinding discussions of a potential application that involve more specific design and engineering details than in the preliminary conceptual consultation phase, i.e., a Design Review, in accordance with RSA 676:4. II (b).
- 1.2.2 The Design Review phase may proceed only after identification of and notice to abutters, holders of conservation, preservation, or agricultural preservation restrictions, and the general public, as required by RSA 676:4. I (d).
- 1.2.3 The Planning Board shall hold a public hearing on Design Review applications as laid out in the Board's Rules of Procedure. Statements made by the Board members shall not be the basis for disqualifying said members or invalidating any action taken.
- 1.2.4 An application for Design Review shall be submitted to the Planning Department not less than 21 calendar days before the regularly scheduled meeting of the Board. The request shall be accompanied by 12 copies of all plans and exhibits, along with digital copies of the documents and exhibits in Portable Document Format (PDF). The application shall include:

- (a) a completed application form, as prepared by the Planning Department,
- (b) a letter of intent describing the proposed project,
- (c) drawings depicting the site and proposed improvements, in a level of detail as described herein,
- (d) a list of abutters and their addresses from municipal records collected not more than five days before submission,
- (e) a list of all holders of conservation, preservation, or agricultural preservation restrictions on the subject property, and
- (f) applicable fees including fees to cover mailing and advertising costs.
- 1.2.5 The application for Design Review shall include enough of the requirements listed in Article 2 so that the Board is able to review the project. Detailed engineering of infrastructure and utilities is not required at the Design Review phase, but the information and preliminary plan shall be displayed in sufficient detail to enable the Board to understand the proposed project and identify potential issues.
- 1.2.6 The application shall include all of the following information and details. It is understood that some of these items will be subject to change. If the board determines that the required information is not properly provided or not provided in sufficient detail to allow for a substantive review, in accordance with these provisions, then the application shall be deemed a preliminary conceptual application, rather than a design review application.
  - (a) A plan drawn to scale including a title block, names of owners on abutting properties, a north arrow, scale, a locus plan, the area of the parcel, required lot setbacks, zoning and applicable overlay districts.
  - (b) Surveyed property lines with metes and bounds
  - (c) Overview of water bodies, wetlands, topography, soils, rock outcrops, and existing vegetation
  - (d) Locations of all existing buildings and structures
  - (e) Proposed uses and locations for proposed uses, including square footage for each.
  - (f) Locations of proposed buildings, including building footprints, heights and square footages
  - (g) Locations of existing and proposed utilities

- (h) Locations of existing streets adjacent to the site and proposed driveways, parking lots, sidewalks, and footpaths
- (i) General landscaping plan
- (j) Identification of existing areas to be preserved
- (k) General plan or discussion about stormwater management
- (1) Information on all pertinent easements and other restrictions
- (m) Any other information that the Planning Board deems appropriate to facilitate its review.
- 1.2.7 At a regular meeting of the Planning Board, the Board shall determine if the Design Review includes sufficient information to allow the Board to understand the project and identify potential issues. If the Board determines that the request does not describe the proposed project in sufficient detail, it may request additional information.
- 1.2.8 At any public meeting of the Planning Board, the Board may close the Design Review process of an application. It shall inform the applicant in writing within 10 days of such determination.
- 1.2.9 In accordance with RSA 676.12, an applicant is subject to the regulations in <u>place (or for which public notice has been made)</u> as of the date that public notice of the start of the Design Review is published in a local newspaper. Those regulations adhere for up to 12 months following the end of the Design Review only if the applicant then submits a complete, formal application before the expiration of that 12-month period.

#### [<u>Planner</u> - I added this per the legal parameters.]

#### Section 1.3 Formal Application

- 1.3.1 A formal application shall consist of the forms, information, and documentation as shown in these regulations along with application fees and any fees for notices.
- 1.3.2 Upon receipt of a formal application, the Planning Director will review it using the Site Plan Application Checklist. If this review discloses that all requirements specified on the Site Plan Application Checklist have not been met, the applicant will be notified what specific items are still needed. If the application is not complete, then it may be treated as a preliminary conceptual application or Design Review application, as appropriate, or it may be held/tabled by the Planning Board until the outstanding items are submitted and it is accepted as complete.
- 1.3.3 A formal application shall only be submitted to the Planning Board at a regular meeting. Within 30 days of receipt of the application, the Planning Board shall accept the application as complete or make a finding that the application is not complete, noting the

outstanding items on the Site Plan Checklist, which shall have been provided to the Board. If the Board determines that the application is not complete it may continue the application to another specific meeting or table the application, to provide time for the applicant to submit the outstanding items. <u>At its discretion, the Planning Board may</u> accept an application as complete, when one or more items are not yet submitted, if it determines that the application is substantially complete and that the absence of those items will not impair the Planning Board substantively commencing its review of the application. In such situations, the Planning Board may specify the dates by which any outstanding items must be submitted.

[<u>Planner</u> – I recommend adding the language above to allow for some reasonable flexibility for the board, since often an applicant may request additional time to prepare certain aspect of the plan – such as the lighting plan – and this additional time will not adversely affect the board's starting its review. Here is the pertinent RSA.

"676:4 Board's Procedures on Plats. -

I. The procedures to be followed by the planning board when considering or acting upon a plat or application submitted to it for approval under this title shall be as set forth in the board's subdivision regulations, subject to the following requirements:

(a) An application for approval filed with the planning board under this title, other than an application for subdivision approval, shall be subject to the minimum requirements set forth in this section and shall be governed by the procedures set forth in the subdivision regulations, unless the planning board by regulation specifies other procedures for that type of application.

(b) The planning board shall specify by regulation what constitutes a completed application sufficient to invoke jurisdiction to obtain approval. A completed application means that sufficient information is included or submitted to allow the board to proceed with consideration and to make an informed decision."]

1.3.4 The Planning Director may arrange for the application to be presented to the Technical Review Group (TRG), at appropriate times during the review process to obtain input from the various departments and boards/commissions that are represented on the TRG. Except as may be provided elsewhere in these regulations or in the Zoning Ordinance, the TRG has no authority to approve projects.

#### [Planner - I relocated this to a new section at the bottom on the TRG.]

#### Section 1.4 Action on a Formal Application

1.4.1 The Planning Board must take final action on a formal application – to approve, approve with conditions, or deny - within 65 days after a determination of completeness by the Board. The Board shall consider the application at its regular meetings, or at workshop meetings if needed. The Board will schedule a site visit if determined to be useful. Additional reports or studies may be required by the Board, at its reasonable discretion, including but not limited to, a high intensity soil survey and traffic, school, fiscal, and

environmental impact analyses, to allow the Board to make an informed and educated decision concerning the application.

1.4.2 Prior to the approval of a site plan application, a public hearing shall be held as required by RSA 676:4 I(d) with notice given to the applicant; holders of conservation, preservation, or agricultural preservation restrictions; every engineer, architect, land surveyor, or soil scientist whose professional seal appears on the plan submitted to the Board; abutters, and the public.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - For Consistency: Section 1.4.2 "every engineer, architect, land surveyor, or soil scientist whose professional seal appears on the plan..." On page 17, Article 2, Number C. This list doesn't include those same people.]

#### [Planner – good catch. We should add this language under Article 2, below.]

- 1.4.3 The Board may apply to the Town Council for an extension of the 65-day time period, not to exceed an additional 65 days, before taking acting to approve, conditionally approve, or deny an application. An applicant may waive the requirement for Board action within the time period specified in these regulations and consent to such an extension as may be mutually agreeable.
- 1.4.4 If the Board has not taken action on the formal application within 65 days after receipt of the completed application by the Board or its designee, and the Board has not obtained an extension, the applicant may obtain from the Town Council an order directing the Planning Board to act within 15 days. Failure of the Board to act on the order shall constitute grounds for the applicant to petition the Superior Court as provided in RSA 676:4,I(c).
- 1.4.5 Conditions of approval shall be stated in a Notice of Decision to be sent to the applicant.
- 1.4.6 A financial surety, adequate to cover the construction of all infrastructure improvements approved as part of the site plan application, as determined appropriate by the Planning Board, shall be posted with the Town prior to signing the plan. The following financial sureties are acceptable to the Town: cash, passbook savings account in the Town's name, letter of credit, or a bond.
- 1.4.7 If any application is denied, the grounds for such denial shall be clearly stated in the records of the Board and in written notice given to the applicant. Applications may be denied by the Board without public hearing on the grounds of failure by the applicant to supply information or to pay fees as required by these regulations.

#### Section 1.5 Conditional Approval

The applicant shall have  $\frac{1 \text{ (one) year } 6 \text{ months}}{6 \text{ months}}$  to comply with the conditions of approval and have the plan certified. If the conditions are not met within  $\frac{1 \text{ (one) year } 6 \text{ months}}{6 \text{ months}}$ , the conditional approval shall lapse, unless the Board has granted a mutually agreeable extension.

The Board for conditional approval shall grant only two 6-3- month extensions. Extensions shall be granted only if there have been no amendments to the Zoning Ordinance, these regulations, or any other ordinance or regulations which would render the Site Plan non-conforming, and if all required permits are still valid.

[Olshansky - Comment: This time frame seems too generous. I would suggest 6 months and then two 3-month extension periods. Dragging these projects out as suggested by the proposed language creates more opportunity for a project to be out of compliance with current zoning regulations. This is particularly true if a developer purposely brings a project forward timed specifically to get in under the wire, before a pending zoning change and then drags out the project after that because he is really not ready to move forward.]

#### Section 1.6 Notices

- 1.6.1 Notice of a Design Review, submission of a formal application, or a public hearing shall be given by the Planning Department to the abutters; holders of conservation, preservation, or agricultural preservation restrictions; every engineer, architect, land surveyor, or soil scientist whose professional seal appears on the plan submitted to the Board; and the applicant. The notice shall be provided by certified mail, and mailed at least ten (10) days prior to the meeting.
- 1.6.2 The public shall be given notice at the same time, by posting in two public places and in a paper of general circulation in the Town.
- 1.6.3 The notice shall give the date, time, and place of the Planning Board meeting at which the application will be submitted to the Board, shall include a general description of the proposal which is to be considered, and shall identify the applicant and the location of the proposal.
- 1.6.4 If the notice for the public hearing was included in the notice of submission or any prior notice, additional notice of a continued public hearing is not required. Additional notice is not required of an adjourned session of a public hearing provided that the date, time and place of the adjourned session was made known at the prior public hearing.

#### Section 1.7 Technical Review Group

**1.7.1** The Planning Director may arrange for the application to be presented to the <u>Technical Review Group (TRG)</u>, at appropriate times during the review process to <u>obtain input from the various departments and boards/commissions that are</u> <u>represented on the TRG. Except as may be provided elsewhere in these regulations or</u> <u>in the Zoning Ordinance, the TRG has no authority to approve projects.</u>

[Planner – I relocated this from above verbatim.]

"Technical Review Group" (TRG) is hereby established to assist the Board in reviewing Site Plan / Subdivision applications and plans. The TRG shall consist of representatives from: the Planning Department, Department of Public Works, Police Department, Fire Department, and Conservation Commission. Representatives from other Town agencies may be requested to serve on the TRG as required on a case-by-case basis. The Chairman of the TRC shall be the Town Planner or his/her designated representative.

The TRG will review all site plans/subdivision plans to determine their conformance with these regulations and any other applicable ordinances and regulations including, but not limited to, the Town's Zoning Ordinance, the Town's Master Plan, and Town's Building Code. In addition the TRG shall consider the appropriateness of the proposed plan and any possible adverse consequences that might result if the plan is approved.

All projects other than conceptual design applications must go to the TRG prior to submission to the planning board. This can be waived by the chair of the TRG for minor projects. When deemed necessary by the chairman of the TRG, additional meetings of the TRG may be scheduled to ensure all aspects of a proposed project are properly analyzed prior to submittal of recommendations to the Board.

The TRG through its Chairman, shall provide the Board with a memorandum prior to the public hearing, summarizing its review of the Site Plan/Subdivision application and plans, along with a recommendation to the Board for approval, approval with conditions, or disapproval

[Wolfe – Peter asked that I provide this to the board with this note: "I have attached some additional language that I would like inserted in our site plan regulations for the board to discuss next week. This come from Exeter and are similar to Portsmouth's. They are not a big change but formalize your process."]

[Planner – I recommend this not be incorporated without significant discussion. TRG meetings are not public meetings. They are staff meetings that I convene to review projects with applicants and obtain comments from the TRG members. I incorporate the staff comments and forward them to the Planning Board, as appropriate. The process works well. If there are to be proposed changes we should think through these carefully. I think it better for these to be staff meetings. Would this change make these public meetings? If so, this would involve more work. Would we need to pay somebody to do formal minutes? The Planner would not have time to do minutes other than very cursory ones. The TRG makes no decisions as a body. We discuss projects, work together to move projects along and facilitate appropriate changes, and pass on appropriate comments to the board. The Zoning Ordinance does provide that the Technical Review Committee may approve projects (Section 175-17) but this is different from the main work of the TRG. The TRC has approved only 1 project that since I have worked here – for a Christmas tree farm in 2013 - as the process seems rather cumbersome and it seems easier to simply bring smaller projects to the Planning Board. We may wish to modify the procedure in the Zoning Ordinance but this is a separate issue.]

[Planner – at any rate some changes would be needed to this language. It also includes the Economic Development Director. We include several boards – Conservation Commission, Energy Committee, and Historic District Commission. The TRG does not review applications for conformance or as a body. The Town Planner reviews applications for overall conformance with regulations and plans and other members review for conformance within their area of expertise. All significant projects are sent to the TRG. I send other projects – conceptual, design review, amendments, etc. - as appropriate, whether to a meeting or simply by notification. This should remain flexible in my judgment (rather than be considered a waiver) how to handle such applications. Rather than providing a memo prior to the public hearing, it should simply require the Town Planner to keep the Planning Board informed about the issues discussed at the TRG meetings. This should be kept flexible to be most effective. Also, the TRG as a body does not make any recommendations.]

[Planner – John Powers, Deputy Fire Chief notes the following. I do not think this applies to the TRG actually. Perhaps there is something here to include in the development standards section. "It may be worth noting that, even if the plan is authorized to by-pass the TRG, there are certain requirements that always apply to sites with structures on them. They can be found under NFPA 1 – Chapter 18, (by means of RSA 153-5 and Saf-C 6008.03). Something as simple as landscaping, planting trees, or installing decorative lampposts can impede fire department access and should be run by the fire department if it would seem to conflict with the aforementioned NFPA code. Thanks! John"]

#### **Article 2. Application Submission Requirements**

#### Section 2.1

A Formal Application shall be filed with the Planning Board or its designated agent at least twenty-one (21) calendar days prior to a regularly scheduled meeting of the Board.

#### Section 2.2 Formal Application Content

A Formal Application shall consist of the following items:

## [Planner – This section should be reformatted consistent with the rest of the document – (a) (1), etc.]

- A. A completed application on a form provided by the Planning Department;
- B. A letter of intent detailing the proposal, including the maximum number of residents/occupants/tenants if the proposal includes one or more multi-unit dwellings.
- C. A list of the names and addresses of all the abutters, as shown in Town records collected not more than five (5) days before the day of filing; *and a list of* all holders of conservation, preservation, or agricultural preservation restrictions on the subject property; *and every engineer, architect, land surveyor, or soil scientist whose professional seal appears on the plan.*

#### [<u>Planner</u> – added per Mary Ellen's comment above.]

D. Additional documents, as requested by the Planning Department; and

- E. Three (3) copies, measuring 24"x 36" and fifteen (15) copies measuring 11" x 17" of the plan. However, the Planning Board may require additional copies measuring 24" x 36", as deemed necessary. The plan shall be prepared by a land surveyor, using a scale of 1 inch equals 100 feet or larger (e.g. 1 inch equals 50 feet) and shall include the following items, which may be more specifically delineated in the checklist prepared by the Planning Department:
  - 1. A Title Block, including:
    - a) Title of plan;
    - b) Owner's name and address, and name of agent, if any
    - c) The date the plan was prepared and date of subsequent revisions;
    - d) Scale of the plan; and
    - e) Name, address and seal of the preparer of the plan.
  - 2. North arrow, bar scale, and legend.
  - 3. A location plan at a minimum scale of one (l) inch equals one thousand (1,000) feet, showing:
    - a) Property lines of the parcel being developed in relation to the surrounding area within a radius of two thousand (2,000) feet.
    - b) Names and locations of existing town streets including the nearest intersection of said streets;
    - c) Names and locations of streets within the proposed development;
    - d) Names and location of watercourses and water bodies on and adjacent to the site;
    - e) Area of entire parcel in acres and square feet.
  - 4. The plan of the site itself shall show:
    - a) Surveyed property lines of the parcel showing their bearings;
    - b) Names of all abutting property owners;
    - c) Location and layout of existing and proposed structures and buildings;
    - d) Existing and proposed contours at two (2) foot intervals for the entire site. Where a change in grade is proposed, existing contours shall be dotted lines and finished elevations solid;
    - e) Area of entire parcel in acres and square feet;
    - f) Zoning and special district boundaries;
    - g) Deed reference and tax map number;
    - h) Location width, curbing and paving of access ways, egress ways and streets within the site;
    - i) Location and layout of all on-site parking and loading facilities;
    - j) Location and size of all municipal and non-municipal utilities and appurtenances including: water, sewer, electric, telephone, gas lines and fire alarm connections, indicating whether overhead or underground, and the location of wells and septic systems;
    - k) Type and location of solid waste disposal facilities;

- Location, elevation and layout of catch basin and other surface drainage features;
- m) Location of all physical/natural features including water bodies, watercourses, wetlands, soil types including farmland soils, railroads, rock outcroppings and stone walls;
- n) existing vegetation/foliage lines and description of existing vegetation/foliage types;
- o) identification of vegetated areas and individual trees to be retained and protected including delineation of "save islands," critical root zones (or "root save areas"), the driplines of individual specimen trees, and/or entire stands of trees, and tree buffers;
- p) Stormwater management plan, including how the site will be dewatered during construction:
- q) Dimensions and area of all property to be dedicated for public use of common ownership;
- r) Location of 100 year flood hazard boundaries and minimum flood elevations;
- s) Date and permit numbers of all required state and federal permits.
- t) Location of all buildings, wells and leach fields within one hundred and fifty (150) feet of the parcel;
- u) Dimensions, area and minimum setback requirements on all existing and proposed lots;
- v) Proposed landscaping plan including size and type of plant material;
- w) Pedestrian walks providing circulation through the site;
- x) Location and size of proposed and existing signs, walls and fences;
- y) Location and type of lighting for outdoor activities;
- z) Location, widths and purposes of any easements or rights-of-way;
- aa) Total on-site square footage of impervious surfaces;
- bb) Clear demarcation of erosion and sedimentation control structures and specifics on types of structures (silt fence, silt sock, etc.);
- cc) Plan for staging of construction;
- dd) Delineation of temporary area to be disturbed by construction activity, including vehicle travel lanes, parking areas, and areas for stockpiling of equipment, material,, and supplies; and
- ee) Delineation of limits, including total square footage, of disturbance of site.
- 5. The following features required on the plan itself, as above, shall be delineated in color on one digital copy and fifteen (15) 11x17 printed copies:
  - a) Surveyed property lines of the parcel showing their bearings;
  - b) Zoning and special district boundaries;
  - c) Access ways, egress ways parking lots and streets within the site;
  - d) Waterbodies, watercourses, wetlands, railroads, rock outcroppings and stone walls;
  - e) Property to be dedicated for public use of common ownership;
  - f) Pedestrian walks providing circulation through the site;
  - g) Location and widths of any easements or rights-of-way;

- h) Features unique to the site that should be brought to the attention of the Board; and
- i) Proposed buildings

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 6. Sheet Index showing a list of submitted plans, when there are multiple sheets.
- 7. A current or recent aerial photograph showing the footprint of the construction area and the area of disturbance of the site, and the site in context, including existing site conditions and physical elements, natural or built, in the immediate vicinity which might be of significance to the Planning Board's understanding of the impact of or on the proposed development. (Appropriate photographs from Google Earth and similar web-based applications are acceptable.)

# [<u>Humphrey</u> – "... A current or recent (which one? Aren't these the same?) aerial photograph...Is this something we should require for all applications? Adds expense, so when is it really necessary?"

[<u>Planner</u> – I agree that there should be some threshold for this and comparable requirements. What criterion should be used - \$ value of project, area of disturbance, # units/square footage of building, etc.? Or should it be on "larger or more complex projects" or at discretion of the Planning Board?]

- 8. On larger or more complex projects, photographs taken from multiple viewpoints that show the clearly defined locations and details of existing natural elements, such as mature trees, large rocks, waterbodies.
- F. At its option, the Planning Board may accept an application as complete that does not include a limited number of the items herein, where the Board determines that there is sufficient information to commence a detailed substantive review, and where it states that the outstanding items must be received in a timely fashion in order to review those items thoroughly prior to taking final action.
- G. Copies of the current deed, *purchase and sale agreement (if applicable)*, and *copies* of all easements, deed restrictions, rights-of-ways, or other encumbrances currently affecting the property.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - Please remove Item G. We should not be asking for a purchase and sales agreement. \*\*\* This is private, confidential information. \*\*\*]

H. A completed Energy Considerations Checklist. The applicant is not required to comply with the items on the checklist but is encouraged to meet as many considerations as possible. Note that some items on the checklist, such as the standards under Chapter 38 <u>Building Construction</u> of the Town of Durham Code of Ordinances, are required. I. For new buildings and additions to existing buildings, *in zones which are not subject to the <u>Architectural Design Standards</u>, herein, the items listed under <u>Elevation</u> <u>Drawings</u>, below, related to the proposed architectural design of the exterior of buildings, shall be prepared. The final architectural design is considered part of the site plan approval, and must be implemented in detail specifically as approved. In areas that are subject to the <u>Architectural Design Standards</u>, the Standards delineate the submission and other requirements.* 

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "Are architectural designs part of a site plan application? Has it always been this way?"]

[<u>Planner</u> – The regulations have long required submission of building elevations. The language was embellished here in 2013.]

J. <u>Elevation Drawings</u>. *The elevation drawings shall be prepared by an architect, landscape architect, engineer, or architectural designer (Use of an architect for larger projects is strongly encouraged), but the Planning Board may waive this requirement for smaller structures or those less prominently located, or as it deems appropriate.* 

The elevation drawings shall be prepared by a licensed architect. Where applicable, elevation drawings shall include accurately drawn abutting properties with the exact height of each building noted.

[Olshansky – Proposed language. Concern: Why not a licensed architect to aligned with our Architectural Regulations? Why are we allowing an engineer or a landscape architect to produce elevation drawings? Why weaken a requirement with a "strongly encouraged"? Haven't we learned our lesson from Pauly's? Also, from Orion we should have learned that elevation drawings should include accurately drawn to scale adjacent buildings.]

[<u>Planner</u> – The Planning Board did discuss requiring an architect to prepare the drawings (This is outside the area where the Architectural Regulations apply) but decided upon the proposed language. Does the board wish to revisit this issue per Beth's request?]

- 1. Three (3) 24" x 36" copies and fifteen (15) 11" x 17" copies of elevation drawings of each pertinent façade, drawn to scale. One 11' x 17 copy of the elevation drawings and one digital copy shall be rendered in color. Elevation drawings shall be straight on, conventionally-rendered views of each pertinent side, rather than perspective drawings, though applicants may submit supplemental perspective drawings at their option. Elevation drawings shall include the buildings only and not any other items, such as landscaping, that would distract from the clear rendering of the buildings, though applicants may provide such drawings as a supplement at their option.
- 2. A color board may be required at the option of the Planning Board showing actual color samples.

3. A material sample if required by the Planning Board, such as the type of brick that is proposed.

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "Under J. number 2. And 3. Does the planning board decide the colors now, as well as the materials?]

[<u>Planner</u> – The Planning Board does not have approval authority over colors, materials, and renderings (outside of the Core Commercial area). The purpose is to show what is planned and to give the board an opportunity to negotiate/request changes.]

- 4. Information on any proposed building illumination.
- 5. Any other items related to the architectural design as deemed necessary by the Planning Board.
- K. <u>Revised plans</u>. Whenever the applicant submits subsequent revisions/iterations of plans, the applicant shall clearly state on the plans which specific items have been changed from the prior iteration of plans.

[<u>Planner</u> – We need to review the regulations to see how to incorporate various recommendations from Todd Selig, as follows. Todd provided these in the course of the Orion project. The recommendations apply variously to the Site Plan Regulations, Zoning Ordinance, and Historic District Commission:

- Durham should evaluate its regulations to specifically require disclosure of changes from one plan set to another by the applicant.
- Measurements from one plan set to another should be undertaken in a consistent manner for easy comparison by all concerned.
- Additional measures should be developed to ensure Notices of Decision are precisely accurate and are consistent with meeting minutes.
- In addition to ensuring a consistent means of depicting measurements, the applicant should be required to list changes from one plan set to another for use by staff and the relevant land use board.
- In the future, the Town should require actual heights be obtained and included by the applicant to scale for the project site and immediately adjacent structures.
- Require the perspectives of the project from all views from public ways.

• Require that the applicant provide accurate, to scale dimensions/heights of each building within the project area and also of the immediately adjacent structures, or of other structures the board deems appropriate for its review.]

Section 2.3 Additional Application Submission Requirements, All Personal Wireless Service Facilities

- 2.3.1 General Filing Requirements
  - (a) Written statement signed by the landowner and carrier that the lease between the carrier and the landowner of the subject property contains a provision that the landowner or carrier can enter into leases with other carriers for co-location.
  - (b) A written and signed statement from the landowner and applicant that he/she agrees that the Town may enter the subject property to obtain RFR measurements, to ensure conformance with the FCC Guidelines, and to obtain noise measurements, all at the expense of the applicant, but not necessarily accompanied by, the applicant and/or landowner.
- 2.3.2 Location Plan Filing Requirements
  - (a) A town-wide map showing the other existing personal wireless service facilities in the Town and outside the Town within one (1) mile of its corporate limits.
  - (b) A town-wide map that shows all existing and reasonably foreseen or contemplated personal wireless service facilities operated by the carrier in the Town.
  - (c) Proof by the carrier of adequate comprehensive general public liability insurance for the proposed personal wireless service facility that provides coverage for damage or injury to persons or property caused by the carrier or its facility.
- 2.3.3 Site plans for all personal wireless service facilities shall indicate:
  - (a) Outlines of all existing buildings, including their purpose (e.g., residential buildings, garages, accessory structures, etc.) on the subject property and within three hundred (300) feet from the subject property boundary on adjacent properties.
  - (b) Proposed location of antenna(s), mount(s), and equipment shelter(s).
  - (c) Proposed security barrier, indicating type and extent as well as point of controlled entry.
  - (d) The proposed lease area for the personal wireless service facility.
  - (e) Location and type of electrical and telephone service. Underground service shall be provided, unless waived by the Planning Board.

- (f) Location of all roads, public and private, on the subject property including driveways proposed to serve the personal wireless service facility and the type of surface proposed for the driveway.
- (g) Distances, at grade, from the proposed personal wireless service facility to each building shown on the site plan.
- (h) All proposed changes to the existing property, including but not limited to grading, vegetation removal, and temporary or permanent roads and driveways (to include areas disturbed by construction activities).
- Representations, dimensioned and to scale, of the proposed mount(s), antennas, equipment shelters, cable runs, parking areas and any other construction or development attendant to the personal wireless service facility.

#### Section 2.4 Additional Site Plan Submission Requirements—Ground Mounted Personal Wireless Service Facilities

Excluding the reconstruction of existing facilities, the following shall be shown on a site plan for all ground mounted personal wireless service facilities, in addition to other items required herein:

- 1) Tree cover by forest type and approximate height on the subject property and within three hundred (300) feet from the subject property boundary on adjacent properties.
- 2) Average tree canopy height within a one hundred and fifty (150) foot perimeter of the mount, security barrier, or designated clear area for access to equipment, whichever is greatest.
- 3) Any proposed landscape easement that includes the bearings and distances of the easement and general conditions of the easement.

#### Article 3. Fees

#### Section 3.1

A formal application for site plan approval shall be accompanied by an initial filing fee.

#### Section 3.2

Pursuant to RSA 676:4 I(g), it shall be the responsibility of the applicant, if the Board deems it necessary, to pay reasonable fees for special investigative studies, environmental assessments, legal review of documents, administrative expenses, and other matters which may be required to make an informed decision on a particular application.

[Olshansky - Section 3.2 Under fees, does "administrative expenses" include charging developers for the town to hire someone to oversee the project and make sure the architectural features are in compliance with the plan? If not, it should. Clearly we are not equipped to provide the necessary oversight to make sure projects are built according to the plan. How are

we going to improve our failed system? And who will pay? Does the language regarding fees need to be revised to cover these costs?]

[Planner – The Planning Board could hire an independent architect to review projects during construction, at the applicant's expense, to ensure compliance with the approved plans. This could be done only in the Core Commercial areas where the Architectural Regulations apply, or townwide, though there is no architectural review outside of the Core Commercial areas. Does the board wish to include some language to this effect?]

[Olshansky – Note 4: I concur with Robin Mower's request to make sure we have language in our Site Plan Regulations that allow us to hire an independent third-party person to review site construction plan drawings, and other matters required by the site plan application at the applicant's expense. Clearly our small staff is not able to handle the workload required by large construction projects. Many of the errors that have occurred would not have occurred had we hired a third party to keep watch as projects are being built.]

[Planner – This comment merits some discussion.]

Section 3.3

The Planning Board sets all fees related to Site Plan applications, except as otherwise provided. The application submittal fees are adopted by reference as part of these regulations.

#### Article 4. Construction Guarantee

#### Section 4.1 Financial surety

4.1.1 The applicant shall post an acceptable financial surety in an amount sufficient to ensure the completion of all roads (public or private), water service, sewage disposal, drainage, landscaping and/or any other improvements required by the Town, or as specified by the Planning Board in the Conditions of Approval. The financial surety shall be effective for a period of time specified by the Planning Board.

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "4.1.1 Financial surety – it says "shall be effective for a period of time specified by the Planning Board." Aren't there statutory time limits for sureties? (Maybe I'm thinking of Impact fees.) At any rate, should you add these words "or until the project is completed" so sureties aren't left hanging indefinitely? Maybe specify a period of 2 years?"]

[<u>Planner</u> – There are no statutory limits as far as I know for such sureties. 674:44 Site Plan Review Regulations. –

... III. The site plan review regulations which the planning board adopts shall:

...(d) Include provisions for guarantees of performance, including bonds or other security;]

[Planner – These are our standard sureties for site plans:

<u>Construction Guarantee</u>. The applicant shall post an acceptable surety to be approved by the Town Engineer (and the Town Business Manager for form and type). The surety shall be in an amount sufficient to ensure the completion of all roads, water service, sewage disposal, drainage, erosion control, and other infrastructure/improvements, and shall be effective until work is completed by the applicant. The surety may be released in phases as portions of the secured improvements are finalized. A cash deposit or letter of credit is an acceptable form.

<u>Maintenance Guarantee</u>. The applicant shall post an acceptable surety to be approved by the Town Engineer (and the Town Business Manager for form and type) to guarantee that all site work is installed in a correct and workmanlike manner. The surety shall be in an amount of two percent of the estimated site improvement costs and shall remain in effect for two years after site improvements are completed. If repairs are subsequently needed and are not satisfactorily installed by the developer, then the surety may be used to complete/install the improvements. A cash deposit or letter of credit is an acceptable form.

Landscaping Guarantee. The applicant shall post an acceptable surety to be approved by the Tree Warden/Director of Public Works (and the Town Business Manager for form and type) to guarantee the success of the landscaping materials. The guarantee shall be for a period of two years commencing from the time the certificate of occupancy is issued or installation of the landscaping materials, whichever occurs later. If replacements of any materials are subsequently needed, as reasonably determined by the Tree Warden/Director of Public Works, within this two-year period then the applicant shall promptly replace those materials (subject to weather constraints). If the applicant does not replace those materials within a reasonable period as determined by the Tree Warden/Director of Public Works then the Town may use the guarantee to pay for and install the materials. This guarantee and/or the other guarantees specified above may be combined at the discretion of the Business Manager. A cash deposit or letter of credit is an acceptable form.]

4.1.2 The financial surety shall be approved by the Town as to the form and type. The Town will accept cash, pass book savings in the Town's name, letter of credit or a construction surety bond. At its discretion, the Planning Board may require approval of the construction guarantee by the Town Attorney.

#### Section 4.2 Release of guarantee

The construction guarantee shall be released in phases, if requested by the applicant, as portions of the secured improvements or installations are final in accordance with the plan approved by the Board.

#### **Article 5. Independent Studies and Investigations**

#### Section 5.1 Additional studies

*Pursuant to RSA 673:16 II, 676:4-b, and 676:4 I(g),* the Planning Board *may reserves the right to*-require additional studies to determine the potential impact of the proposed site development.

Studies may include, but are not limited to, a(n) Traffic Impact Analysis, Fiscal Impact Analysis, and Environmental Impact Analysis. The applicant shall pay for all such studies.

#### [<u>Mower</u> - Concord requires:

SECTION 31 Special Investigative Studies – Third Party Review 31.01 General Requirements: The Planning Board is empowered under RSA 676:4, I(g) and RSA 673.16, II to request special investigative studies and to impose reasonable fees to cover its administrative expenses and the costs of third party review of impact and investigative studies, the review of documents, site and construction plan drawings, and the review of other matters which may be required by a particular site plan application. 31.02 Types of Studies: Traffic studies and water system evaluations are the most common special investigative studies for site plan applications. Other types of studies may be required including, but not limited to, sanitary sewer study, flood hazard study, noise study, nuisance lighting study, parking study, radio frequency (RF) study, wildlife study and habitat evaluation, hydrological study, fiscal impact study, historic resource study, and school impact study.]

[<u>Planner</u> – Does the board wish to embellish this provision as suggested above? At any rate, we should include the RSA's which I added above. We should probably consolidate Section 3.2 with this article.]

5.1.1 All Traffic Impact Analyses shall be presented in accordance with the "Strafford Regional Planning Commission's Guidelines for Traffic Impact Analysis 1986," incorporated into these regulations by reference, or in accordance with other best practices for a traffic impact analysis. The Planning Board reserves the right to retain the services of an outside agency for the purposes of reviewing any traffic impact analysis submitted.

[<u>Mower</u> - COMMENT: First of all, 1986 is THIRTY YEAR AGO! Second, it does not address the intent of a traffic study nor alternative transportation or other concerns that might be a rationale for requiring said study.

#### Concord requires:

SECTION 32: Traffic Impacts and Traffic Studies.

32.05 Traffic Impacts: The intent of the study will be to address peak hour traffic and safety impacts on intersections, site driveways, and road way corridors applicable to the use and locations proposed and the impact of increased traffic in residential areas, as well as identifying mitigation measures to address any adverse impacts of a proposed development on the City's transportation system and residential neighborhoods. The Board may require that alternative transportation modes such as pedestrian, bicycle, or transit be addressed as part of a traffic study, may require a travel speed study, or may require the traffic study to address the impact of increased traffic on the quality of life in residential areas. The Board, after review and comment by the Clerk and City Engineer, shall specify the extent of the required traffic improvements to mitigate the traffic, quality of life, and safety impacts of the increased traffic from the proposed application.]

## [<u>Planner</u> – This should be examined. We may also want to cross reference with Section 16.4 Traffic Impacts.]

- 5.1.2 All Fiscal Impact Analyses shall be presented in accordance with the "Strafford Regional Planning Commission's Guidelines for Fiscal Impact Analysis 1988," incorporated into these regulations by reference, or in accordance with other best practices for a fiscal impact analysis. The Planning Board reserves the right to retain the services of an outside agency for the purposes of reviewing any fiscal impact analysis submitted.
- 5.1.3 All Environmental Impact Statements shall be presented in accordance with best practices for environmental impact statements, as prescribed by the Planning Board.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Article 5 The Planning Board reserves the right to retain the services of an outside agency for the purposes of reviewing any traffic impact analysis submitted. Ok, at whose expense? I think that should be clearly stated in the text, as well as any financial limitations on such costs.]

[<u>Planner</u> – The applicant pays as stated in the opening paragraph. Should there be some limit? It would be difficult to set a dollar limit but it is understood that the Planning Board must be reasonable in what it requests.]

#### Section 5.2 Public street improvements

Wherever, in the opinion of the Board, traffic generated by a development will adversely impact existing public streets, the Board may require improvements to be made to such streets and intersections in an effort to mitigate such impacts.

#### **Article 6. Post Construction Requirements**

#### Section 6.1 Deeds

All deeds to the Town conveying land to be used for public purposes, easements, and right-ofways over property to remain in private ownership, and rights of drainage across private property shall be submitted in a form satisfactory to the Town Attorney.

#### Section 6.2 As-Built Drawings

As-built construction drawings, plans and profiles, of all on-site and off-site improvements shall be drawn at a scale of 1" to 20', including, but not limited to:

- 1) Above ground and underground Utilities (sewer lines, storm drains, water lines, electrical, phone, cable, natural gas lines, etc.)
- 2) Drainage ways, ditching, impoundments, swales, etc.
- 3) Road construction.

#### Section 6.3 Maintenance Guarantee

A financial surety to guarantee that all site work was properly done shall be posted by the applicant with the Town. Such maintenance guarantee shall be in an amount of two percent of the estimated project cost and shall remain in force for two (2) years after site improvements are completed. If such repairs are needed and are not satisfactorily installed by the developer, then such guarantee shall be used by the Town to complete and/or install such improvements.

### PART III. DEVELOPMENT STANDARDS

#### Article 1. General Standards

Section 1.1 Overview

Section 1.2 Other Regulations

#### Section 1.1 Overview

- 1.1.1 The standards contained in these regulations apply to all site plans. These standards shall be construed as minimum standards. The Planning Board, at its discretion, may require higher standards in individual cases or may waive certain requirements for good cause in accordance with the procedures outlined in these regulations.
- 1.1.2 In addition to these standards, the Planning Board may stipulate any appropriate special measures to eliminate or mitigate potential adverse impacts upon abutters, neighbors, or the general public that might result from a proposed project.
- 1.1.3 A site plan application may be denied by the Planning Board if the proposal fails to meet one or more of the requirements herein.
- 1.1.4 Legally established nonconforming site conditions are considered "grandfathered" until such time as site plan review is required due to proposed changes to a property. The Planning Board shall use the nonconforming provisions in the Town of Durham Zoning Ordinance as a guide in reviewing such situations, to the extent appropriate.

As part of any site plan review, the Planning Board may require that:

- (a) nonconforming site conditions be brought into compliance; or
- (b) the extent of nonconforming site conditions be reduced; or
- (c) nonconforming site conditions be mitigated, giving due consideration both to the extent of the nonconformities and their adverse impacts and to the costs for addressing the nonconformities relative to the costs for the overall project.

#### Section 1.2 Other Regulations

- 1.2.1 The site plan shall conform to all applicable ordinances, regulations, standards, and statutes of the Town of Durham, State of New Hampshire, and United States Government, as appropriate, including, but not limited to:
  - (a) The Town of Durham Zoning Ordinance;
  - (b) Other ordinances within the Durham Town Code;

- (c) The Town of Durham Subdivision Regulations;
- (d) Specifications and/or regulations promulgated by the Town of Durham Public Works Department; and
- (e) The building and life safety codes, as adopted by the Town of Durham.
- 1.2.2 The Town of Durham Master Plan and Capital Improvement Program (CIP) are policy rather than regulatory documents, but the Planning Board may consult these documents as guides in reviewing proposed development or redevelopment.

### **Article 2. Architectural Design Standards**

Due to its size, Article 2, containing the Architectural Design Standards, is placed in an Appendix to these Site Plan Regulations. The Architectural Design Standards are part of the Site Plan Regulations and fully apply in like manner as other standards contained in the main body of these regulations.

\_\_\_\_\_

#### **Proposed:** An architect licensed in the State of New Hampshire shall prepare the drawings.

**Revise to read:** <u>A licensed architect shall design the building(s) and prepare the architectural</u> <u>drawings.</u> <u>Where applicable, elevation drawings shall include accurately drawn abutting</u> <u>properties with the exact height of each building noted.</u>

[Olshansky – proposed change in language, above.

Comment: Why licensed in the State of New Hampshire, especially when we are so close to Maine and Massachusetts? As we learned from Pauly's, pretty drawings are not enough. We need to make sure the outside of the building connects to the structural needs of the building. This revised language below would address this.]

[<u>Planner</u> – This is referring to the language in the Architectural Regulations – Appendix, which I excerpt above.]

[<u>Schlie</u> - Out of curiosity, why require drawings be prepared by a licensed architect, rather than simply clearly documenting their minimal requirements (or is the goal to dictate that otherwise unnecessary expense must be born for sole benefit of promoting a state sanctioned bureaucracy)?

Many are perfectly capable of generating drawings in satisfaction of documentation requirements, and should be allowed to do so without needing to solicit external services. However where structural safely or fitness for purpose issues may be of concern beyond the trivial, it seems reasonable to require a Professional Engineer certify the analysis, which architects are typically not qualified to do.

So unless someone wants to solicit the assistance of an architect, none should be required.]

\_\_\_\_\_

- **D**) <u>Applicability</u>. Architectural Design Review, under these regulations, is required as part of Site Plan Review as follows:
  - 1) <u>Applicability</u>. Review is required for buildings containing or intended to contain, in the case of vacant units any nonresidential use or multifamily use (as defined in

Subsection 1.01 <u>Authority</u> of these Site Plan Review Regulations to mean any building containing more than two dwelling units).

- Exterior architectural appearance. Review is required for any activity which would affect the exterior architectural appearance in any significant manner - including new construction, additions, alterations, demolitions, and relocation - <u>of any building</u> <u>situated in one of the five zoning districts which constitute the Core Commercial area</u>.
- 3) <u>Core Commercial</u>. The Core Commercial area comprises the Central Business, Church Hill, Coe's Corner, Courthouse, and Professional Office Districts.

[Olshansky - Note: Also our Architectural Regulations should apply not only in the Commercial Core but to all buildings (other than private residences) that are built along our gateways. We were lucky that the DBP had its own design requirements but other prominent locations along our gateways do not. In the recent citizen questionnaire, nearly 200 people expressed concern about preserving the character of our gateways. What is or isn't built along our gateways defines, in good measure, our community.]

[Planner – I included the pertinent excerpt from the regulations, above.]

\_\_\_\_\_

[Mower - Dear members of the Planning Board,

As you no doubt are aware, residents have expressed concern that the community has recently ended up with projects that somehow failed to meet Conditions of Approval set by our land use boards in areas that do not fall under the categories of health and safety, which are generally well covered by Town staff.

Formal Planning Board Notices of Decision include the phrase: "It is the applicant's, site contractor's, and building contractor's responsibility to follow all requirements related to this site plan approval."

The Orion project, alone, suggests that approach doesn't always work. Even though it eventually hired an architect welcomed by the community, it suffered a number of significant snafus relative to requirements established by the Historic District Commission and incorporated into formal Planning Board Conditions of Approval.

In addition, construction management relative to environmental concerns raised by the Conservation Commission, e.g., protection of trees and of the Pettee Brook, has fallen short on some projects.

Therefore, I'm writing to ask that you take action to improve the chances of avoiding such \*bad situations\* as well as to establish the grounds for enforcement measures, should they become necessary.

It would seem that the appropriate regulatory tool is the Site Plan Review Regulations. Relative to architectural elements and primary concerns of the Historic District Commission, the relevant section would be Part III, Article 2. Architectural Design Standards. Other sections of Part III. Standards should be scrutinized for their adequacy to address environmental/natural resources issues -- not always on the radar of Town staff that is stretched thin to address code compliance.

The City of Portsmouth also has experienced non-compliance with land use board conditions concerning issues other than health and safety. The City recognized that established procedures were not adequate, that bloopers were costing taxpayers, and that its residents were unhappy. Its solution was to hire a Land Use Compliance agent, who started work this past February (2015).

First, let me state that I have not asked the Council to follow suit and hire a Land Use Compliance Agent. We can nonetheless learn from the experience of Portsmouth and try to develop a solution that will work for Durham.

According to a conversation I had with Portsmouth's Planning Director, the Land Use Compliance Agent reports to the Planning Director but works closely with Planning staff who support the Historic District Commission and the Conservation Commission, as well as with the City's inspection staff. He has three responsibilities, all variants on reconciliations of plans:

-- Making sure that HDC approval matches the approval by the Planning Board (e.g., doors, windows, sidewalks are in same places); and

-- Reconciling the construction drawings with land use board approvals and the building inspector's compliance for building code; and

-- Evaluating changes made in the field, some of which are significant. For example, transformers in downtown were shown on a Planning Board-approved site plan but then EverSource said they wouldn't approve the location.

In conclusion, I hope that the Board will insert in the Site Plan Review Regulations requirements that get to the heart of the above types of conflicts.]

[<u>Planner</u> – Beth Olshansky raised concerns about the definitions of Basement and Story but I infer that she thought the definitions in the Zoning Ordinance should be changed rather than those in the Architectural Regulations.

### **Article 3. Construction Practices**

- Section 3.1 Commencement
- Section 3.2 Construction Equipment
- Section 3.3 Fire Access
- Section 3.4 Hours of Activity
- Section 3.5 Topsoil and Trees
- Section 3.6 Waste Materials
- Section 3.7 Blasting

#### Section 3.1 Commencement

No site work, grading, nor removal of vegetation (except that necessary to establish the items that follow) shall commence until limits of clearing are established; construction fencing, when appropriate, is installed; and all erosion and sedimentation control devices are installed and stabilized.

#### Section 3.2 Construction Equipment

3.2.1 Construction equipment and materials shall be stored at least 25 feet away from drainage channels, unless other suitable measures, acceptable to the Department of Public Works, are implemented. *Equipment and storage will be excluded from entering into shoreland and wetland setback areas.* 

#### [<u>Parry</u> – proposed language.]

3.3.2 If there will be any refueling or servicing of construction vehicles or equipment on site, provisions shall be made for this activity, including, as appropriate, fuel storage, secondary containment, spill clean up, and management procedures. If not otherwise addressed as part of the Site Plan Review, when applicable, a plan addressing these procedures shall be provided to the Public Works Department when site work or building construction is commenced.

#### Section 3.3 Fire Access

Access into the site for fire apparatus shall be maintained at all times during the construction process.

#### Section 3.4 Hours of activity

- 3.4.1 For any site where development activity would occur within 300 feet of any residential dwelling unit, outside construction is restricted to the following hours:
  - between 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, and
  - between 8:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m., Saturday.

[<u>Mower</u> - Comments from Bubar and Mower: This section should be amended to include a restriction on hours for "noisy" activities that would affect the quality of life of abutters, such

as was included for Orion's construction management plan: Drilling / Hammering: 9:00 a.m. 4:00 p.m.]

[<u>Planner</u> – This is the requirement for the Orion project:

Construction hours. "All outside construction activity related to the development of this site shall be restricted to the following hours:

| - Mobilization (workers on site):  | 6:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday<br>6:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Friday<br>9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Saturday |
|--|--|
| - General construction activities,<br>machinery operation, drilling,<br>and truck loading and hauling: | 7:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Monday through Thursday<br>7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Friday<br>9:00 a.m. to 6:00 p.m. Saturday |
| - Blasting, chipping of stone, and use of hoe or rock hammers:   | 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday   |

- There shall be no operation on the day of the Memorial Day Parade nor on the day of the Spring UNH Graduation.]

3.4.2 The Planning Board may modify these hours, and when they apply, as appropriate.

#### Section 3.5 Topsoil and Trees

- 3.5.1 Unless otherwise approved by the Town, all stripped topsoil from the site shall be retained, stabilized in accordance with NHDES standards, and stockpiled on site for later reuse on site, unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board.
- 3.5.2 Dead or *diseased declining* trees that pose a high risk to people or property should be removed prior to the start of construction. *Existing desirable trees and vegetated areas* to save, will be identified for protection. Trees to remove and trees to save will be identified by a certified arborist and approved by the Planning Board prior to the start of construction, and identified on planning documents.
- [<u>Parry</u> recommended language.]

#### [<u>Planner</u> – it is appropriate to require that the identifications be made by an arborist?]

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

3.5.3 For any sites one (1) acre or larger, during the development and construction process, wooded natural and non-wooded natural areas shall be managed to maintain a healthy vegetative cover to maintain the soil structure, minimize soil erosion and enhance the quality of the proposed community. In wooded natural areas, the healthy forest cover shall be retained to reduce the amount of stormwater running across the ground surface.

## [<u>Parry</u> - the intent of this paragraph is not clear – managed?, protected?, how? 1 acre is a a high threshold.]

3.5.4 Limits of clearing shall be established in the field with construction fencing, wherever natural limits are not otherwise clearly identified. Trees to be protected during clearing operations and construction shall be *protected with fencing at a distance from the tree of* 1 foot per 1 inch of tree DBH. Example: a 10" tree has a circle with a 10' radius to protect the critical root zone. The Planning Board may agree to reduce the size of this protection zone. clearly marked to caution operators. The developer shall notify the Tree Warden in advance to ensure this occurs. Impacts outside of clearing limits shall be reestablished with native species at applicant's expense.

#### [<u>Parry</u> – recommended change.]

#### Section 3.6 Waste Materials

- 3.6.1 Construction site operators shall control and properly dispose of all on-site waste, including but not limited to cut trees, stumps, debris, junk, rubbish, discarded building materials, concrete truck washout, chemicals, litter, sanitary waste and other materials. These materials shall not be buried or left on the site unless specifically approved by the Durham Department of Public Works, and where appropriate, by NHDES.
- 3.6.2 If the development site is in close proximity to a waterbody, all stockpiles, concrete washout areas, chemicals, fertilizers, hazardous materials, etc., shall be located as far from the waterbody as possible and at a minimum of 50 feet away (75 feet in the case of *a wetland setback area*).

#### [<u>Parry</u> – recommended change.]

3.6.3 Applicants shall capture recyclable materials generated during construction either for reuse by the applicant or for collection for recycling by third parties. The applicant shall document and maintain a file demonstrating its concerted recycling effort for review by the Code Enforcement Officer. Applicants shall coordinate with the Durham Department of Public Works for advice on what materials can be recycled in the local area, and for a list of firms accepting recyclables.

[<u>Humphrey</u> – "Have we always required recycling? Isn't that a decision at the discretion of the property owner/developer? "The applicant shall document and maintain a file demonstrating its concerted recycling effort for review by the Code Enforcement Officer." This seems a little much, and adds additional responsibilities to our code office. Why not simply encourage recycling.]

#### Section 3.7 Blasting

A Town of Durham Blasting Permit shall be obtained from the Durham Fire Department prior to conducting any blasting. A Blasting Permit shall be issued only after a Pre-Blast Structural

Condition Survey and Blasting Plan has been performed. All blasting activities shall be conducted following the General Procedures and Best Management Practices, below.

- 3.7.1 Pre-Blast Structural Condition Survey and Blasting Plan. A minimum of 30 days prior to conducting any blasting, the applicant shall prepare a Pre-Blast Structural Condition Survey ("Survey") and Blasting Plan and submit them to the Durham Fire Department for review and approval. The approved Blasting Plan shall be implemented accordingly. The Survey shall include pre-blast structural condition inspections of all existing structures and conditions on the site, adjacent to the site or in the vicinity of the site. The Survey shall extend to such structures or conditions as may be affected by the applicant's construction operations and the inspections shall be performed on all structures (including homes, foundations, driveways, roadbeds, swimming pools, wells and mobile homes) within a radius of 250 feet (or as otherwise specified by the Planning Board) of the anticipated blasting areas. The blasting contractor and the owner of the property being inspected shall sign all such inspections once completed. If an owner refuses to allow for the conducting of a pre-blast conditions inspection or sign a pre-blast conditions inspection form for whatever reasons the applicant shall note this on the form. The blasting contractor shall make at least three attempts to notify the owner of the need for such inspections; the last such attempt shall include a written notification by certified mail and appropriate contact information.
- 3.7.2 The applicant shall conduct a Survey for any property located within 1,000 feet of the anticipated blasting areas, if so requested in writing by the property owner at least 7 days prior to the planned start of blasting. The property owner shall pay all expenses for preparing the survey.
- 3.7.3 The pre-blast structural condition inspection shall be performed in the presence of the property owner or an owner's representative and shall consist of photographs and a written description of the interior and exterior condition of each of the structures examined. Descriptions shall locate any existing cracks, damage, or other defects and shall include such information in order to make it possible to determine the effect, if any, of the construction operations on the defect. A good-quality videotape survey with appropriate audio description of locations, conditions, and defects may be used in lieu of a written form. Copies of all inspection forms and photographs shall be submitted to the Durham Fire Department and kept for a minimum of seven (7) years on file with the Durham Fire Department (unless the documentation cannot be provided to the Fire Department for some reason).
- 3.7.4 The individual conducting the inspections shall give written notice, not less than 10 days in advance, to the owner of the property concerned and tenants of the property. The notice shall state the dates on which inspections are to be made. Copies of all notices shall be provided to the Durham Fire Chief.
- 3.7.5 General Procedure. Blasting and on-site chipping or hammering (of stone) is restricted to the hours of 9:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m. Monday through Friday. There shall be no processing of stone on site. A notice of intent to blast shall be provided at least 24 hours in advance

via signage placed in places easily accessible to the public and via other media provided by the Town (such as the Town's website and Friday Updates). The applicant is encouraged (but not required) to do all blasting during the summer when the University of New Hampshire is out of session.

- 3.7.6 The applicant shall hold a meeting with members of the neighborhood prior to starting any blasting, at an appropriate time and place determined by the applicant. The applicant shall give a minimum of three days' advance notice of said meeting. The applicant shall notify:
  - (a) all abutting property owners who were notified of the development at the outset;
  - (b) all parties whose property is located within 250 feet of any area where blasting will occur; and
  - (c) the Planning Department.
- 3.7.7 Best Management Practices for Blasting. All activities related to blasting shall be performed in accordance with the following New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES) Blasting Best Management Practices (BMPs) to prevent contamination of groundwater. These include preparing, reviewing and following an approved blasting plan; proper drilling, explosive handing and loading procedures; observing the entire blasting procedures; evaluating blasting performance; and handling and storage of blasted rock.

If the NHDES BMPs are updated subsequent to the adoption of these Site Plan Regulations, those subsequent BMPs shall become the standards.

- (a) Loading practices. The following blasthole loading practices to minimize environmental effects shall be followed:
  - (1) Drilling logs shall be maintained by the driller and communicated directly to the blaster. The logs shall indicate depths and lengths of voids, cavities, and fault zones or other weak zones encountered as well as groundwater conditions.
  - (2) Explosive products shall be managed on site so that they are used in the borehole, returned to the delivery vehicle or placed in secure containers for off-site disposal.
  - (3) Spillage around the borehole shall either be placed in the borehole or cleaned up and returned to an appropriate vehicle for handling or placement in secured containers for offsite disposal.
  - (4) Loaded explosives shall be detonated as soon as possible and shall not be left in the blastholes overnight, unless weather or other safety concerns reasonably

dictate that detonation should be postponed. In the event that detonation must be delayed, reasonable security measures shall be maintained.

- (5) Loading equipment shall be cleaned in an area where wastewater can be properly contained and handled in a manner that prevents release of contaminants to the environment.
- (6) Explosives shall be loaded to maintain good continuity in the column load to promote complete detonation. Industry accepted loading practices for priming, stemming, decking and column rise must be attended to.
- (b) Explosive Selection. The following BMPs shall be followed to reduce the potential for groundwater contamination when explosives are used:
  - (1) Explosive products shall be selected that are appropriate for site conditions and safe blast execution.
  - (2) Explosive products shall be selected that have the appropriate water resistance for the site conditions present to minimize the potential for hazardous effect of the product upon groundwater.
- (c) Prevention of Misfires. Appropriate practices shall be developed and implemented to prevent misfires.
- (d) Muck Pile Management. Muck piles (the blasted pieces of rock) and rock piles shall be managed in a manner to reduce the potential for contamination by implementing the following measures:
  - (1) Remove the muck pile from the blast area as soon as reasonably possible.
  - (2) Manage the interaction of blasted rock piles and stormwater to prevent contamination of water supply wells or surface water.
- (e) Spill Prevention Measures and Spill Mitigation. Spill prevention and spill mitigation measures shall be implemented to prevent the release of fuel and other related regulated substances to the environment. The measures shall include at a minimum:
  - (1) Storage of fuel and other regulated substances requirements shall include at a minimum:
    - (i) Storage on an impervious surface;
    - (ii) Secure storage areas against unauthorized entry;
    - (iii) Label regulated containers clearly and visibly;
    - (iv) Inspect storage areas weekly;
    - (v) Cover regulated containers in outside storage areas;

- (vi) Wherever possible, keep regulated containers that are stored outside more than 50 feet from surface water and storm drains, 75 feet from private wells, and 400 feet from public wells; and
- (vii) Secondary containment is required for containers containing regulated substances stored outside, except for on premise use heating fuel tanks, or aboveground or underground storage tanks otherwise regulated.
- (2) The handling of fuel and other regulated substances requirements shall include at a minimum:
  - (i) Except when in use, keep containers containing regulated substances closed and sealed;
  - (ii) Place drip pans under spigots, valves, and pumps;
  - (iii) Have spill control and containment equipment readily available in all work areas;
  - (iv) Use funnels and drip pans when transferring regulated substances; and
  - (v) Perform transfers of regulated substances over an impervious surface.
- (3) Training of on-site employees and the on-site posting of release response information describing what to do in the event of a spill of regulated substances.
- (4) Fueling and maintenance of excavation, earthmoving and other constructionrelated equipment will comply with the regulations of NHDES. [Note that these requirements are summarized in NHDES's publication WD-DWGB-22-6 "Best Management Practices for Fueling and Maintenance of Excavation and Earthmoving Equipment" or its successor document. ]
- 3.7.8 Upon completion of all earth/rock excavation and blasting work, the applicant shall conduct a post-blast condition inspection of any properties, structures, and conditions for which complaints of damage have been received or damage claims have been filed. Notice shall be given to all interested parties so they may be present during the final inspection. Records of the final inspection shall be distributed in the same manner as the original pre-blast structural condition inspection.

### **Article 4. Cultural Resources**

- Section 4.1 General Guidelines
- Section 4.2 Archaeological Resources
- Section 4.3 Cemeteries
- Section 4.4 Stone walls

#### Section 4.1 General guidelines

- 4.1.1 The applicant is encouraged to retain architecturally or historically significant buildings, structures, and resources. This includes the following resources:
  - (a) Those that are listed or determined eligible to be on the National or State Registers of Historic Places;
  - (b) Those that were constructed prior to 1930 and that in the reasonable opinion of the Planning Board possess significant architectural value due to quality and integrity of condition, overall design, detailing, materials, craftsmanship, style, or form; and
  - (c) Those that were constructed prior to 1930 and that in the reasonable opinion of the Planning Board are closely associated with the lives of persons or events <u>important</u> in the history of the Town of Durham.

#### [<u>Mower</u> – add "important"]

#### [Planner – This should be added as this is standard language]

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Make it very clear this section is "encouraged". Who determines if a building is "eligible" to be on the register of historic places? Opinions are very subjective, as to what is significant. This adds another layer to an already long process, and I'm wondering if it's statutorily allowed. You've just expanded jurisdiction beyond the historic district itself. Might want to check this out for legality.]

[<u>Planner</u> – since this is encouraged/recommended, but not required, it is legal. Should any other language be included for clarification?]

[<u>Mower</u> - QUERY: At what point must the applicant go to the HDC/Heritage Commission to confirm that these resources have been identified? Bubar and Mower noted earlier that the HDC might be willing to meet at an earlier date. Thus, we suggest: If such resources are identified, the applicant shall immediately notify the Town Planner and the Chair of the Historic District/Heritage Commission.]

[<u>Planner</u> – See 4.1.2 below]

4.1.2 The Planning Board may refer items to the Historic District/Heritage Commission for its recommendation at the next regularly scheduled meeting, but final approval of applications shall not be unduly delayed when such a recommendation is sought.

#### Section 4.2 Archaeological Resources

Where significant archaeological resources exist or are believed to exist on a site, the applicant shall mitigate the impact upon those resources, by renovating, excavating, or providing a buffer around the resource, or by other appropriate means.

#### Section 4.3 Cemeteries

4.3.1 Applicants shall comply with RSA 289:3 III, as amended. As of the date of the adoption of these Regulations, the RSA reads as follows:

"...[N]o new construction, excavation, or building shall be conducted within 25 feet of a known burial site or within 25 feet of the boundaries of an established burial ground or cemetery, whether or not such burial site or burial ground was properly recorded in the deed to the property, except when such construction, excavation, or building is necessary for the construction of an essential service, as approved by the governing body of a municipality in concurrence with the cemetery trustees, or in the case of a state highway, by the commissioner of the department of transportation in concurrence with the cemetery trustees."

[Olshansky - Cemeteries, 4.3.1: While understanding that State regulations require a 25-foot buffer between new development and burial sites, I suggest that Durham can and should do better. Twenty-five feet is a lot shorter than one would think. I suggest the PB consider requiring 50 feet (which is the distance from Mast Road to the Peak buildings). If there is a reason why this is not workable in any given case, the developer can always go to the ZBA.]

### [<u>Planner</u> – I believe the Planning Board could establish a larger buffer than the state standard if that is desirable.]

4.3.2 The applicant shall restore or renovate existing cemeteries on the subject site situated in proximity to the proposed site work, if reasonably deemed appropriate by the Planning Board. At its reasonable discretion, the Planning Board may require buffering between the development and an existing cemetery, beyond that stipulated in the RSA, above, in order to mitigate the visual impact of the development on visitors to the cemetery.

#### Section 4.4 Stone Walls

- 4.4.1 RSA 472:6 Removing or Altering Boundary Markers shall apply to stone walls situated along property boundaries.
- 4.4.2 In addition, when it is necessary to remove portions of a stone wall that is not situated along property boundaries to accommodate development, the applicant shall preserve remaining portions to the extent feasible. Applicants are encouraged to:

- (a) rebuild stone walls in an appropriate new location on site when they must be removed from the existing location;
- (b) restore and rebuild older stone walls; and
- (c) build new stone walls as and where appropriate. Appropriate locations for relocated or rebuilt stone walls may include the front property line, the edge of travel ways (provided they would not interfere with sight distance or maintenance requirements), side lot lines, the edge of the development, and open space areas.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Section 4.4 about Stone Walls new or was it already part of the site plan regs? Using words to encourage rather than "shall" might be a friendlier approach.]

[Olshansky - 4.4 Stone walls: Should the Historic District and Heritage Commission be referenced as part of the review process when making decisions about existing stone walls]?

[<u>Planner</u> – The Heritage Commission would not have approval authority but it can make recommendations on such matters, if and when appropriate.]

### Article 5 Landscaping and Screening Standards

| Section 5.1  | Purpose   |
|--------------|---|
| Section 5.2  | General Objectives  |
| Section 5.3  | General Requirements  |
| Section 5.4  | Plant Selection   |
| Section 5.5  | Planting Requirements   |
| Section 5.6  | Landscaped Areas, in General  |
| Section 5.7  | Landscaping Along Public Rights of Way                                |
| Section 5.8  | Parking Lots, Landscaping, and Screening                              |
| Section 5.9  | Screening   |
| Section 5.10 | Protection of Trees and Other Vegetation During Construction          |
| Section 5.11 | Monitoring, Maintenance, and Replacement of Landscaping and Screening |
| Section 5.12 | Irrigation  |
| Section 5.13 | Innovative Landscaping Practices                                      |
| Section 5.14 | Definitions   |
| Appendix A   | Recommended Landscaping Measures                                      |
| Appendix B   | Approved Tree Species [These lists are under development]             |

[<u>Parry</u> – Here are general comments from John Parry: "In recent years the number of large trees in Downtown Durham has declined drastically. I feel protection of larger existing trees is very important, and needs more attention. This is something many developers don't have the expertise and desire to do as we have seen from recent development, so it seems having specific requirements are important.

This does not need to be costly, and would have a high payback for the Town and owners. The high monetary value of large urban trees is not well recognized; There is a process used by Landscape appraisers to put a value on trees. Some trees in prominent places can be valued at thousands or even tens of thousands of dollars.

Studies of Real Estate values indicate one large mature healthy tree increases property value by a minimum of 1% - a \$3,000 value for a \$300,000 home.

Increased research over the past 10 years on the environmental services of trees has shown that tree cover in an urban area produces significant monetary value to the owners and the municipality in building energy savings, storm water management, increased business, improved air and water quality. For an example on this from a community in Wisconsin go to;

https://www.itreetools.org/resources/reports/WDNR Fond du Lac reports.pdf"] [Mower - TREE PROTECTION

First, I believe that Durham's proposed revision does not require adequate, deliberate planning for retention of existing trees relative to siting of structures. Stratham and Concord regulations do address these issues.

Second, unlike Durham, neither Stratham nor Concord limits the timeframe encompassing tree damage by construction activities for which an applicant is responsible for tree replacement. A timeframe may be desirable, but I am hopeful the Board will take John Parry's comments regarding health, versus death, of a tree under advisement: that is, at a two-year point, a tree may be sufficiently unhealthy -- although not dead -- to be defined as being damaged.

Durham's zoning ordinance defines damage relative to trees (see below), but I believe that the site plan regulations should be coordinated with the zoning ordinance. Of course, since landscaping standards will be removed from the zoning ordinance and contained in site plan regulations, we have an opportunity to \*make things right\* now. The site plan controls obligations of the applicant during construction and is \*front and center\* for enforcement.

#### Concord requires:

#### **SECTION 27 Landscaping and Erosion Control**

27.05 Preservation of Existing Trees: The methods for the preservation of existing trees shall be noted on the landscape plan and efforts shall be made to minimize the potential for serious damage due to wind, grade changes, and soil compaction. No construction materials, equipment, vehicles, or temporary soil deposits shall be located within the dripline of trees that are to be preserved. Protective barriers such as silt fencing or construction fencing shall be installed around each plant and/or groups of plants that are to remain on site. The applicant shall be responsible for replacing any trees proposed to be retained which have been damaged or destroyed by construction activities.

Stratham requires: 5.2 LANDSCAPE DESIGN STANDARDS D. Preservation of Existing Vegetation 1. Buildings, parking, loading docks, access roads, and other site elements shall be sited to preserve existing healthy mature vegetation and maintain natural topography to the maximum extent feasible.

2. Healthy trees with a minimum 12-inch caliper and existing wooded areas are recommended for preservation, particularly those trees located within setback areas where buildings cannot be constructed.

3. Construction activities and site alterations shall not disturb the root zone of the trees designated for preservation. During construction, the applicant shall install and maintain tree protection fencing, or other protective measures approved by the Planning Board, located 12 inches off the drip-line of the trees to be protected. All no-

cut zones shall be appropriately monumented and delineated on the site plan.

4. The applicant shall be responsible to replace any trees designated to remain, which have been damaged, killed, or removed as a result of construction activities. The Planning Board shall require replacement-in-kind, per caliper inch of deciduous trees and by height for evergreens. Two-inch caliper deciduous trees and 4-foot

tall evergreens shall be the minimum size used for replacement. For example, if a 24inch caliper deciduous tree is damaged or killed during construction, the applicant shall replace the tree with six 4-inch caliper trees, or any other combination that adds up to 24 caliper inches. A 36-foot tall evergreen,

for example shall be replaced with six 6 foot tall evergreen, or any other combination adding up to 36 feet.

Durham proposes [my new comments in brackets]:

-- 3.5.2 [should be 3.5.4] Limits of clearing shall be established in the field with construction fencing, wherever natural limits are not otherwise clearly identified. Trees to be protected during clearing operations and construction shall be clearly marked to caution operators. The developer shall notify the Tree Warden in advance to ensure this occurs. Impacts outside of clearing limits shall be reestablished with native species at applicant's expense.

-- 5.10.1 Existing landscaping, trees, and planting materials to be retained shall be protected with a snow fence or other durable method as necessary during construction to avoid damage to root zones as well as above ground vegetation. The fencing shall remain in place until the construction activity in the vicinity of the plant materials is completed.

-- 5.10.2 Pedestrian, vehicular, and other traffic shall be kept away from trees [<<please replace \*TREES\* with \*TREE DRIPLINES\*] to avoid soil

compaction. Vehicles and equipment may not be parked, and materials may not be stockpiled under the [please insert word \*TREE\*] canopy nor in close proximity [<<please define \*proximity\*] to trees during construction.

-- 5.10.3 See additional detailed recommended measures for protecting trees during construction in Appendix A.

-- Appendix A - Recommended Landscaping Measures

The following measures are recommended, but not required.

**Protection of Trees During Construction** 

The following measures are recommended.

Durham zoning ordinance

#### 175-7. Definitions.

C. The following definitions apply to landscaping and buffering provisions including the provisions of the Wetlands Conservation Overlay and Shoreland Protection Overlay Districts: DAMAGE – Includes any intentional or negligent act which will cause vegetation to decline and die within a period of five (5) years, including but not limited to such damage inflicted upon the root system by the operation of heavy machinery, the change of the natural grade above the root system or around the trunk of a tree and damages from injury or from fire inflicted on vegetation which results in or permits infection or pest infestation.

#### Section 5.1 Purpose

The purpose of landscaping and screening standards is to:

- 1) Help integrate the built environment with the natural environment;
- 2) Enhance the quality and appearance of development;
- 3) Preserve open space and natural habitats;
- 4) Control excessive stormwater runoff;
- 5) Prevent soil erosion and pollution of water bodies;
- 6) Reduce noise, wind, glare and dust;
- 7) Provide shade and windbreaks to increase energy conservation in buildings;
- 8) Establish an attractive streetscape adjacent to roadways;
- 9) Screen vehicular headlights in parking areas;
- 10) Promote public safety by guiding vehicles and pedestrians within a site;
- 11) Provide areas for snow storage;
- 12) Enhance privacy;
- 13) Enhance the health and survivability of selected landscaping materials
- 14) Protect the value of surrounding property; and
- 15) Protect and enhance the natural beauty, environment, and green space within the Town of Durham.
- 16) Increase property values

17) Preserve the character of the town by protecting the town's gateways from unnecessary visual noise.

[Olshansky - Please add one additional item: <u>17</u>) Preserve the character of our town by protecting our gateways from unnecessary visual noise. Again please keep in mind the findings from the resent citizen questionnaire regarding gateway preservation.]

#### [Planner – If the board wishes to add a provision here, how should it be worded?]

[<u>Mower</u> - As I suggested earlier, it would be good to incorporate an overall purpose such as the following from the Georgia Urban Forest Council's "Urban Forestry Five-Year Plan": Promote tree canopy and longevity at the landscape scale through the green infrastructure approach. <<u>http://www.gufc.org/about/urban-forestry-five-year-plan/></u> This concept is NOT addressed in this current draft.]

#### Section 5.2 General Objectives

Landscaping shall be provided that:

- 1) Defines areas for pedestrian and vehicular circulation;
- 2) Breaks up the mass of buildings and impervious areas;
- 3) Incorporates existing native vegetation and other natural features into the site design;
- 4) Manages and controls stormwater at its source to minimize off-site impacts;
- 5) Conserves water and reduces outside water use on the site;
- 6) Provides buffers between incompatible land uses or sites;
- 7) Softens the visual impact of architectural and structural materials;
- 8) Minimizes the introduction of pollutants to the environment.
- 9) <u>Protects gateways by requiring substantial vegetative screening where</u> <u>appropriate.</u>

[Olshansky - Please add one additional item: <u>Protect gateways by requiring substantial</u> vegetative screening where appropriate. See above.]

#### Section 5.3 General Requirements

[<u>Mower</u> - I would like to request that the Board further amend the Durham Regulations to include language similar to that below (almost verbatim to Stratham's; please see pages 21 through 30 of the attached Stratham regulations and pages)....

Somewhere in Section 5.3, add: -- Minimize lawn areas: most lawn grasses require supplemental irrigation and regular applications of fertilizer to stay green.

-- Where lawn is necessary, favor fescues and other drought-tolerant species.]

5.3.1 Areas not occupied by buildings or other structures, parking, loading, access ways, landscaping materials, natural vegetation or other natural features shall be left in their natural vegetated state where desirable or landscaped to provide visual relief from expanses of paving and buildings while providing shade and stormwater management benefits. Areas disturbed during construction that otherwise will not be occupied by one of the above structures or elements shall be replaced with a minimum of 6 inches of suitable topsoil and replanted as appropriate.

# [<u>Mower</u> – recommended language. This is important. When landscaping consists of lawn, it does not provide these other benefits. Specifying the purpose provides the Board with a benchmark for evaluating the landscape plan.]

- 5.3.2 At a minimum, all yards, setbacks, and areas of open space as required by the Zoning Ordinance shall retain existing natural features or be landscaped as required herein.
- 5.3.3 Landscaped areas shall consist of a combination of grass, flowers, vines, groundcovers, shrubs, and/or trees, as appropriate. All planting areas shall be landscaped with a combination of climate tolerant plant material and protective groundcover and bark mulch, as appropriate. No area shall be left to remain as bare soil.

#### [Mower - Should the word \*grass\* be replaced with \*lawn\* in sections 5.3.3 and 5.8.9?]

- 5.3.4 Sites shall be designed to retain and enhance the existing natural features as reasonably determined by the Planning Board.
- 5.3.5 Existing invasive plant species on the subject property shall be removed and destroyed. The Planning Board may reduce or disregard this requirement, where appropriate, based upon the location and area of invasive species relative to the area to be developed. Applicants shall refer to the current *Prohibited Invasive Plant Species List* maintained by the NH Department of Agriculture.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - 5.3.5 Again, should there be a minimum size before these regs kick in? This may add prohibitive expense to a small project making. Especially 5.3.14 requiring a landscape architect or other qualified professional to design the landscape plan.]

- 5.3.6 Existing topography shall be maintained unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board.
- 5.3.7 Plant material and landscape maintenance procedures shall incorporate water conservation techniques (i.e., xeriscaping)

- 5.3.8 All local and state requirements for yards and sight distance shall take precedence for selection and placement of landscaping features, as appropriate.
- 5.3.9 No plantings shall be placed where they may interfere with existing or proposed sewer, water, natural gas lines, or power/utility lines, or where they will inappropriately block signs or lighting.
- 5.3.10 The front yard landscaping area may contain any of the following:
  - (a) Public utility easements and open surface drainage easements that do not occupy more than thirty (30) percent of the required landscaped area. Such areas should be planted with perennials or groundcover in order to not interfere with utility connections;

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- (b) Transformers and underground utility connections, provided that they do not encroach more than five (5) feet into the required landscaped area. Such equipment shall be landscaped to soften the visual impact.
- 5.3.12 Applicants shall incorporate Low Impact Development (LID) design practices and technologies in all aspects of the site's landscaping.
- 5.3.13 <u>Zoning Ordinance</u>. Until such time that Article XXII <u>Landscaping</u>, in the Durham Zoning Ordinance, is removed from the Zoning Ordinance, wherever any provision in these regulations is inconsistent with a provision in the Zoning Ordinance, the stricter provision shall apply.
- 5.3.14 The landscaping plan shall be developed by a landscape architect or other qualified professional.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Again, should there be a minimum size before these regs kick in? This may add prohibitive expense to a small project making. Especially 5.3.14 requiring a landscape architect or other qualified professional to design the landscape plan.]

[<u>Planner</u> – I agree that this would be inappropriate for smaller projects. Should some threshold be set or should it be waived at the discretion of the Planning Board?]

Section 5.4 Plant Selection

The following standards shall apply.

5.4.1 Trees shall be selected for growing habits that are appropriate for the location, and for the intended function (privacy buffer, shade, etc.). Consideration shall be given to rooting space, crown height and canopy spread at maturity in order not to interfere with

structures, sidewalks, utility lines (above- and below-ground), signs, lights, and other elements.

5.4.2 When appropriate, soil tests shall be performed and serve as reference for plant species selection.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - 5.4.2 Soil tests for planting? I'm not a horticulture person, but won't that add a lot of costs to a project. Why not be flexible, and again, require it on larger projects rather than all projects.]

- 5.4.3 Deciduous trees, at the time of planting, shall be fully branched and have a minimum caliper of 2 inches. When trees will be used for screening, buffering, or other purposes where a larger tree is desirable, the Planning Board may stipulate a larger caliper, such as 2-1/2 to 3-1/2 inches.
- 5.4.4 Evergreen trees, at the time of planting, shall be fully branched and have a minimum height of 5 feet. When trees will be used for screening, buffering, or other purposes where a larger tree is desirable, the Planning Board may stipulate a taller tree, such as one 7 to 9 feet tall.
- 5.4.5 Shrubs, at the time of planting, shall be fully branched and have a minimum height of 2<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> feet, except for shrubs intended to be shorter or those used for ground cover.
- 5.4.6 All proposed plantings shall be appropriate for the soils, drainage, hardiness zone, climate and other conditions of the site. Particular attention shall be paid to tolerance to potential road salt and other deicing treatments.
- 5.4.7 Plant materials shall be of specimen quality conforming to the most recent version of the American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI) and be pest free. Plant materials shall be guaranteed for at least two growing seasons or two growing seasons, whichever is greater. Plant materials that die or are in poor condition during the 2-year warranty period shall be replaced.

[Olshansky - 5.4.7 Plant materials shall be of specimen quality conforming to the most recent version of the American Standards for Nursery Stock (ANSI) and be pest free. Plant materials shall be guaranteed for at least two years <u>or two growing seasons</u>, whichever is greater. <u>Plant materials that die or are in poor condition during the 2-year warranty period shall be replaced</u>. Suggested by local urban forester John Parry.]

- 5.4.8 Unless otherwise approved, trees shall be selected from the approved list of tree species, included in Appendix B Approved Tree Species.
- 5.4.9 Species on the current Prohibited or Restricted Invasive Plant Species Lists maintained by the NH Department of Agriculture shall not be planted.

5.4.10 Species shall not be planted that are a known host for an insect or disease pest of concern for the region.

#### Section 5.5 Planting Requirements

The following standards shall apply:

- 5.5.1 Planting holes for trees shall be at least two times the width of the root ball and shall be no deeper than the root ball.
- 5.5.2 Shrubs shall have a planting hole at least three times the width of the root ball and shall not be deeper than the root ball itself. Plant material shall be watered and mulched with  $2^{"}-4^{"}$  of bark mulch at time of planting.
- 5.5.3 Plant material shall be installed during appropriate planting seasons unless otherwise approved (March Mid June or Mid September December).
- 5.5.4 Trees planted in dense urban development within sidewalks, parking lots, pavement or other hardscape require special design techniques to ensure they will be healthy. Adequate drainage, irrigation, rooting space, soil volume and protection from human activity must all be considered.
- 5.5.5 For trees placed within sidewalks, porous pavers, tree box filters, or other appropriate devices shall be used to prevent excessive soil compaction, enhance stormwater management, and add interest. If tree grates are used they shall be fabricated of a strong, durable material, installed flush with grade, and provide an expandable center opening to allow for continued tree growth.
- 5.5.6 Where appropriate, tree guards shall be installed to protect the base of the tree from street activity.
- 5.5.7 Tree wells over 6 inches deep or other landscape features that have the potential to present a tripping/falling hazard to the public shall have grates, fences or other protective measures installed.

Section 5.6 Landscaped Areas, in General

- 5.6.1 Side slopes for all landscaped areas shall not exceed thirty-three and one third (33-1/3) percent (3:1 slope) and shall be appropriately stabilized with vegetation.
- 5.6.2 Landscaped areas shall be a minimum of 6 feet wide (*unless otherwise specified in these* <u>regulations</u>) or as determined appropriate by the Planning Board in order to provide adequate room for vegetative root growth and to not interfere with access to vehicles, lines of sight, and pedestrian travel. For trees with a mature height of under 30 feet, a minimum width of 4 feet is adequate.

## [<u>Planner</u> – I suggest adding this language as there may be some provisions calling for less than 6 feet.]

- 5.6.4 Landscaped areas shall consist of a combination of large and small trees, shrubs, perennial and/or annual flowers, and/or groundcover, as appropriate.
- 5.6.5 Landscaped areas shall be designed with a variety of plant species that provide seasonal variety and biodiversity, *such as:* 
  - a) no more than 10% of any species shall be planted;
  - b) no more than 20 % of any genus shall be planted; and
  - c) no more than 30 % of any family shall be planted.

[<u>Mower</u> - As noted in previous comments to the Board by Bubar and Mower: The above specifications were provided by John Parry, urban forester with the U.S. Forest Service, and reflect his professional experience of working with towns across the Northeast. The rationale for this variety is to protect plants from blight or disease and thus promote longevity. In addition, John notes that the over-use of some species may become problematic, e.g., the pear trees planted at many sites in 2014 are considered by some to be invasive. We would also remind the Board of the 1960s Dutch elm disease decimation of elm trees that had lined Main Street and graced Mill Road. With the advent of species viability challenges due to significant recent and predicted temperature and precipitation fluctuation, attention to biodiversity is increasingly important. THIS SHOULD BE A REQUIREMENT, NOT MERELY A RECOMMENDATION.]

[<u>Planner</u> – The Planning Board deliberated this before and thought it best to include it in the Appendix for recommendations, not requirements. I believe that is the right place for this provision.]

[<u>Mower</u> - The Board, Town Planner, John Parry, and I have had a bit of a tussle about including specific requirements relative to selection of plant materials to increase biodiversity. While Concord takes a slightly different approach, it DOES require -- rather than RECOMMEND -- species diversity, evidence that such a requirement is not seen as overly burdensome on either staff or applicant. I hope that the Board will now take under advisement John Parry's professional advice about specific requirements of plant selection relative to biodiversity.

#### Concord requires (see page 87):

(4) Biodiversity: Proposed trees shall be selected to encourage biological diversity. No more than twenty five (25%) percent of the trees to be planted in any development shall be of the same species. When more than 100 trees are to be planted, no single tree species shall consist of more than fifteen percent (15%) of the total planted. No more than twenty five percent (25%) of the trees to be planted shall be classified as ornamental trees, and the balance of the required trees shall be deciduous shade trees.

#### **Durham proposes:**

-- 5.6.5 Landscaped areas shall be designed with a variety of plant species that provide seasonal variety and biodiversity.

-- [definition] Biodiversity. Contraction of the term "biological diversity," as defined by the Convention on Biological Diversity, meaning the variability among living organisms from all sources including, inter alia, terrestrial, marine and other aquatic ecosystems and the ecological complexes of which they are part; thiswhich includes diversity within species, between species, and of ecosystems. With respect to these Regulations, see General Landscaping Subsection 5.6.5 for requirements to increase plant materials' resilience to pests and diseases and of ecosystems, thus, their longevity. <<<CONFLICTS WITH APPENDIX A BELOW: what is required, what is recommended?

-- Appendix A - Recommended Landscaping Measures

The following measures are recommended, but not required.

In order to provide variety and biodiversity the following mix of species is recommended:

- a) no more than 10% of any species shall be planted;
- b) no more than 20 % of any genus shall be planted; and
- c) no more than 30 % of any family shall be planted.]
- 5.6.6 Landscaping around building entrances, near parking spaces, and along pedestrian and bicycle ways shall not interfere or block lines of sight, restrict travel, or present a hazard to personal property.
- 5.6.7 Any landscaping located within the safe site distance of a driveway entryway, as defined by AASHTO standards, shall be no more than 3 feet at mature height.
- 5.6.8 Low Impact Development (LID) techniques such as raingardens, bioretention systems, tree box filters, and similar stormwater management landscaping techniques shall be incorporated into landscaped areas, as appropriate, and may replace required landscaping components as approved by the Planning Board with the goal of conserving water and achieving at minimum the following:
  - (a) Avoidance of extensive grading
  - (b) Retention of as much of the original vegetation as possible and incorporation into site design
  - (c) Control of airborne particulates such as soot and dirt
  - (d) Enhancement of the public and private streetscape
  - (e) Screening of service structures
  - (f) Relief from broad expanses of pavement and definition of pedestrian and vehicular circulation areas
  - (g) A pedestrian-friendly environment

#### Section 5.7 Landscaping Along Public Rights of Way

5.7.1 Where feasible and when required at the discretion of the Planning Board, street trees *may shall* be planted along public rights-of-way with the goal of providing a tree-lined street.

[Olshansky - 5.7.1Where feasible and when required at the discretion of the Planning Board, street trees may shall be planted along public rights-of-way with the goal of providing a treelined street. In the recent citizen questionnaire, about 2 hundred townspeople expressed support for more trees downtown.]

#### [<u>Planner</u> – This change makes sense.]

5.7.2 Trees shall be spaced at a minimum of 1 tree per 30 lineal feet (50 feet for trees with a large mature height) or as specified by the Planning Board to accommodate the mature crown spread of the tree. In most cases, deciduous trees – larger shade trees where space permits or smaller ornamental/fruit trees where space does not permit – should be used. Trees shall not interfere with buildings, overhead utilities, pedestrian travel, or access to on-street parking spaces.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

5.7.3 Landscaping strip. Along Route 4, Route 108, Route 155/Lee Road, Route 155A/Mast Road, and the Old Concord Turnpike, but not including any property located in the five core commercial zoning districts (C, CB, CC, CH, and PO), there shall be established a front landscaping strip 25 50 feet wide, extending onto the property from the front right of way/property line. The landscaping strip shall be laid out with an appropriate combination of trees, shrubs, hedges, planted berms, fences, brick or stone walls, and other landscaping elements, as determined by the Planning Board. Where the landscaping area will be wider than 25 50 feet the appropriate landscaping may be spaced across the wider area.

[Olshansky - 5.7.3 Landscaping strip. Along Route 4, Route 108, Route 155/Lee Road, Route 155A/Mast Road, and the Old Concord Turnpike, but not including any property located in the five core commercial zoning districts (C, CB, CC, CH, and PO), there shall be established a front landscaping strip-25 50 feet wide, extending onto the property from the front right of way/property line. The landscaping strip shall be laid out with an appropriate combination of trees, shrubs, hedges, planted berms, fences, brick or stone walls, and other landscaping elements, as determined by the Planning Board. Where the landscaping area will be wider than 25 50 feet the appropriate landscaping may be spaced across the wider area. Same comment regarding residents' desire for protecting our gateways. Note that the Peak landscaping strip along Mast Road is 50 feet and many people is town think it should have been greater!]

Section 5.8 Parking Lots Landscaping and Screening

[<u>Mower</u> - Did Town staff or the Board review this section relative to requirements in Article 15 Stormwater Management, as suggested by Jamie Houle in January 2015? Jamie commented: \*These guidelines are fine however only address visual aesthetics. Management of stormwater runoff as close to the source as possible should be an equal objective. This engenders multiple benefits from landscaping features]

5.8.1 The requirements of this subsection, do not apply to parking areas situated to the rear of the main building, if it is not visible from a public way, or beyond the line running even with the rear wall of the building. For smaller parking lots/areas, such as those with

fewer than 6 vehicle spaces, the Planning Board may adjust these requirements as appropriate.

- 5.8.2 All off-street parking areas shall be screened from the public right-of-way to provide substantial visual screening up to a height of 3-1/2 feet above grade, excluding sight triangles at vehicular entrances and exits. A moderately dense hedge composed predominantly of evergreen small trees or shrubs shall be planted that is reasonably expected to provide this screening within one year. Alternatively, a combination of plantings, mounds, berms, walls, and fences may be used to provide this screening. This screening will often occur in conjunction with the front landscaping strip.
- 5.8.3 Landscaping should be used to delineate vehicular and pedestrian circulation patterns within parking lots and throughout the site and to provide visual interest.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

5.8.4 Trees should be distributed throughout the parking lot as evenly as practical, in order to provide optimal canopy coverage and shading.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

#### [Parry - In some cases, may be better to plant trees in groups.]

5.8.5 A landscaping peninsula (known as an "end cap") shall be placed at the end of each parking row in line with the adjoining parking spaces, wherever the row of parking spaces is adjacent to a perpendicular travel way. Each peninsula shall be planted with one shade tree, or one ornamental tree if use of a shade tree is not practical, for lack of space for roots.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Do parking lot end caps create snow plowing problems? Might that best be a decision of the developer/owner or manager?]

[<u>Planner</u> – On larger parking lots end caps are valuable. Should there be some threshold of size where they are required?]

### [<u>Mower</u> - Jamie Houle commented in January: \*This may be at odds with other sections of this regulation and should be updated or eliminated\* Has Town staff addressed this concern?]

5.8.6 There shall be no more than four continuous parallel parking rows on the interior of the parking lot (i.e. parking rows along the perimeter of the parking lot are not situated on the interior) without installation of a landscaped median separating those parking rows from any additional parking rows. The landscaped median shall be at least 6 feet wide and shall be parallel to and run the same length as the adjacent parking rows.

## [Olshansky Concern: Is the strip 6' wide or the landscaped (soil) area? Either way, this seems too narrow for planting trees expected to actually grow. DMP is a good example of what

not to do. For a point of reference, the DMP planting areas for trees is approximately 5'x5' (some are 6'x5') and we can all attest to the fact that these trees do not grow and eventually die. Please check with John Parry for an appropriate square footage.

[Planner – The 6 feet refers to the width of the bed.]

5.8.7 Trees and shrubs used in parking lots shall be selected to avoid species that may drop significant fruit, flowers, sap, and other materials onto vehicles <u>and to be as salt-tolerant</u> <u>as necessary for the particular location.</u>

### [<u>Mower</u> - Please explain why this was not incorporated, as suggested earlier by Bubar and Mower; it seems obvious that it should be included.]

5.8.8 Selected species should be salt tolerant and able to tolerate hotter and drier conditions in expansive pavement areas.

#### [<u>Mower</u> recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

5.8.9 <u>Foundation Planting Strip</u>. There shall be a minimum <u>4 foot wide</u> foundation planting strip between the building and any parking lot or driveway situated on the front or side of the building. The foundation bed shall be planted with appropriate landscaping materials, including grass, shrubbery, flowers, and mulch, as determined by the applicant. Use of ornamental trees is encouraged where practical. Where there is a sidewalk alongside the building, the foundation planting strip may be situated on either side of the sidewalk. A continuous foundation planting strip is preferred but it need not be continuous where there are projecting building elements, such as entrances, bays, and utilities.

#### [Parry - does this conflict with 5.6.2 requiring 6'?]

[Planner – I added some suggested language to address this in 5.6.2]

[Olshansky - Foundation Planting Strip. There shall be a minimum 4 foot wide foundation planting strip between the building and any parking lot or driveway situated on the front or side of the building. Note: This should be wider. Let's green up our downtown.]

[Mower - Should the word \*grass\* be replaced with \*lawn\* in sections 5.3.3 and 5.8.9?]

- 5.8.10 A minimum of five percent (5%) of the total parking and driveway area, in addition to a buffer strip of at least ten-feet in width abutting a public right-of-way, shall be landscaped.
- 5.8.11 Parking lots shall be broken up into smaller parking areas with landscaping features and bioretention systems. The total parking area required shall be broken into sections not to exceed forty (40) spaces unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board.

5.8.12 All islands, peninsulas, and medians required in the parking areas shall be more or less evenly distributed throughout such parking areas. The distribution and location of landscaped areas may be adjusted to accommodate existing trees or other natural features so long as the total area requirement for landscaped islands, peninsulas, and medians for the respective parking area is satisfied. All landscaped islands, peninsulas, and medians shall be a minimum of nine feet in width or as necessary to provide adequate room for vegetative root growth and in order to not to interfere with access to vehicles, lines of sight, pedestrian travel, or the long-term health of the vegetation. Islands and shall be separated from the parking area by adequate curbing or tire stops. The design and use of islands for bioretention systems shall meet Low Impact Development (LID) best management practices (BMPs). Some islands shall be used to provide pedestrian walkways. All islands, peninsulas, and medians shall be depressed and may be associated with curb cuts allowing sheet flow to pond to a maximum depth of 8 inches in the median. Water quality swales or rain garden beds (if sheet flow is allowed) will be designed to promote detention time and infiltration. Soils must be designed for infiltration and evaluated for need of amendments. Overflow contingencies shall be provided and plumbed to adjacent drainage network if necessary.

[<u>Mower</u> - Query: Does this section reflect Jamie Houle's concerns that engineers be given reasonable latitude for solving site-specific stormwater management issues? Deletion and added text from Jamie Houle's comments to the Board October 28, 2014. Please address this specifically. Perhaps April Talon commented, but I have not seen the comments.]

[<u>Planner</u> – I recommend against this change. I spoke with April Talon earlier when this was presented to the board and she concurs. This would be overly prescriptive. This was discussed earlier by the Planning Board which agreed. Also, while it is beneficial to have some islands for pedestrian purposes it may not be practical for smaller lots. I recommend against requiring this in all situations.]

5.8.13 Corner clearance, as defined in Section 175-7 of the Durham zoning ordinance, shall be observed regarding all landscaping or screens.

Section 5.9 Screening

5.9.1 Where nonresidential uses and/or off-street parking facilities abut a vacant lot in a residential zone or an existing residential use, the perimeter shall be screened to provide physical and visual separation from the residential zone or use. <u>This shall also apply to development in our commercial core and along our gateways.</u>

[Olshansky - Section 5.9 Screening. Where nonresidential uses and/or off-street parking facilities abut a vacant lot in a residential zone or an existing residential use, the perimeter shall be screened to provide physical and visual separation from the residential zone or use. This shall also apply to development in our commercial core and along our gateways.]

[<u>Planner</u> – does the board wish to add this? If so, it should specify the Commercial Core zoning districts. Which gateways should it apply to and how would those areas be defined?]

- 5.9.2 Screening measures composed of trees, shrubs, berms, walls, and/or fences shall be installed to a height of 6 feet, or higher, when appropriate, as specified by the Planning Board. A wall or fence shall be placed on the exterior side of any landscaping unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board. The more attractive finished side of the fence shall face abutters, unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board.
- 5.9.3 When natural vegetation is used, it shall consist of evergreen shrubs and/or trees planted in a line to form a continuous screen that will grow to a minimum height of 6 feet within 3 years. Additional evergreen shrubs/trees may be planted in a second, staggered line to form a screen together with the first line.
- 5.9.4 All sites shall incorporate screening measures to prevent the headlights of vehicles from shining on adjoining residential areas.
- 5.9.5 All mechanical installations and equipment, solid waste collection equipment, pump stations, outdoor storage, and similar items shall be screened or softened with landscaping that is appropriate for the location.
- 5.9.6 The Planning Board may stipulate additional buffers due to unusual impacts generated, including odor, noise, glare, dirt, dust, vibration, etc.

Section 5.10 Protection of Trees and Other Vegetation During Construction

5.10.1 Existing landscaping, trees, and planting materials to be retained shall be protected with a snow fence or other durable method as necessary during construction to avoid damage to root zones as well as above ground vegetation. <u>The fencing shall be erected to protect the critical root zone (CRZ) area, as defined in the appendix.</u> The fencing shall remain in place until the construction activity in the vicinity of the plant materials is completed.

[<u>Parry</u> - Keeping and protecting larger existing trees needs to have more emphasis and stronger regulation. With each development many large trees are removed. Developers don't have the expertise or desire to protect trees. Town staff don't have the time to promote it. More specific guidelines would be very beneficial.]

5.10.2 Pedestrian, vehicular, and other traffic shall be kept away from trees No construction activity will occur within the critical root zone to avoid soil compaction and damage to the tree. This includes: Vehicles and equipment traffic and parking, stock piling of supplies, soil, stone or any building materials, changing the grade, changing the drainage, washing out equipment or tools, or disposing of any solid or liquid materials. may not be parked, and materials may not be stockpiled under the canopy nor in close proximity to trees during construction. If the full CRZ area cannot be fenced the Planning Board may reduce the size of the area; however other measures (see appendix) should be required for protection of the tree and root system.

[<u>Parry</u> – recommended language.]

- <u>5.10.2</u> Pedestrian, vehicular, and other traffic shall be kept away from <u>trees tree driplines</u> to avoid soil compaction. Vehicles and equipment may not be parked, and materials may not be stockpiled under the <u>tree</u> canopy nor in close proximity [please define \*proximity\*] to trees during construction.
- [<u>Mower</u> recommended language of same provision]
- 5.10.3 <u>See additional Additional</u> detailed recommended measures for protecting trees during construction <u>are</u> in Appendix A. <u>When appropriate the Planning Board may require</u> <u>additional protection measures.</u>
- [Parry recommended language.]
- 5.10.4 Trees on public property (or on a Municipal right of way) must be protected, if they will be impacted by construction. If these trees are damaged or cannot be protected they will be replaced with an appropriate number of trees as determined by the Planning Board. The total combined caliper of the replacement trees cannot exceed the DBH of the tree removed. Example: ten - 2" caliper trees could be required to replace one 20" DBH tree.
- [<u>Parry</u> recommended language]
- [<u>Planner</u> This merits a close look by the board]

Section 5.11 Maintenance and Replacement of Landscaping and Screening

5.11.1 The developer or property owner shall be responsible for the maintenance <u>and repair</u> repair, and replacement of all required landscaping and screening materials for two three years from the date of planting. A written, 3-year tree maintenance plan shall be submitted that includes specifications for watering, mulching, removal of guy wires/stakes (if used), pruning, and tree protection.

[<u>Parry</u> – recommended language; "conflicting time periods, should be 2 year warranty, 3 year (or longer?) term maintenance plan"; "watering of new plant material is important. Many times the plants are not watered – they survive past the warranty, but are not as healthy and large as they should be."]

[Humphrey - Requiring a 3-year written tree maintenance plan, this seems excessive.]

[Planner – Note that the surety is for 2 years and the maintenance plan is for 3 years.]

5.11.1 The developer or property owner shall be responsible for the maintenance, repair, and replacement of all required landscaping and screening materials for two three years or three growing seasons, whichever is greater, from the date of planting. A written, 3-year tree maintenance plan shall be submitted that includes specifications for watering, mulching, removal of guy wires/stakes (if used), pruning, and tree protection. Plants that appear not to be healthy at the end of the 3 year period shall be replaced and cared for

during an additional 3 years. Plantings along gateways or prominent locations downtown shall be maintained in a healthy condition in perpetuity.

[Olshansky – recommended language for the <u>same provision, above</u>. Note 1: Several of the trees planted along the Peak Path died because they never got watered.

Note 2: I would also hope that we can beef up language about the importance of saving existing tree in or adjacent to development sites. In some communities (such as Wayland, MA) every mature tree that is removed must be replaced with 5 new trees. I suspect that this provides a deterrent to removing trees unnecessarily, otherwise it is too easy to remove existing mature trees out of convenience and replace them with a spindly young tree.

Note 3: I am generally concerned about regulations relating to how much space is allotted for tree plantings in urban areas such as parking lots and along streets. I defer to John Parry, our local urban forester for recommendations on this and other items related to his area of expertise. I urge the PB to follow all of John's recommendations as we are fortunate to have him offering his expertise free of charge.]

- 5.11.2 All required plant materials (including mulched beds) shall be tended and maintained in a healthy growing condition reasonably free of weeds, replaced when necessary, and kept free of refuse and debris. All required fences and walls shall be maintained in good repair.
- 5.11.3 <u>A two-year warranty is required for all plant material.</u> The property owner shall remove dead or diseased plant materials <u>that is dead or in poor condition</u> immediately once their condition is recognized and replace them with the same type, size, and quantity of plant materials as originally installed, unless alternative plantings are approved by the Durham Tree Warden or Planning Board.

[<u>Parry</u> – recommended language]

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - We have a Tree Warden? It sounds like the tree police (think Game Warden). Maybe change the title to something a little more citizen-friendly, like Tree Expert, Tree Monitor, or Tree Advisor.]

## [<u>Planner</u> – Mike Lynch is designated the tree warden. According to him this is a standard title for this position and is referenced in the Town codes.]

5.11.4 A performance bond or letter of credit is required to ensure compliance with this section and to cover maintenance for a period of three (3) years after the time of planting.

#### Section 5.12 Irrigation

5.12.1 The need for irrigation shall be minimized to the extent practicable through use of native drought-tolerant species and the use of landscaping that does not require permanent irrigation systems, such as xeriscaping.

- 5.12.2 When irrigation is necessary to support the establishment and/or maintenance of landscaped areas, smart controllers shall be used to limit irrigation during the day and during rain events.
- 5.12.3 Where appropriate, additional water conservation features including trickle and drip lines, rain barrels, cisterns, or other water harvesting elements shall be used.
- 5.12.5 Irrigation systems shall be installed and operated in accordance with any applicable Town standards.

#### Section 5.13 Innovative Landscaping Practices

- 5.13.1 <u>Green Roofs.</u> Applicants are encouraged to use roofing materials that have a Solar Reflective Index (SRI) of at least 29 (greater for roofs with a slope of 2:12 or more) or to install vegetated roofs.
- 5.13.2 Passive heating and cooling. Applicants are encouraged to incorporate landscaping techniques that help reduce energy consumption for heating and cooling of buildings on the site. Trees should be planted to provide shade on buildings and parking lots in the warm seasons and to allow solar heat during the cool seasons.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

5.13.2 <u>Stormwater Management</u>. When planting in urban street or sidewalk areas, incorporate techniques to use landscaping to reduce stormwater, such as stormwater tree boxes, and rain gardens.

#### Section 5.14 Definitions

Note that there are special definitions sections in several sections in the Site Plan Regulations, specifically: Part I, Article 10 - <u>Definitions</u> and Part III, Article 2 – <u>Architectural Design</u> <u>Standards</u>, Article 5 – <u>Landscaping and Screening Standards</u>, Article 6 – <u>Lighting Standards</u>, and Article 16 – <u>Stormwater Management Standards</u>.

The following words and terms are oriented specifically toward landscaping. However, these words and terms may be found elsewhere in the Site Plan Regulations, and may appear in more than one place (in which case, the same definition is given in both places). Wherever these words and terms are found, they shall have the meanings given below.

**Biodiversity**. Contraction of the term "biological diversity," as defined by the Convention on Biological Diversity, which includes diversity within species, between species, and of ecosystems. With respect to these Regulations, see General Landscaping Subsection 5.6.5 for requirements to increase plant materials' resilience to pests and diseases and, thus, their longevity.

<u>**Caliper</u>**. A measurement of the tree stem diameter used for nursery stock, measured at a point 6 inches above the ground, if the resulting measurement is no more than 4 inches. If that</u>

measurement is larger than 4 inches, the desired measurement is made 12 inches above the ground.

<u>Critical root zone</u> (or root save area). The area surrounding a tree that is essential to that tree's health and survival. For a free-standing tree with no apparent root restriction, the root save area consists of a circle having a radius of one foot for each one inch <u>DBH</u> of diameter at breast height of the tree. <u>An alternative formulae, is a critical root zone circle 1<sup>1/2</sup> ft. in radius for</u> each 1 inch of DBH – at least 60% of that circle must be protected. This guideline allows some flexibility for construction activities.

#### [<u>Parry</u> – recommended language]

**Diameter at Breast Height** (DBH). The diameter of the main stem of a tree, or the combined diameters of a multi-stemmed tree, as measured 4.5 feet above the natural grade at the base.

<u>Growing season</u>. The period of time from the last frost date in spring to the first frost date in the fall.

<u>**Tree, ornamental**</u>. Broadleaved deciduous tree, often bearing recognizable fruit, that generally reaches a height of 15 to 30 feet at maturity.

<u>**Tree, shade</u>**. Broad-leaved deciduous tree that generally reaches a height of at least 30 feet at maturity.</u>

<u>**Tree Size.**</u> Small tree: mature height under 30 feet; Medium-sized tree: mature height 31 - 45 feet; Large tree: mature height over 45 feet.

**Xeriscaping**. The practice of designing landscapes to reduce or eliminate the need for irrigation. Xeriscaped landscapes need little or no water beyond what the natural climate provides.

#### Appendix A - Recommended Landscaping Measures

The following measures are recommended, but not required.

### [Humphrey - Appendix Section – Recommended, but not required, yet some of the language sounds very directive.]

Placement of underground utilities in the same trench is encouraged in order to reduce disturbance to the site.

In order to provide variety and biodiversity the following mix of species is recommended:

- a) no more than 10% of any species shall be planted;
- b) no more than 20 % of any genus shall be planted; and
- c) no more than 30 % of any family shall be planted.

#### [Planner – "Should" should probably be used here instead of "shall."]

### [<u>Mower</u> - See comment in DEFINITIONS, above; I believe this should be a requirement not a recommendation.]

Within parking lots, when appropriate, it is recommended that all islands, peninsulas, and medians be depressed and incorporate curb cuts to allow for sheet flow to pond to a maximum depth of 8" in the median. Water quality swales or rain garden beds (if sheet flow is allowed) should be designed to promote detention time and infiltration. Soils should be designed for infiltration and evaluated for need of amendments. Overflow contingencies should be provided and plumbed to adjacent drainage network if necessary.

Where appropriate, it is recommended that natural wooded or vegetated areas existing on property boundaries be preserved as a visual buffer to adjacent areas. To be an adequate buffer and maintain the area as a viable natural ecosystem, the buffer should be at least 50 feet wide, preferably wider. Larger trees on the edge of this buffer, should have root systems protected from damage

#### **Protection of Trees During Construction**

The following measures are recommended.

[<u>Mower</u> - WHY IS THIS SECTION NOT A REQUIREMENT? !!! Given the concerns and challenges we have seen throughout the construction of Madbury Commons, for example, and the extensive comments by John Parry, an urban forester who consults with municipalities across the Northeast and North Atlantic, WHY WOULD'T WE WANT TO REQUIRE THESE MEASURES?]

#### 1. Assess and Map Existing Forested Areas

Identify general areas on the ground where proposed construction will occur. Make sure that the developer also identifies areas where disturbance will occur, such as travel lanes, storage areas, etc. In those proposed construction and disturbance areas, do a general assessment to identify tree and vegetation types, size, age, and general condition. Note sensitive areas, scenic vistas,

wildlife habitat, natural or cultural features, topography, water features, etc. This information should be used in developing a conceptual plan for development, so that important features can be avoided and innovative techniques can be incorporated to avoid damage.

#### 2. <u>Tree Inventory</u>

Inventory and assess significant trees or stands of trees, such as trees with larger diameter (over 16 " DBH), desirable species, good aesthetics, good condition, wildlife value, etc. Saving trees in groups is more effective than saving individual trees scattered over a construction site.

- a. Flag trees or groups of trees which will be kept and need protection during construction. Identify those trees, and the critical rooting area needed on construction documents.
- b. Alternatively, undesirable trees should also be identified, such as declining high risk trees (as identified by a certified arborist), poor species, species intolerant of disturbance, invasives, etc. With PB approval these could be removed prior to construction to avoid conflicts.

## [<u>Humphrey</u> - Hiring a certified arborist – again, should you have a minimum sized project before requiring this additional expense?]

c. Make adjustment in the site plan to leave adequate room around the desirable trees. Plan construction of footings, pavement, underground utilities, etc. to avoid critical root areas.

#### 3. <u>Protection Techniques for Trees</u>

Most of the tree root system is in the top 20 inches of the soil, and can extend out well past the branches of the tree. Construction can damage the root system by severing roots. If too much of the tree root system is removed or damaged by construction, the tree may decline or die, resulting in the loss of benefits, and possibly creating a public hazard with larger trees that could later fail.

Soil compaction caused by equipment can also be a serious problem. This is especially true on wet soils. Compacted soils have less open pore space, and hence less space for moisture and oxygen needed to sustain tree health. Even one pass with heavy equipment can cause soil compaction.

A general rule of thumb in the protection of open grown trees is to protect a circle called the critical root zone (CRZ) around the tree. The circle radius is equal to 1 foot per 1 inch of trunk diameter for tree species that are tolerant of construction impacts and 1.5 feet per 1 inch of trunk diameter for tree species that are in-tolerant. This is more critical with older trees, than young trees that recover more easily.

Create a tree protection plan to specify how trees will be protected during construction. Techniques should include *commonly accepted professional practices, such as those described*  *in; refer to* "Best Management Practices for Protecting Trees During Construction – International Society of Arboriculture. Some techniques to consider include:

#### [<u>Parry</u> – recommended change]

- a. Install highly visible and sturdy fencing to keep equipment off of the critical rooting zone of trees identified to protect. Fencing should be installed around all wooded areas and individual trees where equipment may be present.
- b. Where construction must come close to large trees, use other techniques to protect the roots, trunk and branches such as;
  - i. Wrap the trunk in wooden snow fencing or other similar material to protect it from wounding from equipment.
  - ii. Place a heavy layer of wood chips (6") over the root zone where equipment will pass.
  - iii Use heavy timbers, vehicle mats, or steel plates over the root zone where equipment will pass.
- c. Establish and identify travel lanes, parking areas, unloading, washout and storage areas to keep vehicles, equipment and chemicals away from tree root zones.
- d. Where grading or excavation will damage roots, severing roots cleanly by hand or with power equipment (concrete saw) causes less tree damage then tearing through the root system with heavy equipment.
- e. Filling and grading should be planned so as not to change the drainage or soil moisture level in the root zone area. In changing grade, do not add more than 4 6 inches of fill soil over the critical root zone. This fill will affect the amount of moisture and oxygen reaching the root system.
- f. Prune any low hanging branches that are likely to be broken off by equipment.
- g. Conduct construction during the winter or dormant season, when stress to trees will be less, and there is less soil compaction and disturbance on frozen ground.
- h. Mulch and irrigate impacted trees as needed if construction occurs during the growing season.

#### 4. <u>Transplanting and Reforestation</u>

Where appropriate, the developer should provide an appropriate level of reforestation to replace desirable trees that are damaged or removed. *The Town should develop a list of recommended trees for planting in urban/suburban areas.* Consider transplanting smaller *desirable specimen* 

trees on the site, that may be severely damaged by construction - it may be reasonable to move trees up to 8 inches in diameter with the right methods.

#### [<u>Parry</u> – recommended change.]

#### 5. <u>Communication</u>

Communicate with all staff, sub-contractors and Town staff about the details of the tree protection plan. Erect signage at key sites and trees protection areas to raise awareness of sub-contractors.

#### 6. <u>Mitigation and Maintenance after Construction</u>

Where damage has occurred, a qualified professional (Certified Arborist) should be brought in to assess and mitigate the damage. This may include, pruning, watering, mulching, aerating or amending the soil, wound repair, etc.

#### 7. <u>Monitor and Evaluate</u>

Town staff should monitor tree protection during construction and evaluate tree health after construction. Mitigation, tree care and replacement should be required as needed.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Section 7 "Town staff should monitor tree protection during construction and evaluate tree health after construction." Who? Which staff? Code enforcement? Are we arborists?]

#### [<u>Mower</u> – change should to shall]

[<u>Mower</u> - I noticed with dismay that the proposed new Site Plan Review Regulations only recommend -- rather than require -- certain measures for the protection of trees. This flies in the face of what we know about the multiple benefits of urban greenery, lessons that our neighbor, Portsmouth, appears to have taken to heart.

I hope that you will reconsider your position about the protective measures for landscaping and alter the draft Regulations accordingly.

I'd like to bring to your attention that the City of Portsmouth maintains a \*Trees and Public Greenery Committee.\* The City takes the health of its trees seriously. (The June 10, 2015 Portsmouth meeting was attended by the Director of Public Works AND the Public General Works Foreman.)

Portsmouth's Committee considers a wide variety of topics, including requests for tree and shrub planting and removal and/or trimming, whether or not related to public utilities, \*Discussion of policy on "wild vs. groomed" areas in major city parks,\* follow-up on tree trimming, maintenance methods (e.g., using Treegators/water bags for newly planted trees) and maintaining an inventory of municipal trees, as well as addressing tree health concerns such as timing of planting relative to the ongoing drought.

To learn more about the range of topics covered, please see attached the related minutes, which were downloaded at

<http://www.cityofportsmouth.com/agendas/2015/trees/tg061015m.pdf> as well as the May 13, 2015 inutes. (The meetings are listed under \*MBR Trees and Greenery.\*)]

Appendix B – Approved Tree and Landscaping Species

[These lists are under development]

[<u>Planner</u> – I am meeting with Mike Lynch, Robbi Woodburn, and John Parry and hope to have several lists for the board by the meeting on September 23.]

#### Article 6. Lighting Standards

| Section 6.1 | Purpose     |
|-------------|-------------|
| Section 6.2 | Definitions |
| Section 6.3 | Standards   |

#### Section 6.1 Purpose

The purpose of this article is to:

- 1) Permit the use of outdoor lighting that does not exceed the minimum levels specified in IES recommended practices for night-time safety, utility, security, productivity, enjoyment, and commerce;
- 2) Minimize adverse offsite impacts of lighting such as light trespass and obtrusive light;
- 3) Curtail light pollution, reduce skyglow and improve the nighttime environment for astronomy;
- 4) Help protect the natural environment from the adverse effects of lighting from nonrenewable sources; Promote use of renewable lighting sources; and
- 5) Conserve energy and resources to the greatest extent possible.

## [<u>Humphrey</u> - Number 4) What are adverse effects of lighting from nonrenewable sources, and are they different from the adverse effect of lighting from renewable resources? Confusing meaning.]

#### [Planner – I recommend this change per Mary Ellen's comment.]

#### Section 6.2 Definitions

The following words and terms are oriented specifically toward lighting. However, these words and terms may be found elsewhere in the Site Plan Regulations, and may appear in more than one place (in which case, the same definition is given in both places). Wherever these words and terms are found, they shall have the meanings given below.

<u>**Cone of illumination**</u>. A regular conical shaped volume situated directly below, and centered upon, a light fixture. The sides of the cone radiate out from the fixture at an angle of 80 degrees from the vertical. For wall-mounted fixtures, the cone of illumination is a half cone.

**Floodlight**. A light fixture that is positioned or designed to concentrate substantial light, often in a single beam, in a direction other than directly downward.

**Footcandle**. The measure of light falling on a surface, usually the ground. One footcandle equals the amount of light generated by one candle shining on a one square foot surface one foot away.

**Full cut-off fixture**. A type of fixture as defined by the Illuminating Engineering Society of North America (IESNA). The standards are incorporated under Shielding, below.

<u>Glare</u>. Light emitted from a fixture, where the light source is not shielded, with sufficient intensity and in a direction such that it impairs a viewer's ability to see. In extreme cases it causes momentary blindness.

Light trespass. The shining of light beyond the subject property boundary.

#### Section 6.3 Standards

- 6.3.1 <u>Design</u>. Lighting plans shall be designed to enhance the attractiveness, usability, comfort, and security of a site. Plans, including the design of mounting stuctures and fixtures, shall be designed with due consideration of setting, use, architecture, landscaping, existing trees, neighboring properties, and the character of the adjacent roadway.
- 6.3.2 <u>Glare</u>. All exterior lights shall be designed, located, installed, and directed in such a manner as to not cause glare and objectionable light trespass onto neighboring roads and properties.
- 6.3.3 <u>Shielding</u>. All lights, including those placed on building walls (e.g., wall-packs), shall be fully shielded such that the light source cannot be seen directly from any point on the same horizontal plane as the light source (i.e., a "full cut-off" fixtures). No more than 10% of the total light output (as measured in lumens) from any fixture may be directed above the cone of illumination and none of the total output may be directed above the horizontal plane that is at the same height as the fixture. At its reasonable discretion, the Planning Board may require additional shielding for lights, beyond what is described herein, to protect neighboring residential properties.
- 6.3.4 <u>Maximum illuminance</u>. Horizontal illuminance on the ground shall not exceed the following: 4 footcandles in the Residential zoning districts (RA, RB, RC and Rural), 8 footcandles in the Core Commercial Districts, (C, CB, CH, CC, and PO) and 12 footcandles in the Office Districts (DBP, OR, ORLI, and MUDOR), (except for gasoline station canopies, below).
- 6.3.5 <u>Property line</u>. Horizontal illuminance at the property line may not exceed one half (½) footcandle adjacent to a residential property nor 1 footcandle adjacent to a nonresidential property. This limitation does not apply in the vicinity of driveway entrances and exits.
- 6.3.6 <u>Mounting heights</u>. Light fixtures mounted on buildings shall not be placed higher than 20 feet above the ground. Light poles shall not exceed the following heights, measured from the ground to the bottom of the light fixture:
  - (a) 15 feet in the Residential Zoning districts;

- (b) 20 feet in the Retail/Commercial Zoning Districts;
- (c) 25 feet in the Research/Industry Zoning Districts
- 6.3.7 <u>Gas station canopies</u>. Light levels directly under a gas station canopy shall not exceed 20 footcandles. Light fixtures mounted under canopies shall be recessed so that the lens cover is recessed or flush with the bottom surface (ceiling) of the canopy. There shall be no lighting attached to the sides or top of the canopy, nor may the sides or top of the canopy be illuminated.
- 6.3.8 <u>Vertical lighting</u>. Exterior lighting of buildings is allowed only with express approval of the Planning Board, with the exception of low-level, fully shielded, downcast wall pack lights. Illumination of any vertical surface, including building walls, shall not exceed 3 footcandles.
- 6.3.9 <u>Floodlighting</u>. Floodlighting is prohibited, unless a): lights are directed toward the rear of a lot and away from the road and neighboring properties, and b) the Planning Board determines that there will be no negative impact upon motorists and neighboring properties.
- 6.3.10 <u>Flashing lights</u>. Flashing, blinking, and moving lights are prohibited.
- 6.3.11 <u>Timing of lights</u>. The Planning Board may stipulate that all unnecessary lighting (i.e., lighting not used for security) be turned off outside of business hours. Use of timers, sensors, and other energy saving devices is strongly encouraged.
- 6.3.12 <u>Wiring</u>. Wiring for all lighting fixtures must be placed underground.
- 6.3.13 <u>Visibility for pedestrians</u>. Appropriate lighting shall be provided to ensure visibility and safety for people walking to or within the site in the evening.
- 6.3.14 <u>Natural areas</u>. Lighting shall be directed away from stands of trees and habitat areas in order to not to disrupt animal behavior.
- 6.3.16 <u>Abutting residential districts</u>. Lighting on nonresidential properties that abut residential properties or residential zoning districts shall be turned off when the business is not open except for minimal necessary security lighting. As part of site plan review, the Planning Board may impose stricter standards than those included in this article for such nonresidential properties, as appropriate.
- 6.3.17 Lamp specifications
  - (a) Lamp types shall be selected for optimum color rendering as measured by their color rendering index (CRI), as listed by the lamp manufacturer.
  - (b) Lamps with a color-rendering index lower than 50 are not permitted. This requirement shall not apply to decorative lighting, which may include colored lamps, such as holiday lighting.

- (c) Commercial lighting shall meet minimum IESNA illumination levels while not exceeding IESNA uniformity ratios and average illuminance recommendations.
- (d) <u>Should any outdoor light fixture, or the type of light source therein, be changed</u> <u>after the building permit has been issued an amended site plan approval shall</u> <u>be required.</u>

[<u>Mower</u> - Verbatim from Portsmouth site plan review regulations dated May 15, 2014]

[<u>Planner</u> – Such changes should be approved but it should be flexible whether it is treated as an administrative modification, a modification, or an amendment, in accordance with the Planning Board Rules of Procedure. This language should be changed accordingly.]

#### Article 7. Miscellaneous Design Standards

- Section 7.1 Building Configuration and siting
- Section 7.2 Erosion and sedimentation control
- Section 7.3 Fences and Walls
- Section 7.4 Special Flood Hazard Areas
- Section 7.5 Recreation and Open Space
- Section 7.6 Signage

#### Section 7.1 Building Configuration and Siting

- 7.1.1 Buildings shall be configured on the site in a manner to promote walkability, create a connection with each other and with the road/street providing access to the building(s), and foster a sense of harmonious open space. In many cases, but not always, this involves buildings being placed parallel or perpendicular to the road/street (except where other site constraints and objectives direct otherwise) and multiple buildings being placed parallel or perpendicular to multiple buildings being placed parallel or perpendicular to multiple buildings being placed parallel or perpendicular to one another.
- 7.1.2 Streetscapes. Buildings shall be configured and sited to enhance access to the structures and amenities on the site and views along the fronting streets.
- 7.1.3 Solar access. Siting and structure designs shall provide protection of a reasonable amount of sunlight from shade from structures and vegetation whenever feasible both to buildings within the site and to adjacent sites in order to preserve the economic value of solar radiation falling on structures, investments in solar energy systems, and the options for future uses of solar energy. Any obstructions of solar access to a registered solar energy system shall be mitigated to the maximum extent feasible during the review of any permit to construct a building, wall, fence or other structure, or part of a structure on a solar-impacting property.

#### Section 7.2 Erosion and sedimentation control

An erosion and sedimentation control plan shall be submitted for any project: a) where there will be at least 10,000 square feet of ground disturbance; or b) where any area(s) of bare ground will be exposed during the construction process such that there would be a reasonable likelihood of adverse impacts on downgradient water or land from erosion or sedimentation without specific controls.

- 7.2.1 <u>Stormwater manuals</u>. The design and implementation of erosion and sedimentation control shall be guided by the practices laid out in the following manuals, as appropriate:
  - (a) New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, Alteration of Terrain Program, New Hampshire Stormwater Manual, Volume 2 Post Construction Best Management Practices Selection and Design, latest version.
  - (b) New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services, Alteration of Terrain Program, New Hampshire Stormwater Manual, Volume 3 Construction Phase Erosion and Sediment Controls, latest version.

- 7.2.2 <u>Standards</u>. In addition, the following standards shall apply.
  - (a) Whenever practicable, native site vegetation shall be retained, protected, or supplemented. Any stripping of vegetation shall be done in a manner that minimizes soil erosion.
  - (b) Appropriate erosion and sediment control measures shall be installed and reviewed and approved by the Department of Public Works prior to any soil disturbance, unless other approaches are approved by the Department of Public Works.
  - (c) Measures shall be taken to control erosion within the project area. Sediment in runoff water shall be trapped and retained within the project area using approved measures. Wetland areas and surface waters shall be protected from sediment. <u>Soil</u> <u>disturbance shall be avoided within established buffers.</u>

#### [<u>Humphrey</u> - (c) and (f) Redundant language] [<u>Planner</u> – language revised per Mary Ellen's comment.]

- (d) All temporary erosion and sediment control measures shall be removed after final site stabilization. Trapped sediment and other disturbed soil areas resulting from the removal of these temporary measures shall be permanently stabilized, including seeding of disturbed soil areas, when appropriate, within 30 days unless conditions dictate otherwise.
- (e) The area of disturbance shall be kept to a minimum and be limited to an area only large enough to accommodate construction activities for a particular construction phase.
- (f) Sediment in runoff water shall be trapped and retained within the project area using approved measures. Soil disturbance shall be avoided within established buffers. Wetland areas and surface waters shall be protected from sediment.

#### [<u>Planner</u> – revised per note immediately above.]

- (g) Off-site surface water and runoff from undisturbed areas shall be diverted away from disturbed areas where feasible or measures to convey stormwater through the project area without causing erosion of sediment shall be included. Integrity of downstream drainage systems shall be maintained.
- (h) Perimeter site controls shall not be placed within wetland areas, stream channels or wetland buffers.
- (i) Disturbed soil areas shall be either temporarily or permanently stabilized consistent with the NHDES Stormwater Manual Volume 3 guidelines. In areas where final grading has not occurred, temporary stabilization measures should be in place within seven (7) calendar days for exposed soil areas that are within 100

feet of a surface water body or a wetland and no more than fourteen (14) calendar days for all other areas. Permanent stabilization shall be in place within three (3) calendar days following completion of final grading of exposed soil areas.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- (j) All temporary erosion and sediment control measures shall be maintained in functioning condition until final site stabilization is accomplished. A proposed inspection schedule shall be included in the approved plans.
- (k) For construction during the winter season an erosion and sedimentation control plan and timeline shall be submitted by September 1 to the Department of Public Works.
- (1) Additional temporary stabilization for the winter season consistent with NHDES guidelines shall be in place for disturbed areas that are not permanently stabilized by October 1, or at the discretion of DPW.
- (m) Special stabilization details shall be provided with the submission for any disturbance on slopes equal to or steeper than 3:1.
- (n) <u>Sediment Basins</u>. For projects that will disturb and expose soils in areas of at least 1 acre in size, or less if stipulated by the Planning Board, a temporary sediment basin shall be provided with a minimum of 3,600 cubic feet of storage per acre of drainage area, until final stabilization of the site. In determining appropriate locations and number of sediment basin(s) needed, the operators may consider such factors as erodibility of site soils, slope lengths, available area on-site, construction period and other unique site considerations.
- (o) Use of temporary sediment basins shall avoid any additional vegetation clearing or site disturbance not otherwise needed for post-construction. Sediment basin locations must be reviewed by the Department of Public Works prior to construction and must consider the potential for offsite impacts including public safety, especially as it relates to sediment movement and/or sediment basin failure and alternative sediment controls must be used where site limitations preclude a safe design.

#### Section 7.3 Fences and Walls

- 7.3.1 The finished or "good" side of fences shall face outward, away from the subject property.
- 7.3.2 Chain link fences shall not be used: a) between the primary building and any street; b) within 20 feet of any street; or c) in any location that would be prominently visible from any street. Where chain link fences are used, they shall be covered in a dark green or black vinyl or planted with vines that will grow into the fences.
- 7.3.3 The height of fences and walls shall not exceed six (6) feet from grade unless the Planning Board agrees that a greater height is appropriate for additional screening purposes.

#### Section 7.4 Special Flood Hazard Areas:

All site plan proposals governed by these regulations having lands identified as Special Flood Hazard Areas *on the current Flood Insurance Rate Map in the "Flood Insurance Study for the County of Strafford, N.H.", together with the associated Flood Insurance Rate Maps* shall meet the following requirements:

## [<u>Planner</u> – NH Office of Energy and Planning noted that we need to make this additional change to the changes that were made earlier.]

- 7.4.1 Site Plan proposals, including their utilities and drainage, shall be located and designed to be consistent with the need to minimize flood damage.
- 7.4.2 All public utilities and facilities, such as sewer, electrical and water systems shall be located and constructed to minimize or eliminate flood damage.
- 7.4.3 Adequate drainage shall be provided to reduce exposure to flood hazards.
- 7.4.4 All site plan proposals shall include base flood elevation data.
- 7.4.5 All necessary permits have been received from those governmental agencies from which approval is required by Federal or State law, including Section 404 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. 1334.

#### Section 7.5 Recreation and Open Space

7.5.1 Recreation facilities and preservation of open space may be required as part of multi-unit residential site plans, depending on the location of the development, the scale of the development, the type of residents expected to occupy the development, and the availability of nearby public facilities.

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Should we be requiring recreation? What is the statutory authority to require this? I see there is some discretion on the part of the planning board, which is good. While it may be desirable, if it isn't statutorily allowed, we shouldn't be doing it.]

[Planner – Per the statute, 674:44 Site Plan Review Regulations

...II. The site plan review regulations which the planning board adopts may:

(a) Provide for the safe and attractive development or change or expansion of use of the site and guard against such conditions as would involve danger or injury to health, safety, or prosperity by reason of:

...(b) Provide for the harmonious and aesthetically pleasing development of the municipality and its environs.

...(c) Provide for open spaces and green spaces of adequate proportions.

...(h) Include such provisions as will tend to create conditions favorable for health, safety, convenience, and prosperity;

#### ...(i) Require innovative land use controls on lands when supported by the master plan...]

- 7.5.2 The Planning Board may stipulate construction of passive recreational structures such as benches, picnic tables, and gazebos, and/or active recreational facilities such as tot lots, playground equipment, ball fields, basketball courts, or tennis courts. Such recreational facilities and open space shall be available for use by the residents of the subject development. The Planning Board may not require public access to these facilities unless acceptable to the developer.
- 7.5.3 The Planning Board may determine the suitability of particular open space areas based upon size, shape, topography, geology, access, location, proximity to neighboring open space areas, and other pertinent factors.

#### Section 7.6 Signage

- 7.6.1 Standards for signage regarding the number, location, dimensions, and other parameters are contained in the Town of Durham Zoning Ordinance. Proposed signs (except where exempt from review) are reviewed by the Zoning Administrator to ensure compliance with the ordinance.
- 7.6.2 As part of site plan review, when new signage will be installed, the applicant shall submit proposed sign designs to the Planning Board for the opportunity to make recommendations to the applicant regarding the design, in accordance with the suggested guidelines below. When the design meets the requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, the applicant need follow any such recommendations of the Planning Board, only at his or her option. No such review of signage is required for changes to existing signage or new signage when site plan review is not involved.
- 7.6.3 <u>Suggested Sign Guidelines</u>. In order to enhance the aesthetic appeal of the community, the following approaches and types of signs are encouraged:
  - (a) Signage that is low in height and small in area;
  - (b) Signage which is non-illuminated
  - (c) Use of a dark background with light letters;
  - (d) Use of wood, metal, urethane, or other solid materials, rather than plastic;
  - (e) Use of a matte or non-reflective surface;
  - (f) Use of building-mounted signs rather than freestanding signs;
  - (g) For freestanding signs, use of two posts rather than one center pole; and
  - (h) Monument style signs (signage rising from a base connected to the ground) rather than pole signs

#### **Article 8. Natural Resources Standards**

- Section 8.1 Purpose
- Section 8.2 General Provisions
- Section 8.3 Water Quality Protection
- Section 8.4 Specific Features
- Section 8.5 Energy Conservation

#### Section 8.1 Purpose

The purpose of this section is to protect, preserve, and enhance Durham's rich and varied natural resources while accommodating appropriate growth and development by encouraging the applicant and the Planning Board to consider natural resources in the planning process.

#### Section 8.2 General Provisions

- 8.2.1 Buildings, parking areas, travel ways, and other site elements shall be located and designed in such a manner as to preserve natural resources and maintain natural topography to the extent practicable. Extensive grading and filling shall be avoided.
- 8.2.2 Development shall be directed away from valuable and fragile resources to the extent practicable.
- 8.2.3 Development shall follow the natural contours of the landscape to the extent practicable to minimize grading.
- 8.2.4 The applicant is encouraged to make special efforts to protect elements considered to have significant value, which in many cases involves creating a buffer around them.
- 8.2.5 The Planning Board may request guidance from the Conservation Commission or other knowledgeable parties in its consideration of natural resources.
- 8.2.6 The Board may require the designation of buffer strips of at least 50-feet width around surface water, wetlands, or other natural features that may be adversely affected by erosion or stormwater runoff. The Board may require a vegetative buffer to provide screening, where appropriate.
- 8.2.7 Natural features and systems shall be preserved in their natural condition, wherever practicable. Such areas include watercourses, waterbodies, floodplains, wetland areas, steep slopes, aquifer recharge areas, wildlife habitats, large or unique trees, and scenic views.
- 8.2.8 All regulated substances shall be stored, transported, disposed, or transferred in accordance with the rules for Best Management Practices for Groundwater Protection of the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES).

8.2.9 The development shall meet all applicable federal, state, and Town regulations, statutes, ordinances, and standards.

#### Section 8.3 Water Quality Protection

- 8.3.1 The proposed development shall not adversely impact either the quality or quantity of groundwater available to surrounding properties or to public water supply systems.
- 8.3.2 For any on-site water system supplying 20,000 gallons per day (gpd) or more, evidence presented by a qualified hydrologist shall be sufficient to reasonably conclude that there will be no adverse effect on other public or private groundwater sources.

#### Section 8.4 Specific Features

The elements listed below are considered to be resources worthy of protection or special care or features which, if disturbed, could cause hazards to the environment, health, safety, or property. These elements should be preserved, if practicable, and enhanced, where appropriate, or special design solutions should be incorporated to mitigate impacts or protect against hazard.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 1) Wetlands
- 2) Rivers, streams, lakes, and ponds
- 3) Aquifers, aquifer recharge areas, and groundwater
- 4) High groundwater, perched groundwater, shallow depth to ledge, poorly drained soils, and excessively well drained soils (*generally considered a sensitive feature rather* than one worthy of protection)
- 5) Flood plains
- 6) Steep slopes (i.e., those greater than 15% where there is a change in elevation of at least 4 feet)

### [<u>Mower</u> - Earlier query from Bubar and Mower: Should this coordinate with the zoning ordinance? Viz, 175-55. General Dimensional Controls:

- E. Calculation of useable area. ... The unsuitable areas shall be deducted in the following order and no geographic area shall be deducted more than once: /.../
- 5. All areas with a slope of twenty-five (25) percent or greater as identified on the HISS.
- 6. Fifty (50) percent of the area with a slope between fifteen (15) and twenty-four (24) percent as identified on the HISS.]

- 7) Exposed ledge or areas with frequent or large rock outcrops (*generally considered a* sensitive feature rather than one worthy of protection)
- 8) Large boulders
- 9) Individual specimen trees (unusually large, old, rare, or attractive trees)
- 10) Unusual, rare, threatened, or valuable tree and plant communities. Mast stands shall be preserved to the extent practicable.
- 11) Special habitats crucial to maintaining wildlife populations, e.g., deer yards and vernal pools. The current New Hampshire Wildlife Action Plan should be used as a reference in determining these possible locations. Development shall be directed away from habitat types that are rare statewide. Deer yards shall be preserved to the extent practicable.

#### [<u>Mower</u> recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

[<u>Humphrey</u> - Number 7 & 8 – Saving ledges, rock outcrops and large boulders? Perhaps break this section down to show which are resources to save and which are hazards to address and/or mitigate.

## [<u>Planner</u> – I added language after 4) and 7) per Mary Ellen's comment. Boulders may be considered a resource worthy of protection.]

#### Section 8.5 Energy Conservation

- 8.5.1 The Applicant shall submit a completed <u>Energy Considerations Checklist</u>. Except for those items on the checklist with which compliance is required by specific regulation, such as the standards under Chapter 38 of the Town of Durham Code of Ordinances, the applicant is encouraged (but not required) to satisfy the objectives contained in the checklist. Prior to Planning Board site plan approval, the checklist must be submitted and the applicant must meet with a representative of the Durham Energy Committee and the Building Inspector. Thus, the checklist is required prior to approval, not acceptance of the application.
- 8.5.2 Buildings should be sited and developed to benefit from solar heating and passive cooling to the extent practicable. It is recognized that this goal may conflict with the provision in the <u>Architectural Standards</u>, where applicable, for buildings to be oriented toward the street, so balance should be sought.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

8.5.3 <u>Solar panels</u>. Where the applicant will be including solar panels, the Planning Board may request, in coordination with the applicant, architectural drawings to identify solar-ready zones on southern-exposure portions of the roofs of each building (See definition in Part I). These solar-ready zones are spaces that are unshaded, un-penetrated, and free of

obstructions and may thus serve as a suitable place where solar panels can be installed as part of the project or at a future date.

#### **Article 9. Operational Issues Standards**

| Section 9.1 | Hours of Operation                    |  |
|-------------|---------------------------------------|--|
| -           | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · |  |

- Section 9.2 Maintenance of the Site
- Section 9.3 Snow Storage and Removal
- Section 9.4 Solid Waste
- Section 9.5 Flammable and Combustible Liquids
- Section 9.6 Street Addressing

#### Section 9.1 Hours of Operation

The Planning Board may restrict hours of operation for businesses and other organizations as appropriate, such as for businesses that are located in close proximity to residences and that generate significant activity.

#### Section 9.2 Maintenance of the Site

The property shall be maintained in a sanitary condition, with a neat and orderly appearance, free from refuse and debris.

[<u>Mower</u> - Do our regulations currently **REQUIRE** that all multi-unit dwellings (such as those on the horizon, i.e., Golden Goose, Orion, et al) have on-site professional management 24/7? If not, where would such a requirement ''go'' -- zoning? -- and should it be added soon?]

[<u>Planner</u> – We should add a section on Management of the Property or something like that. April Talon noted: "I think it's appropriate to include language to require this but at Planning Board's discretion rather than us going around and around on development size, language, etc." Todd Selig and Chief Kurz agreed with April. I can develop some proposed language for the board based on other site plan approvals.

#### This was a condition for the Lodges:

The Property and Security Management Plan shall be submitted to include, but not limited to, the following: Rules and regulations of Peak Campus Development; 24 hour/7 day a week primary contact person to resolve security or other issues in a timely and appropriate manner; a secondary contact person in case the primary contact person is not available; all contact information updated with the Police Department, Fire Department, and Code Enforcement Department on an as-needed basis; and night time security for the site from Thursday night through Saturday night from 9 PM - 2AM. If problems persist on the property, as determined by the Police Chief, full time security will be needed 7 days a week from 8 PM - 6 AM until the problems are rectified to the satisfaction of the Police Chief.

#### This was a condition for Madbury Commons:

Property and Security Management Plan. The property management plan shall be modified to incorporate the following elements, if these are not already included in the plan. The plan may be modified by the applicant in the future with the approval of the Town Planner in consultation with the Police, Fire, Public Works, and Building Departments, as appropriate (pertinent and substantive elements of the plan as determined by the Town Planner).

- a) rules and regulations of the development;
- b) night-time security for the site from Thursday night through Saturday night, from 9:00 p.m. to 2:00 a.m. (the following morning);
- c) acknowledgement that if problems persist on the property, as reasonably determined by the Police Chief, with timely notification to the property owner, then: i) the property owner shall provide full time security 7 days a week from 8:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. until the problems are rectified, as reasonably determined by the Police Chief; or ii) an alternative corrective measure, as approved by the Police Chief, may be implemented until the problems are rectified, as reasonably determined by the Police Chief;
- d) contact information for a primary agent with authority to resolve security and other issues and who can be reached 24 hours a day/7 days a week;
- e) contact information for a secondary agent, who can address the concerns, above, if the primary agent is not available;
- f) assurance that all information will be updated with the Police, Fire, and Building Departments, as needed;
- g) permission for the Building Official to have access to the development to enforce the Durham Town Code Section 118:11 for Offensive Material (Waste Material), as needed; and
- *h*) signature and title of the party responsible for the plan and date
- *i)* provision that at least one full-time staff member and at least one courtesy officer shall reside on-site, or that there be somebody on site, or immediately available to the site, overseeing the operation, 24 hours a day, 7 days a week.
- j) The following statement: "It is understood that professional management of the site is critical and the Town of Durham expects that the ownership/management will be highly diligent in overseeing and suppressing any activity on the part of residential tenants or their visitors or any other parties on site which would be unreasonably disturbing to any of the residents or neighbors of the project, including loud parties, especially late at night, and other unruly and disturbing behavior. Owner/Manager agrees to cooperate with the Town of Durham to ensure all appropriate measures are being followed to suppress unruly or noisy behavior."

#### Section 9.3 Snow Storage and Removal

- 9.3.1 Snow shall be removed from driveways, parking areas, sidewalks, and other areas where its accumulation in the winter would impair safe and efficient use of the site. Snow shall not be pushed against trees or other vegetation. Provisions shall be made for storage of snow on site and/or removal of snow from the site when there is not sufficient space on site or when there will not be sufficient space in the event of excessive snowfall.
- 9.3.2 Snow storage areas shall be located such that no direct discharges to receiving waters are possible from the storage site. Runoff from snow storage areas shall enter treatment areas to remove suspended solids and other contaminants before being discharged to receiving waters or preferably be allowed to infiltrate into the groundwater.
- 9.3.3 Snow storage areas shall be selected to avoid:
  - (a) landscaped areas and natural vegetation, especially vegetation that is less hardy and more likely to be harmed by snow storage;
  - (b) drainage ways whose function would be impaired if blocked by snow;
  - (c) areas where spring flooding could result;
  - (d) wetlands, ponds, and streams;
  - (e) locations where vehicular or pedestrian visibility would be impaired;
  - (f) vehicular and pedestrian travel ways;
  - (g) areas where it might present a visual nuisance; and
  - (h) other sensitive locations on the site.
- 9.3.4 Snow shall not be stored where it might accumulate on, slump onto, or result in spring flooding of, adjacent properties or public ways.
- 9.3.5 Snow shall not be stored where melting could create a hazard when refreezing occurs.
- 9.3.6 Snow shall be stored in a location to provide maximum protection to downstream sites from the accumulated ice control materials and chemicals that often end up in snow storage areas.
- 9.3.7 In some cases, it may be effective to direct snow toward stormwater basins in order to avoid rapid spring runoff from snow melt, prevent sediment loading of downstream waters, and allow for the settling out of salts and other contaminants prior to leaving the site.
- 9.3.8 When appropriate, the snow storage plan should include a calculation to show there will be sufficient space for storage of snow on site. Generally, there should be 1 square foot of storage area for every 5 to 10 square feet of area to be cleared. (See *New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services Best Management Practices* for snow storage.)

[Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

#### Section 9.4 Solid Waste

The applicant shall include adequate provisions for solid waste disposal and shall comply with Chapter 118. <u>Solid Waste</u> of the <u>Town of Durham Code</u>.

#### 9.4.1 General Requirements

- (a) All waste materials shall be contained in dumpsters or other acceptable receptacles. Disposal areas shall be fully enclosed and screened from the street and from abutting properties by a fence, a wall, vegetation, or another method to a height of at least 6 feet. For dumpsters over 6 feet in height, the height of the screening device shall be at least 1 foot above the height of the dumpster.
- (b) All dumpsters shall be placed on a suitable surface. When there will be intensive usage, the dumpster shall be located on a minimum 6 inch thick concrete pad.
- (c) Special safeguards may be stipulated to minimize odors, flyaway trash, and impacts upon environmental resources.
- (d) The Planning Board may stipulate the following (or comparable) as part of a site plan approval, as appropriate: The property owner's waste management hauler's name, account number, and phone number shall be provided to the Durham Building Official/Health Officer (DHO) in order that the DHO can call and order an emergency pick up if necessary. The DHO is authorized to request this service at the applicant's expense should it be deemed necessary. The DHO is authorized to contact the waste management hauler only after first contacting the property owner and allowing the property owner to order a pick up.
- (e) The owner of a property shall insure that the contents of all waste containers are to be emptied or removed for disposal as necessary to prevent nuisance odors and public safety hazards.

#### 9.4.2 Location of Facilities

- (a) Solid waste facilities shall be strategically located in order to minimize visibility from the street; minimize visibility and the impact of odors, noise, and flyaway trash upon abutters; minimize interference with the daily operations on the site; and allow for safe and convenient access and removal without damage to sidewalks or other Town property.
- (b) Dumpster or other waste container pads shall be a minimum of 20 feet from any property line or yard.
- (c) Dumpster or other waste container pads shall be a minimum of 20 feet from any inlet for stormwater collection.
- (d) When a dumpster or other waste storage container pad is adjacent to a watercourse, a minimum landscaped area of 50 feet shall be maintained between the pad and the bank of the watercourse.

#### 9.4.3 Storage Containers

- (a) Every property shall be supplied with adequate solid, semi-liquid, and liquid waste storage containers, as appropriate. These containers shall be provided by the owner of the property, by the construction company, or by contract with a commercial hauler.
- (b) All solid waste storage containers shall be resistant to insect or animal entry. Liquid waste may only be stored in tanks designed for the particular waste type.
- (c) Containers shall be constructed with rust- and impact-resistant materials and shall be equipped with tight-fitting covers. Containers shall have an appropriate child-safe design and be securely locked to prevent unauthorized access after business hours. The property owner is responsible for maintaining containers in a neat, clean, sanitary, and leak-free condition.
- (d) All containers for regulated substances shall meet all applicable federal, state, and local standards.
- 9.4.4 <u>Recycling and Reuse</u>
  - (a) Recycling shall comply with Chapter 118. <u>Solid Waste</u> of the Town of Durham Code.
  - (b) Site plans shall include provisions for collection of recyclable materials. These provisions shall include an appropriate, dedicated physical space for recycling receptacles sized to support the planned occupant load. The site waste management plan shall require the applicant to provide supervision to ensure that occupants know and comply with Town recycling standards.
  - (c) The waste management plan shall provide for single-stream recycling *if the Town adheres to a single-stream recycling policy at the time an application is approved*.

## [<u>Mower</u> - The Town may not continue with this policy; there is some question about its efficacy and cost. Please consult with Peter Wolfe about this issue.]

#### Section 9.5 Flammable and Combustible Liquids

- 9.5.1 All flammable and combustible liquids shall be contained and stored in accordance with the National Fire Protection Association's standards and the International Fire Code.
- 9.5.2 The location of all flammable, combustible and hazardous material storage shall be provided to the Fire Department along with a copy of all required Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) prior to Fire Department approval.

#### Section 9.6 Street Addressing

9.6.1 New street addresses will be issued by the Durham Fire Department for new developments and for additions to, changes to, and redevelopment of, existing sites, when appropriate.

9.6.2 The Town may stipulate that a private driveway or travel way serving a new development be given a separate street name, where appropriate. In such cases, the applicant shall apply for a new street name and install a street sign in accordance with Town standards.

#### **Article 10. Parking and Circulation Standards**

| Section 10.1 | Required Parking                                      |
|--------------|---|
| Section 10.2 | Shared Parking and Reduction in Parking Spaces        |
| Section 10.3 | ADA Accessibility Requirements                        |
| Section 10.4 | Parking Lot Design                                    |
| Section 10.5 | General Requirements for Parking Lots and Circulation |
| Section 10.6 | Pavement Structure                                    |
| Section 10.7 | Curbing   |
| Section 10.8 | Surface materials                                     |
| Section 10.9 | Loading   |

#### Section 10.1 Required Parking

Parking shall be required as follows and shall be rounded up to the nearest whole number:

| Type of use  | Number of required parking spaces  |
|--|--|
| Residential  |  |
| Single-family duplex or multi-unit dwellings   | 2 per dwelling unit  |
| OR   |  |
| Dwelling units permitted to be occupied by 3 or more unrelated individuals                     | 1 per resident   |
| Rooming or boarding houses, fraternities,<br>sororities, dormitories, or congregate<br>housing | 1 per resident   |
| Elderly housing  | 1 per dwelling unit plus 1 per employee  |
| Homes for aged, disabled, or handicapped   | 1 per 5 beds, plus 1 per employee of the maximum shift   |
| Educational facilities   | 1 per staff member, plus 1 for 4 seats in the largest public assembly room   |
| Commercial   |  |
| Bed and breakfasts or hotels and motels  | 2 for the resident family or<br>manager, plus 1 per rental room,<br>plus 1 for each 2 outside employee<br>on the maximum shift, plus 1 per<br>400 square feet of meeting place |

| Veterinary clinics or commercial kennels  | 1 per 400 square feet of gross floor space; minimum of 4   |
|---|--|
| Auditoriums, theaters, churches, or other places of assembly with fixed seating | 1 per 4 seats or 40 square feet of gross floor area used for assembly purposes; whichever is greater   |
| Libraries, museums, and art galleries   | 1 for every 500 square feet of gross floor area.   |
| Day care  | 1 per 6 supervised children or adults, plus 1 per employee   |
| Restaurant Carry-out  | 1 space per every two (2) seats,<br>plus (1) space per each employee<br>in the maximum shift, or one (1)<br>space per fifty square feet of gross<br>floor area, plus one (1) space per<br>each employee in the maximum<br>floor shift. |
| Restaurants less than 4,000 square feet   | 1 per 100 square feet of seating<br>area, plus 1 per employee on the<br>maximum shift  |
| Restaurants over 4,000 square feet  | 40, and 1 per 200 square feet of gross floor area in excess of 4,000 square feet   |
| Banks and financial institutions  | 1 per 250 square feet of gross floor area  |
| Professional offices  | 1 per 350 square feet of gross floor area  |
| Medical and dental offices  | 1 per 250 square feet of gross floor area, plus 1 per employee   |
| Offices not providing customer service  | 1 per employee, but not fewer<br>than 1 per 400 feet of gross floor<br>area  |
| Retail or personal service stores   | 1 per 250 square feet of gross floor area  |
| Retail II (furniture, hardware or carpets)                                      | 1 space per 600 hundred square feet of gross floor area.   |
| Service stations  | 3 per service bay, plus 1 per employee   |

| Manufacturing uses, research testing and processing, assembling, all industries | 1 per 1.5 employees on a<br>maximum shift, but not less than 1<br>space for every 400 square feet of<br>gross floor area |
|---|--|
| Other Uses  | Closest similar use as shall be<br>determined by the Director of<br>Planning and Zoning Administrator.                   |

*Maximum Number Allowed.* Parking lots may contain up to ten percent (10%) more spaces than the required minimum. Any additional spaces above ten percent (10%) shall be allowed only as a conditional use upon the finding that such additional spaces are needed.

#### Section 10.2 Shared Parking and Reduction in Parking Spaces

When required parking reductions are anticipated, as a result of sharing between intermittent, seasonal, or compatible uses with non-conflicting parking demands (e.g. a church and a bank), then the reduction can be considered for approval by the Planning Board without a parking study. Individual spaces identified on a site plan for shared users shall not be shared by more than two different users.

#### **General Provisions Regarding Required Parking Spaces**

Purpose. The purpose for setting a minimum required number of on-site parking spaces is to eliminate or minimize inefficient and unsafe parking outside of designated areas, unauthorized parking on neighboring private parking lots, and disproportionate use of on-street parking spaces.

- 1. When a proposed use on an established site would require more parking spaces than the existing use, additional parking spaces shall be provided to accommodate the proposed use. If it is not practical to create additional parking spaces for the new use, the Planning Board may reduce or eliminate this requirement at its reasonable discretion.
- 2. Parking spaces, excluding employee parking, shall be on the same lot with the principal building unless arrangements have been made for shared parking on another property and approved by the Planning Board
- 3. Where multiple uses are shared within one facility or building, parking requirements shall be determined by adding the requirements for each individual use, such as for a retail sales business which also has spaces for office use and storage.
- 4. Required parking spaces shall not be used for any purposes other than vehicle parking unless specifically approved by the Planning Board.
- 5. All off-street parking shall be provided on-site unless other arrangements are

approved by the Planning Board.

- 6. While the parking table above provides the minimum number of on-site parking spaces, there shall not be created an excessive amount of parking either, in order to avoid unnecessary development and unsightly expanses of pavement. The Planning Board may limit the total amount of on-site parking spaces where it determines that an excessive amount is proposed, including, in unusual cases, stipulating a total amount less than what is specified in the subsection above.
- 7. Off-street loading spaces shall not be counted to satisfy the off-street parking requirements.

#### **Reducing the Number of Required Parking Spaces**

*Exemptions*. All permitted uses shall be exempt from the parking requirements of this chapter within the Central Business District, provided that:

- 1. A one-time parking impact fee (as set by the Town Council) is paid by the owner and/or developer for the number of spaces required less the number of on-site spaces provided. The parking impact fee shall be reviewed by the Durham Town Council on an annual basis.
- 2. The existing number of required parking spaces shall not be reduced by any proposed development unless approved as part of a property redevelopment plan by the Planning Board.
- 3. When required parking reductions are anticipated, as a result of sharing between intermittent, seasonal, or compatible uses with non-conflicting parking demands (e.g. a church and a bank), then the reduction can be considered for approval by the Planning Board without a parking study. Individual spaces identified on a site plan for shared users shall not be shared by more than one user at the same time.
- 4. If a privately owned parking facility is to serve two or more separate properties, then a "Shared Parking Agreement" shall be filed with the Town of Durham for consideration by the Planning Board. Unless explicitly stated to the contrary, the property owner of the parking facility accepts responsibility for operating, maintaining, and accepting liability for personal injury and property damage.

#### [<u>Humphrey</u> - Section 10.2 first paragraph is almost identical to number 3]

#### [Planner – Section 10.2 should be rewritten. I can present a revised draft at a future meeting.]

#### Section 10.3 ADA-Accessibility Requirements

10.3.1 All sites and parking lots shall be in compliance with the Americans With Disabilities Act of 1990, as amended (ADA). The number and design of ADA-accessible parking spaces shall conform to the N.H. Architectural Barrier Free Design Code, as prepared by the

Governor's Commission for the Handicapped and/or Title III of the deferral Americans with Disabilities Act.

- 10.3.2 Number of spaces.
  - (a) Wheelchair accessible parking spaces must be provided on sites that provide on site parking, as follows:

| Minimum<br>number of | Total number<br>of |
|----------------------|--------------------|
| accessible           | Parking            |
| spaces               | spaces             |
| 1                    | 1 to 25            |
| 2                    | 26 to 50           |
| 3                    | 51 to 75           |
| 4                    | 76 to 100          |
| 5                    | 101 to 150         |
| 6                    | 151 to 200         |
| 7                    | 201 to 300         |
| 8                    | 301 to 400         |
| 9                    | 401 to 500         |
| 2%of total           | 501 to 1,000       |

- (b) At least 1 in every 8 wheelchair accessible spaces shall be designated as van accessible, or otherwise as provided for in ADA.
- 10.3.3 Design of spaces.
  - (a) ADA-accessible parking stalls shall be at least 8 feet in width. All ADA-accessible parking spaces shall be served by an adjacent access aisle that is at least 5 feet wide for standard spaces and at least 8 feet wide for van accessible spaces. The access aisle may be shared by two adjacent spaces.
  - (b) Every wheelchair-accessible space shall be identified with appropriate pavement marking and a clearly visible vertical sign, between 5 and 8 feet in height. Signage for every van-accessible space shall indicate that the space is van accessible. Vertical "No Parking" signs shall be installed in front of each ADA-accessible parking space access aisle.
- 10.3.4 Other Requirements
  - (a) ADA-accessible parking spaces shall be located in close proximity to wheelchair accessible entrances to the building. Wherever practicable, the main entrance to the building should be wheelchair accessible.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

(b) The route from the access aisle to the nearest wheelchair accessible entrance must be paved.

- (c) The slope of wheelchair accessible parking spaces and adjoining access aisles shall not exceed 1 foot of rise per 48 feet of run.
- (d) Wheelchair ramps shall be provided, where appropriate, with a slope not exceeding 1 foot of rise per 12 feet of run.
- (e) ADA-accessible curb ramps shall be provided as necessary.
- (f) Truncated domes (textured plates) to alert visually-impaired persons shall be installed at tip downs where sidewalks meet streets, driveways, and parking lots. Truncated domes shall be constructed of cast iron or other materials acceptable under ADA.
- (g) All tip-downs on sidewalks located within any Town right-of-way shall be made of concrete.

Section 10.4 Parking Lot Design

- 10.4.1 General Requirements
  - (a) Applicants shall situate parking lots to the side and/or rear of buildings to preserve streetscapes, unless the Planning Board determines that placement at the rear or side is not practicable.
  - (b) Within the five Commercial Core Zoning Districts (C, CB, CC, CH, and PO) parking lots shall be located at the rear of principal buildings unless the Planning Board determines that placement at the rear is not practicable, in which case parking lots may be located at the side of principal buildings set back at least as far as the front of the building or 15 feet, whichever is greater.
  - (c) All parking spaces shall be designed such that they can be accessed safely from the aisles and that there is sufficient room for backing and turning for spaces situated at the end of an aisle.
  - (d) Parking areas shall be designed such that it is not necessary for vehicles to back into a public road.
  - (e) All parking spaces shall be demarcated with white or yellow traffic paint/marking of two-inch minimum line width.
  - (f) Parking areas shall have a minimum grade of 0.5% and a maximum grade of 5%.

10.4.2 Stall size

(a) The standard parking stall, located perpendicular to the traffic aisle, shall be at least 9 feet wide and 18 feet long.

- (b) Parking stalls set at an angle to the traffic aisle shall be large enough to fully contain a rectangle measuring at least 9 feet in width and 18 feet in length.
- (c) Parking stalls oriented parallel to the traffic aisle (i.e., parallel parking spaces) shall be at least 8 feet wide and 22 feet long.
- (d) A compact parking space shall be no smaller than eight by sixteen (8 x 16) feet. No more than thirty percent (30%) of the off-street parking requirement shall be met by the use of compact spaces, and all such spaces shall be suitably marked on the site as compact spaces.
- 10.4.3 Design Requirements.
  - (a) All parking areas and access driveways shall have bumper guards, curbs, or other measures, as appropriate, to define parking spaces or limits of paved areas, and to prevent vehicles from projecting into any setback, landscaping area, or other portion of a lot where parking is prohibited.
  - (b) Parking lots for ten (10) or more vehicles shall be clearly marked with properly painted lines or other method approved by the Code Enforcement Officer.

| Angle of parking stall to drive aisle | Two-way circulation:<br>Minimum aisle width | One-way circulation:<br>Minimum aisle width |
|---------------------------------------|---|---|
| 90 degrees                            | 24 feet                                     | 20 feet                                     |
| 60 degrees                            | Not Permitted                               | 18 feet                                     |
| 45 degrees                            | Not Permitted                               | 16 feet                                     |

(c) Width of Drive Aisle. The width for traffic aisles shall be as follows:

(d) One-way vs. two-way circulation. In most cases, the conventional parking layout with spaces situated perpendicular to the traffic aisle is preferred (middle column, above). However, there may be situations when a one way circulation pattern with angled parking spaces works better (right-hand column, above).

#### Section 10.5 General Requirements for Parking Lots and Circulation

- 10.5.1 Sites and parking lots shall be designed so that there is safe and efficient traffic circulation.
- 10.5.2 All travel ways shall be of sufficient width and configuration to accommodate the prospective traffic and to afford satisfactory access into, through, and out of the site for police, fire, and other emergency service vehicles.
- 10.5.3 Channelizing/stacking space shall be provided at entrances into sites, exits out of sites, and other appropriate areas.
- 10.5.4 The Planning Board may stipulate driveway and parking lot interconnection of adjoining parcels where it determines that such interconnection is practicable, will

enhance traffic movement and on-site circulation, will reduce the number of vehicles entering and exiting the street, and will not lead to undue traffic cutting through lots or create back ups of vehicles. Where an adjacent lot is vacant a stub out to the property line may be required to accommodate future connection. For shared driveways and parking lot/driveway connections cross easements shall be recorded at the Registry of Deeds.

- 10.5.5 Each site shall have full internal vehicular circulation, with access from any location on the site to any other without need to use the adjacent street system.
- 10.5.6 All driveways shall be at least 20 feet in width, except for parking aisles, as specified in the table, above, and one-way driveways, where the Planning Board determines that a narrower width is workable.
- 10.5.7 Any driveway width greater than 24 feet shall be justified based upon large traffic volumes, the need to accommodate oversized vehicles, or other considerations as determined by the Planning Board.
- 10.5.8 Curbing, striping, islands, landscaping, or other appropriate means shall be provided as needed to control and direct traffic.
- 10.5.9 Appropriate directional signage shall be provided in accordance with the current USDOT Federal Highway Administration's "Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices for Streets and Highways" ("MUTCD"). Parking spaces, stacking lanes, entry and exit drives, and direction of traffic flow shall be appropriately demarcated.
- 10.5.10 Fire lanes and emergency vehicle access into and through the site shall be provided as necessary.
- 10.5.11 The maximum slope for any driveway for any project subject to these regulations is 8 percent.
- 10.5.12 Traffic Calming. Where the Planning Board determines appropriate, special techniques shall be employed to slow traffic on a site, in order to enhance safety for drivers, pedestrians, and bicyclists.
- 10.5.13 <u>Zoning Ordinance</u>. Until such time that Article XXI <u>Off-Street Parking and Loading</u>, in the Durham Zoning Ordinance, is removed from the Zoning Ordinance, wherever any provision in these regulations is inconsistent with a provision in the Zoning Ordinance, the stricter provision shall apply.

#### Section 10.6 Pavement Structure

10.6.1 All parking areas and travel ways shall be surfaced with a hard, finished surface - asphalt, concrete, porous asphalt or concrete, interlocking pavers, paving stones, or comparable material - that will provide good protection against potholes, erosion, and dust, and will

not be subject to damage from snow plowing. However, developments that generate little parking and traffic, developments in rural or outlying areas, and low usage overflow parking areas may be finished with gravel, crushed stone and comparable materials. This exception does not apply to nonresidential uses which will generate significant traffic, multi-unit dwellings, fraternities, sororities, and rooming and boarding houses, for which a hard, finished surface shall be used.

- 10.6.2 All parking areas and travel ways that are paved with asphalt shall have a structural section with these minimum specifications, except where otherwise approved by the Planning Board with a recommendation from the Department of Public Works.
  - 1 inch top "wearing" course,
  - 2 inch base "binder" course,
  - 6 inch bank run gravel, and
  - 6 inch crushed gravel.
- 10.6.3 Loam or yielding material shall be removed to a depth of at least 21 inches below final grade and replaced with gravel. Muck shall be removed to a depth of at least 36 inches below finish grade and replaced with gravel. Given that these are privately maintained areas, the Planning Board may adjust these standards appropriately on an individual basis.

#### Section 10.7 Curbing

- 10.7.1 Curbing or other means of articulation may be required within the site to facilitate traffic circulation, direct drainage, and protect landscaping.
- 10.7.2 Curbing, including sloped curbing, shall have a 6-inch vertical reveal. Sloped curbing shall be set at a 45 degree angle unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board.
- 10.7.3 Where concrete curbing is used, it may be either cast in place or precast. It shall:
  - have a minimum strength of 2,500 psi;
  - be at least 18 inches in depth; and
  - be at least 5 inches in width.
- 10.7.4 Where asphalt (bituminous) curbing is used, a tack coat of bituminous material shall be placed on the pavement for the width of the curb before placing the curb.
- 10.7.5 Where curbing forms the edge of a sidewalk, the curb shall be vertical.
- 10.7.6 Any curbing placed within or along the street right of way shall be vertical or sloped granite curbing, as specified by the Planning Board. Placement of curbing within the street right of way may be appropriate in order to articulate turning radii at the entrance, direct stormwater, protect sidewalks, reinforce road structure, continue existing curbing, or perform other functions.

#### Section 10.8 Surface materials

- 10.8.1 Use of permeable (or "pervious" or "porous") paved surfaces is encouraged for parking areas and travel ways.
- 10.8.2 Whenever possible the applicant is encouraged to utilize alternate paving methods for parking lots, such as, but not limited to, permeable pavement, permeable concrete or grass pavers to reduce the environmental impact and drainage impacts.
- 10.8.3 When permeable pavement is used, the applicant shall: a) submit a maintenance plan; and b) erect a prominent sign in the parking lot/travel way pointing out that the pavement is permeable, salt, sand, and seal coating must not be applied, and the parking lot must be vacuumed at appropriate intervals. (For placement and design criteria, see the New Hampshire Stormwater Manual Volume 2 http://des.nh.gov/organization/divisions/water/stormwater/manual.htm and the UNH Stormwater Center http://www.unh.edu/unhsc/.)

#### Section 10.9 Loading

- 10.9.1 All nonresidential and large residential multi-unit sites shall be provided with off-street loading facilities sufficient to meet the needs of the proposed use.
- 10.9.2 Loading areas shall be located and designed to allow shipping and delivery vehicles to maneuver safely and efficiently to and from a public street, without unduly interfering with vehicular movement either on-site or on a public street.
- 10.9.3 Loading areas shall be located on the side or rear of the building and shall be screened from abutting residences. No loading space shall be located within 50 feet of a residential district boundary nor the lot line of an abutting residential use within a residential district.
- 10.9.4 A typical loading bay contains a rectangular area of at least 50 feet in length and 12 feet in width with a minimum height clearance of 14 feet above grade. Loading bays may be larger or smaller depending upon the needs of the proposed use.
- 10.9.5 All loading spaces shall be appropriately graded and surfaced. Use of a concrete pad for heavy-duty vehicles is encouraged.
- 10.9.6 While it is not preferred, designated parking spaces may also serve as loading spaces, when deemed workable by the Planning Board.

#### Article 11 Pedestrian, Bicycle, and Transit Facility Standards

Section 11.1 General Provisions

Section 11.2 Sidewalks/Pedestrian Paths

- Section 11.3 Bicycles
- Section 11.4 Transit

#### Section 11.1 General Provisions

- 11.1.1 The site plan shall provide for a system of pedestrian or bicycle paths, or a combination of both, as appropriate to the type and scale of development. This system shall connect the major building entrances and exits, parking areas and any existing or proposed sidewalks within or adjacent to the project.
- 11.1.2 Any paths shall be located within the lot lines of the site, unless it is determined by the Planning Board that it would be more appropriate to locate these in the public right of way.
- 11.1.3 The system shall be designed to link the project with residential, recreational, commercial facilities, schools, bus stops and existing bicycle or pedestrian facilities in the area. The Planning Board may stipulate off-site improvements to accomplish this objective, as appropriate, with the design of such improvements to be approved by the Planning board.
- 11.1.4 The system shall be designed to minimize conflicts among pedestrians, cyclists and drivers.
- 11.1.5 Use of permeable materials for sidewalks/pedestrian paths is encouraged, and may be required by the Planning Board, where conditions are conducive to use of permeable materials. Use of permeable pavement requires deeper excavation and thus can impact nearby tree roots. The Tree Warden or a professional arborist shall be consulted.

#### Section 11.2 Sidewalks/Pedestrian Paths

- 11.2.1 Sidewalks/pedestrian paths longer than 500 feet, or shorter if determined appropriate by the Planning Board, shall provide areas for standing and sitting and may include amenities such as benches, tables, shade trees or grassy areas.
- 11.2.2 <u>Sidewalk/pedestrian paths</u> shall connect destinations efficiently and shall not require pedestrians to travel out of their way unnecessarily.
- 11.2.3 Sidewalks shall be ADA compliant. See ADA-accessibility requirements under Article 1- Parking and Circulation Standards.
- 11.2.4 Sidewalks/pedestrian paths shall be clearly distinguished from vehicular and bicycle traffic areas through the use of paving materials, landscaping buffers, or other means.

- 11.2.5 Sites, particularly through parking lots, shall be designed to provide safe and convenient pedestrian access, including, as appropriate, sidewalks and footpaths, crosswalks, and pedestrian-oriented lighting.
- 11.2.6 Pedestrian circulation should be separated from vehicle circulation to the extent practicable or accommodated with appropriate shared use facilities that safely accommodate the most vulnerable user.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 11.2.7 A protective railing shall be installed alongside any sidewalk/pedestrian path that is adjacent to and above a slope steeper than 1:3.
- 11.2.8 Where there is a public sidewalk within the road right of way, a sidewalk shall be built on site to connect the entrance to the building to the public sidewalk.
- 11.2.9 In large parking lots with multiple aisles driving aisles shall be oriented perpendicular to the building in order to reduce the number of traffic aisles that a pedestrian must cross to reach the building.
- 11.2.10 All sidewalks/pedestrian paths shall be a minimum of 5 feet in width.
- 11.2.11 Where it is expected that there will be high vehicular and high pedestrian traffic, such as in large parking lots serving shopping centers, the Planning Board may stipulate the use of pedestrian refuge areas and traffic calming techniques such as speed tables when appropriate.
- 11.2.12 Stop signs shall be provided where vehicular travel ways intersect with sidewalks/pedestrian paths.
- 11.2.13 Sidewalks/pedestrian paths may be required to link multiple buildings on the same site and separate, adjoining sites if there is a reasonable expectation that pedestrians would travel between those sites.
- 11.2.14 Sidewalks/pedestrian paths shall be protected from parking and driving areas by curbing or other suitable methods.
- 11.2.15 The Planning Board may stipulate that a public sidewalk be constructed within the public right of way in front of the subject property, and it may stipulate that the sidewalk link with an existing or planned neighboring sidewalk.
- 11.2.16 Pedestrian crosswalks shall be distinguished by the use of durable, low maintenance surface materials such as pavers, bricks, stamped asphalt, or scored concrete to enhance pedestrian safety.

- 11.2.17 Landscaping and other elements designed to enhance the safety and comfort of pedestrian travel ways shall be incorporated as appropriate.
- 11.2.18 Except where deemed not practicable, a planting strip, measuring at least five feet in width, shall be installed between the sidewalk/pedestrian path and any paved area.
- 11.2.19When there is an existing or proposed sidewalk located in the public right of way,<br/>applicants are encouraged to widen the sidewalk onto the adjacent private lot when<br/>the public sidewalk may not be wide enough to accommodate the expect volume of<br/>pedestrians passing through. When a significant number of pedestrian traffic is<br/>generated by the subject property, the Planning Board may require that the sidewalk<br/>be expanded onto the subject property.

[<u>Planner</u> - Ann Marie Harris, a Durham resident, shared this comment with me for consideration with the Site Plan Regulations. She asked about encouraging/requiring wider sidewalks for downtown buildings when they are developed or redeveloped. It is a little tricky though because we cannot legally require a sidewalk on private property that is not related directly to the property itself, unless the applicant agrees to include it. For example, when Libby's was rebuilt the Town probably could have required a wider sidewalk in front on the property itself because it would be needed to serve Libby's. I offer this language for the board's consideration.]

11.2.20 Construction Standards for sidewalks.

- (a) Sidewalks shall be constructed of either concrete or asphalt and have the following cross sections. These standards are established for public sidewalks and thus the Planning Board may adjust these specifications, as appropriate, for sidewalks situated in private developments, including those for which permeable pavement is proposed. These standards do not apply to pedestrian paths, such as those made of stone dust, gravel, or compacted dirt, that might be constructed outside of the primary development area. (See Parking and On-Site Circulation Section about standards for curbing.)
- (b) Concrete Sidewalks
  - 4 inches of concrete
  - #8 x #8, 6 inch x 6 inch mesh
  - 2 inches of crushed gravel
  - 4 inches of bank run gravel
- (c) Concrete Sidewalks crossing travel ways
  - 6 inches of concrete
  - #8 x #8, 6 inch x 6 inch mesh
  - 4 inches of crushed gravel
  - 8 inches of bank run gravel
- (d) Asphalt Sidewalks

- 1 inch finish
- 1.5 inch binder
- 3 inches of crushed gravel
- 6 inches of bank run gravel
- (e) Asphalt Sidewalks crossing travel ways
  - 1 inch finish
  - 2 inch binder
  - 4 inches of crushed gravel
  - 12 inches of bank run gravel

#### Section 11.3 Bicycles

- 11.3.1 General
  - (a) If determined appropriate by the Planning Board, bicycle facilities (including routes and racks) may be combined with pedestrian facilities when designed according to shared path standards of AASHTO.
  - (b) Bicycle facilities shall be designed in accordance with AASHTO, "Guide for the Development of Bicycle Facilities," as amended.

#### 11.3.2 <u>Bicycle Routes</u>

Bicycle routes may be required by the Planning Board in the form of separate off-street paths or on-street marked bicycle lanes, particularly where an existing network or paths or lanes will be extended.

- 11.3.3 <u>Bicycle Storage</u>. Bicycle storage shall be provided as follows:
  - (a) Bicycle racks shall be provided for all development that provides 5 or more parking spaces or where 5 or more parking spaces would be required (and is otherwise exempted or waived).
  - (b) All bicycle racks shall be located in a convenient and secure location.
  - (c) If bicycle racks are placed near trees, trees shall be protected with tree guards to prevent the securing of bicycles to trees.
  - (d) All bicycle racks shall be designed to allow the bicycle frame and at least one wheel to be locked to the rack with a high-security, U-shaped shackle lock if both wheels are left on the bicycle. "Wave" style racks shall not be used.
  - (e) All bicycle racks shall be securely anchored to a durable, hard-paved (preferably concrete) permanent surface.
  - (f) For residential multi-unit developments which will accommodate more than 20 residents, a covered area shall be provided to protect bicycles stored overnight from the weather.

(g) For projects located in the Central Business, Church Hill, Courthouse, and Professional Office zoning districts, the applicant shall provide a total number of bicycle storage spaces equal to or exceeding 1/3 the number of parking spaces that would be required for the project or 1/3 the number of residents who will occupy the project, whichever is greater. For projects not located in one of these zoning districts, the applicant shall provide a total number of bicycle storage spaces equal to or exceeding 1/5 the number of parking spaces that would be required for the project or 1/5 the number of residents who will occupy the project, whichever is greater.

When covered bicycle storage is required per Subsection f), above, at least 1/3 the total number of required bicycle storage spaces shall be outdoor covered spaces and/or indoor spaces.

The Planning Board may adjust any of the amounts in this section upward or downward, as appropriate, based upon such factors as the site location, site characteristics and layout, the type of users and residents, the amount of vehicle parking provided, and other pertinent factors.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - Section 11.3.3 (f) and (g) Concern that we are requiring bike facilities without knowing they will actually be needed or used. What about senior housing? They may not wish to ride bikes. It's a good idea to suggest bikes and encourage this, but I'm not sure we should specify exactly how many, where they are, under cover, etc....]

#### Section 11.4 Transit

- 11.4.1 The applicant may be required to provide bus shelters, including pedestrian access to the shelters, bus turnouts, and other transit-related facilities for developments where transit services are expected to be provided.
- 11.4.2 Where appropriate for large scale developments, especially those located outside of the downtown area, the Planning Board may require applicants to arrange for adequate transit service for the development, including providing service at adequate times. In such cases, the applicant may need to coordinate/contract with the University of New Hampshire to provide the service.

## **Article 12. Personal Wireless Service Facilities Standards**

[Schlie - Then the last comment I'd have is that the newly proposed site-plan regulations do not make it clear that any modification of a previously approved wireless service, which affects the deployed technology, physical form factor or mounting location of the equipment, will be treated as a new proposal.

# This is important, as otherwise previously deployed systems are apt to iteratively creep toward what was never actually approved, contrary to the intent of the review process.]

#### Section 12.1 Submittal Requirements Related to Design

- 12.1.1 <u>Brochures</u>. Equipment brochures for the proposed personal wireless service facility such as manufacturer's specifications or trade journal reprints shall be provided for the antennas, mounts, equipment shelters, cables as well as cable runs, and security barrier, if any.
- 12.1.2 <u>Materials</u>. Materials of the proposed personal wireless service facility specified by generic type and specific treatment (e.g., anodized aluminum, stained wood, painted fiberglass, etc.). These shall be provided for the antennas, mounts, equipment shelters, cables as well as cable runs, and security barrier, if any.
- 12.1.3 <u>Colors</u>. Colors of the proposed personal wireless service facility represented by a color board showing actual colors proposed. Colors shall be provided for the antennas, mounts, equipment shelters, cables as well as cable runs, and security barrier, if any.
- 12.1.4 <u>Dimensions</u>. Dimensions of the personal wireless service facility specified for all three directions: height, width and breadth. These shall be provided for the antennas, mounts, equipment shelters and security barrier, if any.
- 12.1.5 <u>Photographs</u>. Appearance shown by at least two (2) photographic superimpositions of the personal wireless service facility within the subject property. The photographic superimpositions shall be provided for the antennas, mounts, equipment shelters, cables as well as cable runs, and security barrier, if any, and for the total height, width and breadth.
- 12.1.6 <u>Lighting</u>. If lighting of the site is proposed, the applicant shall submit a manufacturers computer-generated point-to-point printout, indicating the horizontal footcandle levels at grade, within the property to be developed and twenty-five (25) feet beyond the property lines. The printout shall indicate the locations and types of luminaires proposed.
- 12.1.7 <u>Co-location</u>. Carriers shall share personal wireless service facilities and sites where feasible and appropriate, thereby reducing the number of personal wireless service facilities that are stand-alone facilities.

- (a) All applicants for site plan review for a personal wireless service facility shall demonstrate a good faith effort to co-locate with other carriers. Such good faith effort includes contact with all the other carriers for personal wireless services operating in the Town of Durham or in adjoining or nearby jurisdictions.
- (b) If the applicant intends to co-locate or to permit co-location, drawings and studies that show the appearance and operation of the personal wireless service facility with maximum co-location shall be provided.
- (c) If the Planning Board approves co-location for a personal wireless service facility site, the site plan shall indicate how many facilities and of what type shall be permitted on that site. Facilities specified in the site plan approval shall require no further zoning approval, but shall require a Building Permit. However, the addition of any facilities not specified in the approved site plan shall require a new site plan.

#### Section 12.2 Noise Standards

The applicant shall provide a statement listing the existing and maximum future projected measurements of noise from the proposed personal wireless service facilities, measured in decibels Ldn (logarithmic scale, accounting for greater sensitivity at night). Such statement shall be certified and signed by an acoustical engineer, stating that noise measurements are accurate and meet the Noise Ordinance of the Town of Durham and such statements shall include the following:

- 1) Existing, or ambient: the measurements of existing noise.
- 2) Existing plus the proposed personal wireless service facilities: maximum estimate of noise from the proposed personal wireless service facility plus the existing noise environment.
- 3) Existing plus the proposed personal wireless service facilities plus cumulative: maximum estimate of noise from the proposed personal wireless service facility plus the maximum estimate of noise from the total addition of co-located personal wireless service facilities plus the existing noise environment.

#### Section 12.3 Radio Frequency Radiation (RFR)

The applicant shall provide a signed and stamped certificate by an RF Engineer stating that the maximum radio frequency radiation of the personal wireless service facility and the cumulative RFR of any existing personal wireless service facilities at the site will not exceed the FCC Guidelines. The FCC Guidelines shall be incorporated as part of this certification.

#### Section 12.4 Environmental Filing Requirements

12.4.1 The National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) applies to all applications for personal wireless service facilities. NEPA is administered by the FCC via procedures adopted as Subpart 1, Section 1.1301 et seq. (47 CFR Ch. I). The FCC requires that an

environmental assessment (EA) be filed with the FCC prior to beginning operations for any personal wireless service facility proposed in or involving any of the following:

- (a) Wilderness area
- (b) Wildlife preserve
- (c) Threatened or endangered species
- (d) Historical site
- (e) Native American religious site
- (f) Floodplain
- (g) Wetland
- (h) High-intensity white lights in residential neighborhoods
- (i) Excessive radio frequency radiation exposure
- 12.4.2 At the time of application filing, an EA that meets FCC requirements shall be submitted to the Town for each personal wireless service facility site that requires such an EA to be submitted to the FCC. In addition, a letter of concurrence substantiating the finding of the applicant for each of the NEPA checklist items shall be provided with the site plan application.
- 12.4.3 The applicant shall list the location, type, and amount (including trace elements) of any materials proposed for use within the personal wireless service facility that are considered hazardous by the federal, state, or county government, or by the Town of Durham.

#### Section 12.5 Structural Report for All Ground-Mounted Personal Wireless Service Facilities

The applicant shall provide a report prepared by a licensed professional civil engineer describing the facility and specifying the maximum number and types of antennas the facility is designed to accommodate. The report shall bear the seal of the engineer that prepared the report.

#### Section 12.6 Visibility Standards for Ground-Mounted Personal Wireless Service Facilities, Excluding Reconstruction of Existing Facilities

- 12.6.1 <u>Sight Lines</u>. Lines representing the sight line showing the viewpoint (point from which view is taken) and visible point (point being viewed) as described below:
  - (a) Sight line representation. A sight line representation shall be drawn from any public road within three hundred (300) feet and the closest facade of each residential building (viewpoint) within three hundred (300) feet to the highest point (visible point) of the personal wireless service facility. The three hundred (300) foot measure shall be measured from the subject property boundary. Each sight line shall be depicted in profile, drawn at one inch equals forty (40) feet. The profiles shall show all intervening trees and buildings. In the event there is only one (or more) residential building within three hundred (300) feet, there shall be at least two sight lines from the closest habitable structures or public roads, if any.

- (b) Existing (before condition) photographs. Each sight line shall be illustrated by one (1) four-inch by six-inch or larger color photograph of what can currently be seen from any public road or residential building identified above.
- (c) Proposed (after condition). Each of the existing condition photographs shall have the proposed personal wireless service facility superimposed on it to show what will be seen from public roads and residences if the proposed personal wireless service facility is built.
- 12.6.2 <u>Elevations</u>. Siting elevations, or views at-grade from the north, south, east and west for a fifty (50) foot radius around the proposed personal wireless service facility plus from all existing public and private roads that serve the subject property. Elevations shall be at either one-quarter inch equals one foot or one-eighth inch equals one foot scale and show the following:
  - (a) Antennas, mounts and equipment shelter(s), with total elevation dimensions and AGL of the highest point.
  - (b) Security barrier. If the security barrier will block views of the personal wireless service facility, the barrier drawing shall be cut away to show the view behind the barrier.
  - (c) Any and all structures on the subject property.
  - (d) Existing trees and shrubs at current height and proposed trees and shrubs at proposed height at time of installation, with approximate elevations dimensioned.
  - (e) Grade changes, or cuts and fills, to be shown as original grade and new grade line, with two-foot contours above mean sea level.
  - 12.6.3 <u>Balloon Test</u>. Within fourteen (14) days of the acceptance of the site plan application by the Planning Board, the applicant shall arrange for a balloon or crane test at the proposed site to illustrate the height of the proposed facility. The date, time and location of such test shall be advertised in a newspaper of general circulation in the Town at least ten (10) days prior to the test.

#### 12.7 Site Plan Review

In accordance with RSA 674:43 V., site plan review shall not be required for a collocation or a modification of a personal wireless service facility, as defined in RSA 12-K:2.

# Article 13 Public Health and Safety Standards

#### Section 13.1 Fire Protection

#### 13.1.1 Access for the Fire Department.

- (a) Appropriate access for the Fire Department shall be provided to any parts of the building or site for the Fire Department to fight fires or address other emergency situations.
- (b) <u>Driveways</u>. All driveways that the Fire Department determines might be used for access into and through the site shall be at least 20 feet wide, provide at least 13-1/2 feet of vertical clearance, and be capable of supporting fire apparatus in all weather conditions. Appropriate provisions for through movement, turning, or backing of vehicles shall be made as reasonably requested by the Fire Department. The Fire Department may adjust these requirements, as appropriate, for sites where the buildings are sprinkled, Town water is available, and/or the level of development or risk is considered especially low.
- (c) <u>Fire Lanes</u>. Fire lanes, i.e., corridors that must remain free of parked vehicles, shall be established as requested by the Fire Department.
- 13.1.2 Fire Hydrants. (See additional specifications under Utilities.)
  - (a) Where Town water is available, fire hydrants shall be provided on and/or off site as requested by the Fire Department. Each proposed hydrant shall be capable of delivering adequate flow as determined by the Fire or Public Works Department.
  - (b) Fire hydrants shall be served by a minimum 8-inch diameter main. Branch lines leading from a hydrant shall have a minimum 6-inch diameter.
  - (c) In cases where buildings are to be sprinkled, a fire hydrant shall be placed within 100 feet of the fire department connection (pipe situated on the outside of the building that connects to the interior sprinkler system). The hydrant may be placed either on the subject lot (a private hydrant) or within the street right of way (a municipal hydrant). If Town water is not available to the site, and will not be extended as part of the site plan, then other arrangements may be made if approved by the Fire Department.
  - (d) All fire hydrants, water lines, and other related structures shall be designed and installed in accordance with the requirements of the Fire and Public Works Departments.
  - (e) A red winter flag shall be attached to each new hydrant in order that the hydrant can be readily located when snow is on the ground.

- 13.1.3 Other fire prevention measures, such as fire alarm systems and Knox Boxes® (or equivalent), shall be incorporated as reasonably requested by the Fire Department.
- 13.1.4 For large-scale projects or projects with high hazard potential located in areas not served by public water, the developer may be required to take special measures such as constructing fire ponds or fire cisterns with dry hydrants if those approaches are specifically authorized by the Fire Chief.

#### 13.1.5 Radio Communications Standards

- (a) When necessary to provide emergency response communication to the site and at the request of the police or fire department, the applicant shall have a site survey conducted by a radio communications carrier approved by the Town of Durham's Police and Fire Departments. The radio communications carrier must be familiar and conversant with the police and fire radio configuration.
- (b) If the site survey indicates that it is necessary to install a signal repeater either on or near the proposed project, those costs shall be the responsibility of the property owner.
- (c) The property owner shall be responsible to pay for the site survey whether or not the survey indicates a repeater is necessary.
- (d) The owner shall coordinate with the supervisor of radio communications for the Town.
- (e) The requirements of the Durham Public Safety Amplification ordinance, Chapter 68 of the Durham Town Code, shall be satisfied.

#### Section 13.2 Hazardous Materials

- 13.2.1 The applicant shall identify any hazardous materials that will be used, stored, or created on site and shall include a plan for their storage, handling, and disposal, consistent with best management practices and all applicable state and federal regulations.
- 13.2.2 Explosives, flammable liquids, propane gas, liquefied petroleum gas, and similar materials shall be stored and protected in accordance with specifications from the Fire Department.
- 13.2.3 Material Safety Data Sheets (MSDS) shall be provided to the Fire Department, as appropriate.

#### Section 13.3 Salt Storage

13.3.1 Salt, or any material containing salt, that is stored in bulk shall be stored and handled in accordance with the following best management practices. The purpose of this regulation is to protect surface and ground waters from salt intrusion, which can contaminate drinking water supplies and kill aquatic life.

13.3.2 These materials shall be stored inside a fully enclosed roofed structure, impenetrable to rain and snow. Ideally the structure will be large enough to allow for vehicles to pick up and drop off the materials inside the structure with any spills occurring during pick up or drop off being contained within the structure. Structure hardware should be galvanized and concrete block buildings should be waterproofed inside.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

13.3.3 A cover should be supplied at the open end so that salt inside is not exposed to the elements

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

13.3.4 The storage structure should be located on a flat site situated away from surface water, wetlands, wells, aquifers, and other environmentally sensitive areas, so that any drainage flowing from the storage area will not affect those resources.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

13.3.5 Storage areas shall have an impermeable floor constructed of asphalt, concrete or other suitable material that extends around the building's exterior and is sloped away from the structure to prevent storm water from entering the structure. Concrete pads and walls should be treated to prevent spalling.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 13.3.6 Floors and walls shall be sealed as appropriate to prevent penetration by rain and snow.
- 13.3.7 A plan to prevent spillage of material from trucks shall be submitted.
- 13.3.8 A contingency plan shall be submitted to address any contamination to soils or groundwater.
- 13.3.9 If there are any drinking water sources located close by and downgradient from the storage area on an abutter's property, the Planning Board may stipulate that one or more monitoring wells be situated on the subject property or the abutter's property to determine if groundwater is being adversely impacted.

#### Section 13.4 Site Security

13.4.1 Sites shall be designed with attention to ensuring safety and security for customers, employees, and suppliers and to minimizing opportunities for trespassing, theft, and vandalism when the facility is closed. Appropriate attention shall be given to site lighting, vehicular access into the site and circulation within the site, pedestrian access into the site and circulation within the site, visibility and access into the site for the Police Department, and communication with the Police Department. 13.4.2 Appropriate methods developed under Crime Prevention Through Environmental Design (CPTED) should be employed. CPTED is based on the principle that proper design and effective use of buildings and sites brings a reduction in both the fear of and incidence of crime and an improvement in quality of life. <u>See this website for recommended design</u> <u>principles: http://www.designcentreforcpted.org/Pages/Principles.html</u>

[<u>Planner</u> recommends adding this language.]

[Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

## Article 14 Standards for Particular Uses/Activities

#### Section 14.1 Contractor's Storage Yards

The following requirements apply to all contractor's storage yards.

- 14.1.1 <u>Screening</u>. Contractor storage yard activity shall be screened from abutting properties and public roads.
- 14.1.2 <u>Security</u>. To ensure public safety the applicant shall present a plan for securing any dangerous vehicles, equipment, or materials from unauthorized access, to be approved by the Planning Board. A simple plan specifying such items as lighting, fencing, and locking of equipment may be sufficient.
- 14.1.3 <u>Maintenance and Repair Work</u>. On-site maintenance and repair of heavy vehicles is restricted to those owned by the contractor storage yard owner and operator. Commercial maintenance and repair of heavy equipment and vehicles owned by others is permitted only if such work is permitted within the applicable zoning district and such work is approved as part of the contractor storage yard site plan review.
- 14.1.4 <u>Salt Storage</u>. Salts, and any bulk materials containing salts, commonly used in snow and ice removal or de-icing, shall be stored as specified in the Salt Storage subsection, herein.

#### Section 14.2 Recreational Playing Fields, Outdoor

- 14.2.1 <u>Policy</u>. It is the policy of the Durham Planning Board to support and encourage outdoor recreation, and to facilitate the safe and reasonable use of private lands for non-commercial outdoor playing fields. It is recognized that this use may raise issues including but not limited to noise, traffic and traffic safety, parking, fertilizer, pesticide and herbicide use. It is also recognized that, unlike many other uses, this use is primarily intended to create a public benefit, and; this use does not require a long-term or irreversible commitment of land or capital.
- 14.2.2 <u>Waiver</u>. The Planning Board may, in order to implement the policy expressed in <u>Policy</u>, above, at its reasonable discretion, waive or modify any of the submission requirements, herein.

14.2.3 <u>Unique Requirements</u>. Given the intermittent and seasonal nature of this use, and the variability that may characterize impacts on abutters and the community at large, the Planning Board may impose conditions controlling timing (hours of use, frequency of use, start, end and duration of season), intensity (number of participants, noise restrictions, whether practice sessions, organized games, tryouts, tournaments are allowed), in addition to any design standards and required improvements that may be authorized under Section 9 and deemed necessary by the Planning Board.

## Article 15 Stormwater Management Standards

#### Section 15.1 Purpose

- Section 15.1 General Requirements
- Section 15.2 Stormwater Management Plan—Part I
- Section 15.3 Stormwater Management Plan—Part II
- Section 15.4 Design Standards
- Section 15.5 Responsibility for Installation and Construction
- Section 15.6 Plan Approval and Review
- Section 15.7 Maintenance and Inspection
- Section 15.8 Reimbursement
- Section 15.9 Waivers & Exceptions

# [<u>Planner</u> recommends this correction – adding to the table of contents as it was not included before and renumbering below.]

#### Section 15.1 Purpose

The purpose of this set of regulations is to establish standards to manage the discharge of stormwater runoff to Durham waterbodies, all of which are on the Federal and State lists of impaired waterbodies as of the date of adoption of these Regulations and to comply with Town's Water Ordinance, Chapter 158 of the Town Code. These impairments are directly linked to stormwater runoff. These standards encourage the use of Low Impact Development (LID) strategies, build upon innovative stormwater standards recently adopted by several coastal watershed communities, and are consistent with EPA Region 1 and NHDES guidelines.

#### Section 15.1. General Requirements

All developments shall provide adequate management of stormwater runoff and prevent the discharge of stormwater runoff from creating or contributing to water quality impairment.

- 15.1.1 All applications shall be accompanied by a completed Stormwater Management Checklist to be provided to the Planning Board for consideration.
- 15.1.2 Applicants for developments and redevelopments that disturb 5,000 or more square feet must submit to the Planning Board for review and approval a Stormwater Management Plan ("the Plan") describing all proposed stormwater management system elements, practices, and associated designs, including all calculations and analyses of the designs.

- 15.1.3 The Planning Board reserves the right to require any development that disturbs less than 5,000 square feet to submit, and then implement, an approved Stormwater Management Plan (complete, as described below, or abbreviated) to prevent degradation of local water resources. The Planning Board may solicit input from the Conservation Commission in making this determination, at its discretion.
- 15.1.4 All elements of the Plan must be designed/prepared by a New Hampshire Registered Professional Engineer in accordance with the Design Standards below. The Plan must contain Parts I and II, below, and be presented in that order.

#### Section 15.2. Stormwater Management Plan-Part I

15.2.1 Existing Conditions Site Plan

#### [<u>Planner</u> – correct format below consistent with the rest of the document.]

- 1. This plan shall show all pre-development:
  - (a) surface waterbodies and wetlands
  - (b) drainage patterns
  - (c) watershed boundaries
  - (d) buffer zones
  - (e) topographic contours with minimum 2-foot intervals
  - (f) scale bar
  - (g) north arrow
  - (h) title block with project name, applicant's name, and map and parcel number
  - (i) designer's stamp and wetland scientist's stamp (if applicable)
  - (j) legend
  - (k) locus plan
  - (1) benchmarks, and appropriate notes with datum and other plan references, instructions, and detail descriptions
- 2. The Existing Conditions Site Plan shall be provided in hard copy (minimum 22inch by 34-inch) at an appropriate scale in tens of feet per inch (maximum of 100 feet per inch) such that all important site and hydrologic features are easily recognized.
- 3. Existing buildings, structures, pavement, utilities, and soils information with coding as HSG-A, B, C, or D shall be included on the Existing Conditions Site Plan.

[<u>Mower</u> - April Talon commented in June: \*This would be more helpful if it was included within the Drainage Analysis – and could be covered as a requirement within the Stormwater Management Checklist. Suggest this be deleted here. The Existing Conditions plan is already very busy and including this information on the plan here is unnecessary.\*]

[<u>Planner</u> – I believe that the Planning Board discussed April's comments earlier and decided to leave this language as now shown.]

- 4. High Intensity Soil Survey (HISS) mapping may be required per request of the Planning Board.
- 15.2.2 Proposed Conditions Site Plan
  - 1. The Plan shall show all proposed post-development temporary and permanent stormwater management system elements and erosion and sediment control BMPs and all important hydrologic features.
  - 2. The Proposed Conditions Site Plan must be at the same scale as the Existing Conditions Site Plan with consistent title block, plan features, and descriptors including but not limited to the following:
    - (a) Existing and proposed topographic contours (2-foot minimum contour interval; 1-foot contour intervals may be required for sites with limited relief and/or where proposed stormwater outfalls are located adjacent to buffer zones)
    - (b) Proposed areas of disturbance with total area of disturbance clearly labeled in square feet
    - (c) Existing and proposed buildings and structures
    - (d) Stormwater discharge locations keyed to drainage analyses
    - (e) Wells and sanitary protective radii
    - (f) Septic systems
    - (g) Plan references and notes (including sequence of soil disturbance)
    - (h) Proposed and existing public and private utilities
    - (i) Proposed project components to become property of or the responsibility of the Town shall be labeled as such
    - (j) Existing and proposed impervious surfaces and pavements with areas used to calculate EIA clearly identified and the square footage of each type identified and labeled
    - (k) Details of individual design elements shown on separate plan sheets following the Proposed Conditions Site Plan

#### Section 15.3 Stormwater Management Plan—Part II

- 15.3.1 Drainage Analysis that includes calculations comparing Pre- and Post-Development stormwater runoff rates (cubic feet per second) and volumes (cubic feet) based on a 1-inch rainstorm, and the 2-year, 10-year, and 17-year 24-hour frequency storms. The rainfall amount shall be obtained from the Northeast Regional Climate Center <a href="http://precip.eas.comell.edu">http://precip.eas.comell.edu</a>. The analysis shall include extreme precipitation table as obtained from the above referenced website.
  - (a) Calculations shall include, but not be limited to, the sizing of all structures and BMPs including of sizing of emergency overflow structures based on assessment of the 100-year 24-hour frequency storm discharge rate.

- (b) Phased applications for the original parcel apply as though the development of the entire parcel were proposed in one application at one time.
- 15.3.2 Drainage Analysis Results Summary tabulated for each proposed outfall or catchment outlet point including runoff rates and volumes for each storm event analyzed above.
- 15.3.3 An Erosion and Sediment Control Plan for all proposed construction activities in accordance with the most current New Hampshire Stormwater Manual (New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; downloadable from the website).
- 15.3.4 Copies of any additional permits or plans required for compliance with Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) and/or New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES).
- 15.3.5 A comprehensive Operation and Maintenance Plan for long-term maintenance of all proposed stormwater management elements and BMPs including the proposed schedule of inspections and anticipated maintenance.

Section 15.4 Design Standards

- 15.4.1 Minimum requirements: The Stormwater Management Plans shall meet the following minimum requirements:
  - 1. Where applicable, the Plan must comply with the EPA Phase II Stormwater Rules and the Town's MS4 Stormwater Discharge (NPDES) Permit, as amended.
  - 2. All proposed measures shall be in accordance with the most current New Hampshire Stormwater Management Manual (New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services; downloadable from the website).
  - 3. <u>Water Quality Protection</u>. All aspects of the application shall be designed to protect the water quality of the Town of Durham's waterbodies as follows:
    - a) No person shall locate, store, discharge, or permit the discharge of any treated, untreated, or inadequately treated liquid, gaseous, or solid materials of such nature, quantity, noxiousness, toxicity, or temperature that may run off, seep, percolate, or wash into surface or groundwaters and thus contaminate, pollute, harm, impair or contribute to an impairment of such waters nor to any impaired waters as listed with the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services.
    - b) All storage facilities for fuel, chemicals, chemical or industrial wastes, and biodegradable raw materials shall meet the standards of the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services (NHDES).
    - c) All projects under review by the Planning Board of such magnitude as to require a stormwater permit from EPA or NHDES shall comply with the

standards of EPA and/or NHDES AOT program, with respect to the export of Total Suspended Solids and other pollutants.

- 15.4.2 <u>Stormwater Management for New Development</u>. All proposed stormwater management and treatment systems shall meet the following performance standards:
  - (a) Existing surface waters, including lakes, ponds, rivers, perennial and intermittent streams (natural or channelized), and wetlands (including vernal pools) shall be protected by the minimum buffer setback distances specified in the Zoning Ordinance. Stormwater and erosion and sediment control BMPs shall be located outside the specified buffer zone unless otherwise approved by the Planning Board. Alternatives to stream and wetland crossings that eliminate or minimize environmental impacts shall be considered whenever possible. When necessary, as determined by the Planning Board or their representative, stream and wetland crossings shall comply with state recommended design standards to minimize impacts to flow and enhance animal passage (see "University of New Hampshire Stream Crossing Guidelines" May 2009, as amended, downloadable from the "Streams and Stream Crossing" page of the NHDES website: <a href="http://des.nh.gov/organization/divisions/water/wetlands/documents/nh-stream-crossings.pdf">http://des.nh.gov/organization/divisions/water/wetlands/documents/nh-stream-crossings.pdf</a>
  - (b) LID (Low Impact Development) site planning and design strategies shall be used to the maximum extent practicable in order to reduce the generation of the stormwater runoff volume for both new and redevelopment projects. An applicant must document why LID strategies are not appropriate if not used to manage stormwater.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - I think you should define LID again here because an average reader may forget the meaning or have missed it so far back in the document.]

#### [<u>Planner</u> – added term above and in several other places (marked) per Mary Ellen's comment]

- (c) All stormwater treatment areas shall be planted with native plantings appropriate for the site conditions: grasses, shrubs and/or other native plants in sufficient numbers and density to prevent soil erosion and to promote proper treatment of the proposed runoff.
- (d) All areas that receive rainfall runoff must be designed to drain within a maximum of 72 hours for vector control.
- (e) Salt and other de-icing material\_storage areas shall be covered or located such that no direct untreated discharges to receiving waters are possible from the storage site. Snow storage areas shall be located such that no direct untreated discharges to receiving waters are possible from the storage site. Runoff from snow and salt storage areas shall enter treatment areas as specified above before being discharged to receiving waters or allowed to infiltrate into the groundwater.

(f) The use of sodium chloride-based materials for winter road maintenance shall be the minimum necessary for roadway safety. If the development calls for the use of porous asphalt, sand should not be used in those areas. However, sand may be used in other areas not using porous asphalt to cut down on the amount of sodium chloride based materials used.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- (g) Runoff shall be directed into recessed vegetated and landscaped areas designed for treatment and/or filtration to the maximum extent practicable to minimize Effective Impervious Cover (EIC) and reduce the need for irrigation systems.
- (h) The Plan shall make provisions to retain stormwater on the site by using the natural flow patterns of the site. Effort shall be made to utilize natural filtration and/or infiltration BMPs (i.e., bioretention areas, subsurface filtration/infiltration systems, ponds, swales, etc.). Proof of such effort shall be provided to the Planning Board.
- (i) Measures shall be taken to control the post-development peak rate runoff so that it does not exceed pre-development runoff for the 2-year, 10-year and 17-year, 24hour storm events. Similar measure shall be taken to control the post-development runoff volume to filtrate the WQv according to the following minimum ratios of Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG) type versus infiltration rate multiplier:
  - HSG-A: 1.0
  - HSG-B: 0.75
  - HSG-C: 0.4
  - HSG-D: 0.16

For sites where infiltration is limited or not practicable, the applicant must demonstrate that the project will not create or contribute to water quality impairment. Infiltration structures shall be in locations with the highest permeability on the site. Measures shall be taken to protect against on and off site peak flow to prevent overloading of existing downstream facilities.

- (j) The biological and chemical properties of the receiving waters shall not be degraded by the stormwater runoff from the development site.
- (k) The design of the stormwater drainage system shall provide for the disposal of stormwater without flooding or functional impairment to streets, adjacent properties, downstream properties, soils, or vegetation.
- (1) The design of the stormwater management systems shall take into account upstream and upgradient runoff that flows onto, over, or through the site to be developed or re-developed and provide for this contribution of runoff.

- (m) Appropriate erosion and sediment control measures shall be installed prior to any soil disturbance such that the area of disturbance shall be kept to a minimum. See Section 7.1.
- (n) Measures shall be taken to control erosion within the project area. Sediment in runoff water shall be trapped and retained within the project area using approved measures. Wetland areas and surface waters shall be protected from sediment.
- (o) All temporary control measures shall be removed after final site stabilization. Trapped sediment and other disturbed soil areas resulting from the removal of temporary measures shall be permanently stabilized prior to removal of temporary control measures.
- (p) Every effort shall be made to use pervious parking surfaces as an alternative to impervious asphalt or concrete for general and overflow parking areas. Pervious pavement shall be appropriately sited and designed for traffic and vehicle loading conditions.
- (q) Whenever practicable, native site vegetation shall be retained, protected, or supplemented. Any stripping of vegetation shall be done in a manner that minimizes soil erosion.
- (r) Whenever practicable, all subsurface filtration BMPs shall include perforated underdrains positioned a minimum of 8-inches above the bottom of the filter bed to prevent extended periods of saturated conditions.
- 15.4.3 Redevelopment Criteria:
  - (a) In order to determine the stormwater requirements for redevelopment projects, the percentage of the site covered by existing impervious areas must be calculated. Stormwater requirements for redevelopment will vary based upon the amount of site surface area that is covered by existing impervious surfaces.
  - (b) For sites meeting the definition of a redevelopment project and having less than 40% existing impervious surface coverage, the stormwater management requirements will be the same as other new development projects with the important distinction that the applicant can meet those requirements either on-site or at an approved off-site location. The applicant must satisfactorily demonstrate that impervious area reduction, LID (*Low impact development*) strategies and BMPs have been implemented on-site to the maximum extent practicable.
  - (c) For sites meeting the definition of a redevelopment project and having more than 40% existing impervious surface coverage, stormwater shall be managed for water quality in accordance with the following technique:

Implement other LID (*Low impact development*) techniques onsite to the maximum extent practicable to provide treatment for at least 50% of the entire site area

- 15.4.4 Off-Site Mitigation:
  - (a) In cases where the applicant demonstrates, to the satisfaction of the Planning Board, that on-site treatment has been implemented to the maximum extent possible or is not feasible, off-site mitigation will be an acceptable alternative if implemented within the same subwatershed, within the project's drainage area or within the drainage area of the receiving water body. To comply with local watershed objectives the mitigation site would be preferably situated in the same subwatershed as the development and impact/benefit the same receiving water.
  - (b) Off-site mitigation shall be equivalent to no less than the total area of impervious cover NOT treated on-site.
  - (c) An approved off-site location must be identified, the specific management measures identified, and an implementation schedule developed in accordance with Planning Board review. The applicant must also demonstrate that there is no downstream drainage or flooding impacts as a result of not providing on-site management for large storm events.

#### Section 15.5 Responsibility for Installation and Construction

The applicant shall be responsible for the installation, construction, inspection, and disposition of all stormwater management and erosion control measures required by the provisions of these regulations.

- 15.5.1 Site development shall not begin before the Stormwater Management Plan receives written approval by the Planning Board.
- 15.5.2 Structures that meet Best Management Practices (BMP's) shall be installed as designed and scheduled as a condition of final approval of the plan.
- 15.5.3 Phasing of the installation shall be coordinated with and approved by the Town Engineer. Post-construction BMP's are not intended to be used as a temporary sediment control basin during construction unless approved by the Planning Board.
- 15.5.4 The Planning Board may require an independent, third-party inspection and oversight of the construction of stormwater management facilities and erosion and sediment control and of annual maintenance operations, at its discretion. Such independent oversight may be especially important for implementing innovative techniques such as those involving pervious pavement and gravel wetlands. The expense of this oversight shall be the full responsibility of the applicant.

#### [<u>Mower</u> - The removal of this comma emphasizes that the third-party be independent]

[<u>Humphrey</u> - 15.5.4 Again, there should be some minimum requirements and criteria before requiring a third-party inspection AND OVERSIGHT of construction of storm water management.... Also, limitations on costs might be in order.]

#### Section 15.6 Plan Approval and Review

The Planning Board shall approve the Stormwater Management Plan if it complies with the requirements of these regulations and other requirements as provided by law. At the discretion of the Planning Board, a technical review by an independent third party may be required of any stormwater management and erosion control plan prepared under these regulations. Such independent review may be especially important for projects that incorporate innovative techniques such as pervious pavement and gravel wetlands. The technical review shall be performed by a qualified professional consultant, as determined by the Planning Board, and the expense of which shall be the full responsibility of the applicant.

#### Section 15.7 Maintenance and Inspection

- 15.7.1 After final Planning Board approval and as a condition of that approval, the owner of record of the property shall record a notice of the requirements for maintenance pursuant to the stormwater management and erosion and sediment control plans, as approved by the Planning Board, at the Registry of Deeds sufficient to provide notice to all persons that may acquire any property subject to the stormwater management and sediment control plans. (See RSA 477:3-a.) The notice shall comply with the applicable requirements for recording contained in RSA 477 and 478. The notice need not set forth the requirements at length, so long as it is sufficient to provide notice to prospective purchasers of the requirements for maintenance pursuant to the stormwater management and erosion and sediment control plans as approved by the Planning Board. The Planning Board may require routine inspections to insure compliance with the Stormwater Management, Groundwater Protection, Impervious Surfaces, and Erosion and Sedimentation Control sections of these regulations. Such inspections shall be performed by a designated agent with appropriate certifications at reasonable times to the landowner.
- 15.7.2 If permission to inspect is denied by the landowner, the designated agent shall secure an administrative inspection warrant from the district or superior court under RSA 595-B.

#### Section 15.8 Reimbursement

The applicant shall reimburse the Town for the Planning Board's administrative expenses and costs of special investigation and the review of documents and other matters that may be required by particular applications. This includes, but is not limited to, review by consulting engineers or other consultants to assess the environmental impact, hydrological impact, ground water quality impact, traffic impact, or any other study deemed necessary by the Planning Board in order to make an informed decision."

#### Section 15.9 Waivers & Exceptions

For reasons well demonstrated, the Planning Board may waive one or more of these regulations. In order for the Planning Board to issue a waiver, the applicant must demonstrate and board must find the application meets the minimum criteria listed below and, if granted, will be considered conditions of approval.

- 15.9.1 Runoff from new impervious surfaces shall be directed to a filtration and/or infiltration device or properly discharged to a naturally occurring or fully replanted and vegetated area with slopes of 15 percent or less and with adequate controls to prevent soil erosion and concentrated flow.
- 15.9.2 Impervious surfaces for parking areas and roads shall be minimized to the extent possible (including minimum parking requirements for proposed uses and minimum road widths).
- 15.9.3 Runoff generated from new impervious surfaces shall be retained on the development site and property and mimic natural hydrologic processes to the maximum extent possible, or it is determined that the biological and chemical properties of the receiving waters will not be degraded by or its hydrology will benefit from discharge of stormwater runoff from the development site.
- 15.9.4 Compliance with standards 15.9.1 15.9.3, above, will be determined by the Planning Board on a case by case basis as site conditions and constraints will differ greatly between various redevelopment proposals.

In addition, the following activities are considered exempt from preparing and submitting stormwater management plans:

- 1. Agricultural practices located outside the wetland and surface water buffers
- 2. Road and parking lot resurfacing provided removal of road or parking surface materials does not occur down to the erodible subsurface.

#### Section 15.10 Definitions

Note that there are special definitions sections in several sections in the Site Plan Regulations, specifically: Part I, Article 10 - <u>Definitions</u> and Part III, Article 2 – <u>Architectural Design</u> <u>Standards</u>, Article 5 – <u>Landscaping and Screening Standards</u>, Article 6 – <u>Lighting Standards</u>, and Article 15 – <u>Stormwater Management Standards</u>.

# [<u>Planner</u> – revise the format of the definitions below, consistent with the format used in the Landscaping and Lighting sections. This is more readable and less cumbersome:

#### "Cone of illumination. A regular conical shaped volume situated directly below, and centered upon, a light fixture. The sides of the cone radiate out from the fixture at an angle of 80 degrees from the vertical. For wall-mounted fixtures, the cone of illumination is a half cone."]

The following words and terms are oriented specifically toward stormwater management. However, these words and terms may be found elsewhere in the Site Plan Regulations. Wherever these words and terms are found, they shall have the meanings given below.

| Best Management Practices (BMP): [also Pa   | <i>art I]</i> Methods and means that have been<br>determined to be the most effective, practical,<br>commonly accepted approaches to meting a specific<br>objective. Regarding stormwater management,<br>BMPs control, treat, or prevent pollution and<br>detrimental impacts from stormwater runoff. BMPs<br>for stormwater management may be structural<br>(engineered) or nonstructural (strategies<br>implemented to control stormwater runoff that focus<br>on pollution prevention such as alternative site<br>design, zoning and ordinances, education, and good<br>housekeeping measures). |
|---|--|
| Bioretention                                | A water quality practice that utilizes vegetation and<br>soils to treat urban stormwater runoff by collecting<br>it in shallow depressions, before filtering through an<br>engineered bioretention planting soil media.  |
| Buffers along water resources, Riparian Buf | fers A special type of preserved area along a<br>watercourse or wetland where development is<br>restricted or prohibited. Buffers protect and<br>physically separate a resource from development.<br>Buffers also provide stormwater control flood<br>storage and habitat values. Wherever possible,<br>riparian buffers should be sized to include the 100-<br>year floodplain as well as steep banks and<br>freshwater wetlands.   |
| Disconnected Impervious Cover               | The sum of the proposed areas of impervious cover<br>and pavement that receive runoff and, by means of<br>implementing BMPs and LID <u>(low impact</u><br><u>development)</u> strategies, is designed to capture and<br>filtrate the precipitation from a 1-inch 24-hour rain<br>event.  |
| Disturbance [also Part I]                   | Any activity that significantly alters the<br>characteristics of the terrain in such a manner as to<br>impede or alter the hydrology or natural runoff<br>pattern, or creates an unnatural runoff.   |
| Disturbed area [also Part I]                | An area in which the natural vegetative soil cover<br>has been removed or altered and, therefore, is<br>susceptible to erosion.  |

| Effective impervious cover (EIC) | The total impervious surface areas less the area of<br>disconnected impervious cover (areas where runoff<br>is captured and infiltrated or otherwise treated).   |
|----------------------------------|--|
| Filtration                       | The process of physically or chemically removing<br>pollutants from runoff. Practices that capture and<br>store stormwater runoff and pass it through a<br>filtering media such as sand, organic material, or the<br>native soil for pollutant removal. Stormwater filters<br>are primarily water quality control devices designed<br>to remove particulate pollutants and, to a lesser<br>degree, bacteria and nutrients. |
| Gravel wetlands, subsurface      | A recent innovation in Low Impact Development<br>(LID) stormwater design. It approximates the look<br>and function of a natural wetland, effectively<br>removing sediments and other pollutants commonly<br>found in runoff, while enhancing the visual appeal<br>of the landscape and adding buffers or greenscape<br>to urban areas  |
| Groundwater recharge             | The process by which water that seeps into the<br>ground, eventually replenishing groundwater<br>aquifers and surface waters such as lakes, streams,<br>and the oceans. This process helps maintain water<br>flow in streams and wetlands and preserves water<br>table levels that support drinking water supplies.  |
| Groundwater recharge volume      | The post-development design recharge volume (i.e.,<br>on a storm event basis) required to minimize the<br>loss of annual pre-development groundwater<br>recharge. The GRV is determined as a function of<br>annual pre-development recharge for site-specific<br>soils or surficial materials, average annual rainfall<br>volume, and amount of impervious cover on a site.  |
| Hydrologic Soil Group (HSG)      | A Natural Resource Conservation Service<br>classification system in which soils are categorized<br>into four runoff potential groups. The groups range<br>from "A" soils, with high permeability and little<br>runoff production, to "D" soils, which have low<br>permeability rates and produce much more runoff.   |
| Impaired waters                  | Those waterbodies not meeting water quality<br>standards. Pursuant to Section 303(d) of the federal<br>Clean Water Act, each state prepares a list of  |

|   | impaired waters (known as the 303(d) list) which is<br>presented in the state's Integrated Water Report as<br>Category 5 waters. Those impaired waters for which<br>a TMDL has been approved by US EPA and is not<br>otherwise impaired, are listed in Category 4A.  |
|---|--|
| Impervious Cover or Surface [also Part I] | A material with low permeability that impedes the<br>natural infiltration of moisture into the ground so<br>that the majority of the precipitation that falls on the<br>surface runs off or is not absorbed into the ground.<br>Common impervious surfaces include, but are not<br>limited to, roofs, concrete or bituminous paving<br>such as sidewalks, patios, driveways, roads, parking<br>spaces or lots, and storage areas, compacted gravel<br>including drives and parking areas, oiled or<br>compacted earthen materials, stone, concrete or<br>composite pavers, wood, and swimming pools. |
| Infiltration                              | The process of runoff percolating into the ground<br>(subsurface materials). Stormwater treatment<br>practices designed to capture stormwater runoff and<br>infiltrate it into the ground over a period of days.   |
| Low impact development (LID)              | Low impact development is a site planning and<br>design strategy intended to maintain or replicate<br>predevelopment hydrology through the use of site<br>planning, source control, and small-scale practices<br>integrated throughout the site to prevent, infiltrate<br>and manage runoff as close to its source as possible.<br>Examples of LID strategies are pervious pavement,<br>rain gardens, green roofs, bioretention basins and<br>swales, filtration trenches, and other functionally<br>similar BMPs located near the runoff source.  |
| Maximum Extent Practicable [also Part I]  | To show that a proposed development has met a standard to the maximum extent practicable, the applicant must demonstrate the following: (1) all reasonable efforts have been made to meet the standard, (2) a complete evaluation of all possible management measures has been performed, and (3) if full compliance cannot be achieved, the highest practicable level of management is being implemented.   |
| Mitigation [also Part I]                  | Activities, strategies, policies, programs, and actions that, over time, will serve to avoid,  |

|  | minimize, or compensate for (by treating or<br>removing pollution sources) the deleterious impacts<br>of a particular development or activity., such as the<br>measures to treat or remove pollution from<br>downgradient water resources.  |
|--|---|
| MS4  | Shorthand reference to the small Municipal<br>Separate Storm Sewer System General Permit, the<br>MS4 General Permit, issued by the EPA under the<br>Clean Water Act. MS4 applies to municipalities that<br>contain any portion of an urbanized area as defined<br>by the Census. It applies to stormwater conveyances<br>owned by a state, city, town, or other public entity<br>that discharge to "Waters of the United States." The<br>MS4 Permit requires that operators of small MS4s<br>develop a Stormwater Management Program that<br>uses appropriate Best Management Practices<br>(BMPs) for each of the six minimum control<br>measures required in the MS4 permit. |
| Native plants or vegetation [also Part I and | <i>Landscaping]</i> Plants that are indigenous to the region, adapted to the local soil and rainfall conditions, and require minimal supplemental watering, fertilizer, and pesticide application.  |
| NHDES [also Part I]                          | New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services  |
| Pavement [also Part I]                       | Areas of a site that are covered with pervious and/or impervious asphalt and/or concrete. [See "porous pavement and pavers."]   |
| Pollutant load                               | The amount of pollutants introduced into a receiving waterbody measured in units of concentration or mass per time (i.e. concentration (mg/l) or mass (lbs/day)).   |
| Porous Media                                 | Material with open connected pore spaces that<br>allows water to percolate through it such as granular<br>soils, gravel, crushed stone, pervious pavements,<br>and woven and non-woven geosynthetics.   |
| Porous pavement and pavers                   | Alternatives to conventional pavement that utilize a<br>variety of porous media, often supported by a<br>structural matrix, concrete grid, or modular   |

|  | pavement, which allow water to percolate though to a sub-base for gradual infiltration.   |
|--|---|
| Redevelopment (in terms of stormwater) | Any construction, alteration, or improvement that<br>disturbs a total of 10,000 square feet or more of<br>existing impervious area where the existing land use<br>is commercial, industrial, institutional,<br>governmental, recreational, or multifamily<br>residential. Building demolition is included as an<br>activity defined as "redevelopment", but building<br>renovation is not. Similarly, removing of roadway<br>materials down to the erodible soil surface is an<br>activity defined as "redevelopment," but simply<br>resurfacing of a roadway surface is not. Pavement<br>excavation and patching that is incidental to the<br>primary project purpose, such as replacement of a<br>collapsed storm drain, is not classified as<br>redevelopment. In general, the requirements in this<br>manual do not apply to projects or portions of<br>projects when the total existing impervious area<br>disturbed is less than 10,000 square feet. However,<br>specific regulatory programs may impose additional<br>requirements. Any redevelopment activity that<br>results in improvements with no increase in<br>impervious area shall be considered redevelopment<br>activity under this regulation if capital cost of<br>improvements is greater than 30% of the appraised<br>property value. |
| Retention                              | The amount of precipitation on a drainage area that<br>does not escape as runoff. It can be expressed as the<br>difference between total precipitation and total<br>runoff from an area.  |
| Riparian                               | Referring to anything connected or immediately<br>adjacent to the shoreline or bank of a stream, river,<br>pond, lake, bay, estuary or other similar body of<br>water.  |
| Riparian buffer                        | The naturally vegetated shoreline, floodplain or<br>upland forest adjacent to a surface waterbody.<br>Riparian buffers provide stormwater control flood<br>storage and habitat values.  |

| Runoff                       | Stormwater that does not infiltrate into the ground<br>and flows toward a below-ground or surface<br>discharge location.  |
|------------------------------|---|
| Stormwater [also Part I]     | Water that originates from precipitation events and accumulates on land.  |
| Stormwater Management Plan   | A written plan describing the proposed methods and<br>measures to be implemented to prevent or minimize<br>water quality and quantity impacts from stormwater<br>associated with a development or redevelopment<br>project both during and after construction. It<br>identifies selected BMPs, LID ( <i>low impact</i><br><i>development</i> ) source controls, and treatment<br>practices to address those potential impacts, and<br>contains the engineering design plans,<br>specifications, and calculations of the management<br>and treatment practices, and maintenance<br>requirements for proper performance of the<br>proposed practices. |
| Total Suspended Solids (TSS) | The total amount of soils particulate matter which is suspended in the water column.  |
| Tree box filters             | Miniature bioretention areas installed beneath trees<br>that can be effective at controlling runoff, especially<br>when distributed throughout a site. Runoff is<br>directed to the tree box, where it is cleaned by<br>vegetation and soil before entering a catch basin.<br>The runoff collected in the tree boxes also helps<br>irrigate the trees. These systems combine the<br>versatility of manufactured devices with the water<br>quality treatment of vegetated systems. They serve<br>as attractive landscaping and drainage catchbasins.<br>They receive runoff through breaks in the curbing.   |
| Water Quality Treatment      | The capture of sediment, nutrients, metals and<br>hydrocarbons suspended in stormwater runoff from<br>impervious surfaces before being conveyed to a<br>storm sewer network or to another water quality<br>treatment system. In most cases where no other<br>local waterbody impairments exist, adequate<br>treatment refers to documenting the treatment<br>systems ability to remove 80% of the total<br>suspended solids (TSS) on an annual basis. Where<br>water quality impairments do exist adequate  |

|                            | treatment refers to a system's ability to meet<br>maximum load allocations or not further impair the<br>receiving water.   |
|----------------------------|--|
| Water Quality Volume (WQv) | The storage volume needed to capture and treat the runoff from the 1-inch 24-hour rainstorm for a specific contributing area. WQv shall be calculated using the following equation:<br>WQv = (P)(Rv)(A), where $P = 0.083$ ft, Rv = the unitless runoff coefficient, Rv = 0.05 + 0.9(I), where I = the percent impervious surface draining to the discharge point, in decimal form, and A = total site area in square feet draining to the discharge point |
| Watershed                  | The land area, or catchment, that contributes water<br>to a specific waterbody. All the rain or snow that<br>falls within this area flows to the waterbodies as<br>surface runoff, in tributary streams, or as<br>groundwater.   |

# Article 16 Traffic and Access Management Standards

Section 16.1 General Provisions

- Section 16.2 Driveways and Access Management
- Section 16.3 Sight Distance

Section 16.4 Traffic Impacts

Section 16.5 Off-Site Improvements

#### Section 16.1 General Provisions

- 16.1.1 When the Planning Board deems appropriate, the applicant shall address the impact of the project upon traffic conditions—including pedestrian and bicycle conditions—on neighboring streets and intersections.
- 16.1.2 A proposed project shall not be approved if the neighboring streets and intersections cannot safely and reasonably accommodate anticipated traffic volumes generated by the proposed development.
- 16.1.3 The access management standards herein apply to automobile-oriented thoroughfares. Within the downtown or other pedestrian-oriented areas, the standards should be appropriately adapted foremost to foster a pedestrian-friendly environment. For example, much smaller turning radii are appropriate in pedestrian-oriented areas.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 16.1.4 If a new town street is to be built as part of a site plan, then the design for the street shall conform to the Town of Durham <u>Road Construction Regulations</u> and <u>Subdivision</u> <u>Regulations</u>.
- 16.1.5 The site shall have safe and suitable access onto an appropriate Town or State road, i.e., a Class V or better road. In its determination of the appropriate type and location of the access, the Planning Board shall consider such factors as safety, operations, and overall street system circulation.
- 16.1.6 All driveways and encroachments into any state highway must be approved by the New Hampshire Department of Transportation (NHDOT).
- 16.1.7 For driveways accessed off a state highway the Town of Durham may nonetheless impose stricter standards for access than those stipulated by NHDOT, where appropriate (unless superseded by NHDOT).
- 16.1.8 The following should be used as general guides for the design of driveways:

[Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- (a) "The Transportation and Traffic Engineering Handbook" (Institute of Transportation Engineers, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs, NJ);
- (b) "The Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices" (MUTCD; see above);
- (c) "A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets" (American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials);
- (d) New Hampshire Department of Transportation rules and procedures; and
- (e) standard access management techniques.
- 16.1.9 Placement of new driveways and widening of existing driveways in the Commercial Core area (C, CB, CC, CH, and PO districts) is often inappropriate and may be denied at the reasonable discretion of the Planning Board.
- 16.1.10 When an existing development or redevelopment does not conform with the standards herein, as part of a new site plan application, the Planning Board may stipulate improvement of existing access points, consolidation of existing access points, closing off of wide open access areas onto a street, increasing or decreasing driveway width, addition of acceleration or deceleration lanes, installation of traffic control devices, installation of curbing, or other measures, as appropriate.
- 16.1.11 The Planning Board may require a secondary access into sites, where appropriate.
- 16.1.12 Driveways, shared driveways, travel ways, and roads, approved as private roads or private thoroughfares shall remain in private ownership. In cases, where it is plausible that future property owners would seek to convert the roads to Town roads, the Planning Board may require the developer to provide legal instruments to ensure the continuation of private ownership and maintenance.

#### Section 16.2 Driveways and Access Management

- 16.2.1 Purpose
  - (a) The purpose of this section is to provide for reasonable access to private development while preserving the capacity of the neighboring network of public roads. This is to be accomplished by minimizing the number of driveways, consolidating existing driveways, encouraging placement of driveways on lower order roads, controlling the geometric design of driveways, encouraging narrower driveways, and locating driveways as far away from other driveways and road intersections as practicable.
  - (b) The higher the classification of the road, the more the road is intended for through travel instead of access to individual sites. Local roads are the lowest order roads, collector roads are mid-level roads, and arterial roads are the highest order roads.
- 16.2.2 Spacing of Driveways

- (a) On higher order roads, driveways shall be located in such a way as to achieve significant spacing from other driveways and intersecting roads. The Planning Board may adjust these spacing standards on a case by case basis, where appropriate.
- (b) Any new driveway shall be spaced a minimum distance from any existing driveway on another site, based upon the classification of the road from which the driveway take access. The following distances are measured from centerline to centerline.

| Spacing from other driveway |                  |
|-----------------------------|------------------|
| Spacing:                    | Driveways taking |
|                             | access from:     |
| 75 feet                     | local road       |
| 125 feet                    | collector road   |
| 175 feet                    | arterial road    |

(c) Any new driveway shall be spaced a minimum distance from any existing road, based upon the classification of the road that it takes access from. The following distances are measured from centerline to centerline.

| Spacing from other road |                 |
|-------------------------|-----------------|
| Spacing:                | Driveway taking |
|                         | access from:    |
| 100 feet                | local road      |
| 150 feet                | collector road  |
| 200 feet                | arterial road   |

- (d) There shall be a minimum separation of 75 feet between two driveways serving the same lot. If one driveway is one way, then the minimum separation shall be 50 feet.
- 16.2.3 Number of Driveways
  - (a) Two is the maximum number of driveways permitted for a lot on a Town road or within the Urban Compact.

#### [Mower - MUST BE DEFINED, PREFERABLY HERE WITHIN THE TEXT.]

#### [Planner – I added a definition in Article II. Could add "(See definition)" if desired.]

- (b) An applicant must provide evidence of the need for or value of a second access point, satisfactory to the Planning Board, based upon the following:
  - high trip generation from the site
  - high traffic volumes on the road

- constraints of the site
- constraints of the road
- use of one way or right turn only driveways
- extensive frontage
- double frontage
- other considerations

#### 16.2.4 Location of Driveways

- (a) Driveways shall be located in the most appropriate locations, considering land use, topography, visibility, and locations of nearby access points.
- (b) To the extent practicable, new driveways shall be located directly opposite existing ones.
- (c) Where there is frontage on more than one road, access shall be taken from the lower order (or "secondary") road where practicable. In cases where the lower order road serves a residential development, it may be preferable for the new access to be taken from the higher order road.
- (d) Driveways shall not be located where they will intersect the acceleration/deceleration or right/left turn lanes.
- (e) Driveways shall be located as far from abutting properties as practicable, in order to minimize the impact upon those abutting properties.
- (f) Driveways shall be located and designed in order to discourage the routing of vehicles through residential streets.
- 16.2.5 Driveway Design
  - (a) All driveways shall be of sufficient width and configuration to accommodate the prospective traffic and to afford satisfactory access into the site for police, fire, and other emergency services.
  - (b) The entrance driveway shall have:
    - (1) a maximum slope of 12 percent; and
    - (2) a suitable stopping platform at the intersection with a maximum slope of 3 percent.
  - (c) The minimum width of a driveway at an access to the road is 20 feet, not including turning radii.
  - (d) The maximum permitted width, number of lanes, and sizes of turning radii of a driveway shall be determined by sound engineering principles, based upon the special circumstances of the site and the adjoining highway.

- (e) Driveways (except for right turn only driveways) shall intersect with streets at an angle as near to 90 degrees as site conditions will permit.
- (f) A full service driveway includes four turning movements: right turn in, right turn out, left turn in, and left turn out. When called for by traffic volumes and other constraints, the Planning Board may prohibit turning movements - especially left turn movements - that would be expected to impair safety or efficiency on the road.
- (g) Sharing of access driveways by adjoining properties is encouraged. The Planning Board may require shared driveways, when appropriate, based upon traffic considerations, sight distance, and other factors. In such situations, cross easements shall be established as needed.
- (h) Driveways shall be combined wherever practicable to minimize the number of access points onto public roads, especially on higher order roads with a high traffic volume.
- (i) All driveways shall be constructed with the same cross sections specified for parking lots and travel ways in the Parking and Circulation section.
- 16.2.6 <u>Traffic Control Devices</u>. The applicant shall provide appropriate traffic control devices in accordance with the latest edition of the *Manual on Uniform Traffic Control Devices* for Streets and Highways ("MUTCD") by the USDOT Federal Highway Administration.
- 16.2.7 <u>Other Provisions</u>. The Planning Board may require construction of frontage or service roads, parallel to collector or arterial roads, when appropriate. In such cases, joint access easements among the property owners may be needed.
- 16.2.8 Driveway Throat Length. There shall be a minimum driveway throat length based upon expected traffic at the site for the purpose of allowing vehicles to enter the site without a queue extending near to the road. As a general guide, the throat length should be a minimum of 25 feet for collector roads and 40 feet for arterials.

#### [Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

#### Section 16.3 Sight Distance

- 16.3.1 All driveways shall be designed and located in order to provide an all season safe sight distance as specified in the table below. The sight distance represents the critical line of sight between the operator of a vehicle exiting the driveway and the operator of a vehicle approaching from either direction. Consideration shall also be given to visibility with and between drivers, bicyclists, and pedestrians.
- 16.3.2 This distance is measured from the driveway location at a point set back 10 feet from the edge of road pavement at 3 feet 6 inches above the driveway surface (the height of a

typical driver's eyes) to points 3 feet 6 inches above the road surface in both directions. The posted speed limit on the road is a reasonable approximation of the design speed.

16.3.3 This table follows the recommendations of the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) as set forth in the 2001 version of A Policy on Geometric Design of Highways and Streets

| Design | Minimum  |
|--------|----------|
| Speed  | Distance |
| 15 mph | 80 feet  |
| 20 mph | 115 feet |
| 25 mph | 155 feet |
| 30 mph | 200 feet |
| 35 mph | 250 feet |
| 40 mph | 305 feet |
| 45 mph | 360 feet |
| 50 mph | 425 feet |
| 55 mph | 495 feet |
| 60 mph | 570 feet |

Section 16.4 Traffic Impacts

- 16.4.1 Traffic impact assessments may be required to quantify the impacts of the proposal on all roads and intersections that would likely be affected in any meaningful way.
- 16.4.2 The anticipated impacts should be evaluated using standard performance indicators including, but not limited to, level-of-service (LOS), a measure of congestion, or flow of traffic at intersections, denoted by a lettered ranking from A to F, with F being the lowest), traffic delays, and volume to capacity ratio.

[<u>Mower</u> - I disagree that LOS should be the benchmark. More recent transportation engineering recognizes that LOS does not address multi-modal use of streets. Basing decisions on LOS may also be detrimental to economic vitality.]

[Planner – A point well taken. I can come up with some suggested additional language.]

[Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 16.4.3 The latest edition of the Institute of Transportation Engineers (ITE) Highway Capacity Manual and Trip Generation Manual shall be the primary source for calculating LOS.
- 16.4.4 Appropriate mitigation to offset any significant impacts created by the proposal, shall be stipulated by the Planning Board.
- 16.4.5 Extra measures should be taken to minimize or eliminate impacts upon residential neighborhoods.

[Mower recommends "should" be changed to "shall" throughout the document.]

- 16.4.6 On large projects, the Planning Board may require the applicant to determine impact upon congestion levels and air emission levels using either the Strafford Regional Planning Commission traffic models or other appropriate traffic and air quality tools.
- 16.4.7 <u>Durham Traffic Model</u>. On larger projects where significant impacts are likely, the Planning Board may require the applicant to pay for a Durham Traffic Model simulation to determine likely impacts.

# [<u>Humphrey</u> - Traffic models can be very expensive. Granted it's on "larger" projects, but perhaps some specific criteria, such as dollar value or number of units, something specific to traffic impacts.]

- 16.4.8 The Planning Board, at its reasonable discretion, may deny any project:
  - (a) that would reduce the level of service (LOS) at any neighboring road or intersection by one level or more;
  - (b) that would likely result in a service level of E or F during any peak hour or where service level E or F conditions presently exist during any peak hour, if the proposed project is expected to aggravate those existing conditions in any meaningful way;
  - (c) that would otherwise have a significantly negative impact or cause unsafe conditions on any neighboring road or intersection;
  - (d) for which there is not sufficient capacity at any neighboring road or intersection to support the project; or
  - (e) where the adjoining street from which access will be taken is considered substandard for the purposes and scale of the proposed project.

#### Section 16.5 Off-Site Improvements

The Planning Board, at its reasonable option, may require the applicant to:

- 1) construct necessary infrastructure improvements to facilitate or mitigate the impacts of the project;
- 2) pay for such improvements that will be constructed by another party; or
- 3) contribute his/her proportional share toward such improvements if they are being undertaken as part of a larger plan.

# Article 17 Utilities Standards

| Section 17.1 General Provisions | Section 17.1 | General Provisions |
|---------------------------------|--------------|--------------------|
|---------------------------------|--------------|--------------------|

- Section 17.2 Water Service and Wells
- Section 17.3 Sewerage and Septic Systems
- Section 17.4 Electrical Utilities

#### Section 17.1 General Provisions

- 17.1.1 The development shall be provided with all utilities to adequately meet the anticipated use of the project both current and anticipated.
- 17.1.2 All new and relocated wires, conduits, and cables shall be located underground.
- 17.1.3 Temporary overhead power and telephone lines are permitted during construction only.
- 17.1.4 Utility equipment for private development shall not be built in public rights of way.
- 17.1.5 At its reasonable, discretion, the Planning Board may require that utilities for the proposed site plan be designed oversized, and/or with additional conduits, stubs, or extensions provided within the public right-of-way, to serve nearby land that is an integral part of the neighborhood service area.
- 17.1.6 Utilities shall be located in order to not conflict with roadside drainage systems, trees that are to be preserved, lighting systems, other utilities, and other such elements located on or off site.
- 17.1.7 It is the responsibility of the applicant to coordinate with all utility companies to ensure that non-municipal utilities are installed in accordance with approved plans and company specifications.
- 17.1.8 Easements
  - (a) Easements located on private property for use by the Town of Durham shall be at least 30 feet wide. It is preferable that such easements run along side and rear lot lines, if practicable.
  - (b) No buildings, structures, or septic leaching areas may be situated within Durham utility easements.
  - (c) Reference pins made of ferrous metal shall be installed in the ground to indicate the location of all such easements. The pins shall be <sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub> inch in diameter and a total of 24 inches in length. They shall project 1.5 inches above the ground.

#### Section 17.2 Water Service and Wells

17.2.1 An adequate supply of potable water for domestic consumption, using municipal water or private wells, as appropriate, shall be provided for all developments.

#### 17.2.2 <u>Municipal Water Service</u>

- (a) The municipal water system shall be designed and constructed in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 158, the Water Ordinance of the Town of Durham, other standards of the Town of Durham, and the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services.
- (b) Where municipal water supply is situated in proximity to the project, the applicant shall extend the lines to serve the project. The Planning Board shall use its reasonable discretion to determine when lines must be extended based upon the distance of existing lines from the project, the difficulty in extending those lines, the scale of the project, and the likely positive and negative aspects of extending versus not extending the lines.
- (c) In order to prevent damage from freezing, there shall be a minimum soil cover of 5 feet over water mains.
- (d) The final design and construction of municipal water facilities serving the project including size, flow rate, and pressure is subject to review and approval by the Public Works Department.
- (e) Extensions of water lines shall be designed to avoid dead end lines, where practicable.
- (f) The following items must be specified:
  - Rated normal capacity and gallons per minute at prime use
  - Rated maximum capacity and gallons per minute at prime use
  - Residual pressure of proposed tap line
- 17.2.3 <u>Private Wells</u>. Private on-lot and community-type water systems shall be designed in accordance with the standards of the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services.
- 17.2.4 Adequacy of public water supply will be determined using existing DPW hydraulic models and studies.
- 17.2.5 Fire hydrants shall be located within five hundred (500) feet of a building (distance measured as usable, not as straight line).
- 17.2.6 Fire hydrants shall be served by a minimum 8-inch main.
- 17.2.7 Fire hydrant flow tests shall yield flow determined adequate for the project by the *<u>Fire</u>* <u>*Department*</u> *TRG*.

#### [<u>Planner</u> – This should be the Fire Department.]

17.2.8 The size, flow rate, and pressure of water mains serving the project shall comply with the provisions of Chapter 158, the Durham Water Ordinance.

#### Section 17.3 Sewerage and Septic Systems

- 17.3.1 Adequate provision for sanitary waste shall be provided for all developments, through the municipal sewer system, individual septic waste disposal systems, or a private central sewerage system.
- 17.3.2 <u>Municipal sewer supply</u>. Where municipal sewer supply is reasonably available, the project shall be connected to that system. The following standards shall apply.
  - (a) The final design and construction of municipal sewer facilities serving the project including size, flow rate, and pressure is subject to review and approval by the Public Works Department.
  - (b) Where non-domestic sanitary discharge is anticipated, the type of effluent shall be identified and be in compliance with all federal, state, and local laws, rules, and regulations.
  - (c) Projected peak hour sewer load volume shall be provided.
  - (d) There must be capacity in the existing sewer line into which the project will connect to handle the estimated maximum sewage generated without adverse impact effect upon the system. If any existing lines or systems are inadequate, the applicant may be required to upgrade those lines or systems at his/her own expense.
  - (e) The project may not connect to the municipal system unless the Durham Wastewater Treatment Plant is capable of providing adequate treatment for the volume and type of sewage generated by the project.
  - (f) The following design requirements for sewer systems shall apply:
    - (1) projected flow velocity shall not exceed ten feet per second and nor be less than two feet per second.
    - (2) The minimum slope for a gravity sewer line with a diameter of 8 inches or more is 0.005 foot per foot.
    - (3) The minimum slope for a gravity sewer line with a diameter of 6 inches or more is 0.01 foot per foot.
    - (4) Manholes shall be spaced no more than 300 feet apart.
- 17.3.3 <u>Septic systems.</u> All sewage disposal systems shall be designed, constructed and operated in conformance with the NHDES requirements in a manner that will prevent

the spread of disease and illness; prevent the pollution of the town's brooks, streams, ponds, lakes, and groundwater table; and assure an adequate supply of potable and palatable water for human consumption.

- (a) New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services approval is required for all lots less than 5 acres in size that will not be served by the municipal sewer system.
- (b) Private septic systems shall be constructed in accordance with the most recent edition of the New Hampshire Department of Environmental Services Subsurface Disposal Regulations.

Section 17.4 Electrical Utilities

- 17.4.1 All electric, telephone, television and other communication lines and structures shall be placed underground throughout the site, including utilities extended onto the site from existing poles near the site.
- 17.4.2 For sites located on collector and arterial roads where the only pole nearby is across the street, the Planning Board may authorize that one additional pole be placed on or near the property to allow for overhead extension of wires across the street, without having to excavate across the street. Utilities extending from any such new pole must be underground.
- 17.4.3 When an existing site is redeveloped, and there are existing above ground utilities serving that site, those utilities shall be removed and relocated underground, unless the Planning Board determines such relocation to be impracticable or cost prohibitive given the scale of the proposed redevelopment.
- 17.4.4 All electrical and mechanical devices (including but not limited to transformers, telecommunications devices, equipment switching boxes, generators, and other utility cabinets) shall be located within buildings when possible or, when located outside, be hidden from street and pedestrian areas by landscaping or architectural screens, according to the requirements of Article 5 Landscaping and Screening.

## [GENERAL COMMENTS]

[<u>Keefe</u> - A very complex document. If I wanted to replace a shed would I need to meet all these requirements? It seems like this is so overreaching that it would make most things terribly expensive, or impossible for most people. Is that the intent?

I am wondering if this really serves the best interests of the town, or homowners. It certainly seems it would discourage any business development. Durham is already perceived as overly regulated]

[Schlie - Upon having the opportunity to more fully review the bulk of the documents, I notice they seem to substantially represent a bureaucrat's dream to create more needless requirements born at other's expense to achieve near nothing in proportion to their likely expense to administer.

I recommend the town should more simply allow a property owner to modify their property in any manor desired within its stipulated setback requirements, if not in contradiction to the zoning restrictions and building codes associated with said property; where any restriction to use should be associated with zoning regulations, not elsewhere.

Where any desired change of use, modification of deployed structures and/or equipment, may only proceed after due notice being given to immediately likely affected abutters, regardless of whether the property owner or tenant requesting the modification be a private citizen, corporation, municipality, or state entity; and a corresponding public hearing arbitrated and determined by the planning board, must be held upon any such abutter requesting the same.

All should have the freedom do with their property as they choose as long as it does not conflict with the zoning restrictions well known to be associated with the same, as zoning regulations are meant to protect the property owner's, the local community's, and town/state bureaucracy's interests from being unreasonably encroached upon by each other's.]

Thanks for sharing the draft of the proposed site plan regulations.

[Van Asselt - I do not have the expertise to comment on Part I and Part II as I have not been involved in a development project in Durham. Your memo indicates that little has changed from the current regs and processes, but that significant changes will be considered later to Part II. When that takes place, I encourage you to engage some individuals who actually work with the site plan review process, people who help manage a development project. And, I would engage them during the drafting phase, not after a proposal is completed.

I have been involved with six development projects and each had to go through a site plan review. To accomplish that we engaged qualified people to guide the project through that review. Obtaining advice from those truly qualified people would be a good idea. On four of the projects we used Dana Lynch who, as you know, is one of the best in the business. His advice would be invaluable. Mike Sievert has also been a user of this process in several communities, including Durham, and Mike's suggestions would be helpful. It might also be good to involve legal counsel (Malcolm McNeil might have time) and perhaps an architect (Bill Schoonmaker or Nick I) to make suggestions during the rewrite of the process. Finally, since Durham is a member of Strafford Regional Planning Agency. they would have available resources.

I encourage the above because I assume the intent will be to have a site plan review process that is easy to understand, reasonable with well thought out timelines, and does not contain barriers that encumber the process for successful site plan approval. I appreciate that several people will have ''opinions,'' but I really believe the advice that should be sought and considered is needed from people who actually have worked through a site plan review process.

Part III is of course much different. This is much more subjective than process; development standards often individual choice and opinions. The following certainly is not a criticism of this initial draft or the people who have worked on the project to date. I have found in the projects in which I've been engaged that design standards in some cases made desireable developments (to all parties concerned) very difficult because the standards were very difficult to meet - not only from a cost stand point, but in a couple of cases because the desired products were not even available!!!

My suggestion as these standards are developed. First, and the highest priority, is to make sure it is fully understand by all involved the ultimate goal(s) of these standards. For example, and this is an assumption on my part, I would assume that the overall goals are to have standards that meet some criteria that has been established for what the community wants in specific categories and, equally important, standards that are attainable and can be met by the developer. If those are the goals, than each standard must be measured against those goals.

There of course is no scientific method to set standards that meet the broad ''community's interest.'' No one really knows that ''interest'' and it changes over time. However, good standards, workable standards do surface when measured against the overall goal of helping make projects possible.

I think it is important that you call on experts in these fields to help create the standards, professionals who do not set standards based on emotion, likes or dislikes. There are many resources available to the town, ranging from the regional planning agency to the state OEP. And I think seeking information on the experiences of other communities with certain standards is always helpful. I am sure your peers would be willing to help, for example, Chris Parker in Dover and others.

I have found the process followed annually by the New Hampshire Housing Finance Authority (NHHFA) very helpful when preparing guidelines for its housing programs. A similar process might work for this current effort.

For example, a few years ago the NHHFA professional staff, highly qualified with diverse backgrounds, drafted new guidelines and standards related to environmental issues, energy, LEED-related issues, etc when developing housing stock. NHHFA than distributed the proposed guidelines and standards to housing developers, builders, engineers, etc., and asked the question: ''Can we achieve our overall goals related to housing production with these standards? If not, we want your recommendations. eeping in mind our goals of energy savings, safety, environmental protection, etc.'' Developers brought forward their suggestions, concerns, issues, and ideas. NHHFA kept its desired results on the table, but found ways with the developers to make modifications that would meet the state's overall goal of housing production - and make projects work for the developers. I believe following a similar process would make sense as Durham works on new development standards. It is important that we enunciate the overall policy goals for the community's development as adopted by the Town Council and supported by the work of the EDC and the Planning Board. Those goals (and sub-goals) need to be made clear. I believe at that point involving the people who can help achieve those goals will be helpful in setting the standards.

I'd be glad discuss these ideas further with you.